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BOUNDARIES AND INTRODUCTION

The SoHo-Cast Iron -Historic District in- lower Manhattan is nearly rectangular
in shape and-is bounded by Canal Street, Broadway, Howard Street, Crosby Street,
.East Houston Street; Yest :‘Houston Streot and West Broadway. It consxsts of 26
c1ty blocks and contalns about 500 bu11d1ngs :

- The hyphenated name, ‘SoHo-Cast Iron” was chosen for the de51gnat10n of New
‘York City's twenty-third Historic District in order to, supgest some of the diversity
. of the area. .The ‘‘Cast Iron" portion of the name refers to the unlque collection

of cast-iron structures located within the District. - "SoHo,™ meanzng South of
Houston,' is the acronym adopted by a group of’artists who moved, in the e 1960s,

. into what then:seemed to be.a doomed neighborhood. 'They, have given it a new life,
making feasible the preservatlon of an irreplaceable- part of our cultural heritage.
The.use of the double name is also dintended to suggest that, even architecturally,
the District contains more than just cast-iron buildings, important .though they
are. Indeed, the District contains some of the City's most interesting extant
examples of br1ck, stone and mixed iron-and-masonry commercial construction of
the post-Civil war period.

The body of this designation report is divided into three parts:

Part 1 d1scusses the social and economic history and the arch1tectural develop-
ment of the area, and provides background information on the use of cast iron as
a building materlal and its application to architectural forms. Through this
analysis, the following factors relating to the unique significance of the District
are emphasized:

(1) The social, cultural and economic history of the District has been, and
is again becoming, as varied and colorful as any to be found in New York
City. _

{2) The illustration it provides of 19th-century commercial architectural
styles is probably as complete, well documented and geographically compact
as any -to be found in the United States.

(3) The collection of well preserved cast-iron structures, now unrivalled in
- the world, demonstrates how cast irom was used in 19th-century commercial
constyuction. It also illustrates in a tangible way all sides of a great,
aesthetic debate. Some of the more thoughtful 19th-century theorists
hoped, through a synthesis between engineering and architecture, to develop
a truly representative contemporary style.

In Part 1I the thirteen streets that e1ther border or run through the District
are arranged alphabetically and discussed block by block. In each case there is
an introductory section describing the general character of the block in question
with detailed descriptions of buildings of particular interest, followed by a
tabular listing of all the pertlnent information known about each structure in
the block. :

Part 111 contains appendices, sources and credits, bibliography as well as the
findings of the Landmarks Preservation Commission.
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TESTIMONY AT PUBLIC HEARINGS

On July 21, 1970 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing
' on a proposal to designate a Cast Iron Historic District (Item No. 2) within the
above described boundaries. This proposed Mistoric District included a number of
bulldlngs in the tier of. blocks. between Broadway and Crosby Street, from Howard
Street to East.Houston Street, that were an addition to the bu11d1ngs contained in

. ..a previously proposed Hlstoric District that had been the subject of a-public

. hearing oh June 23, 1970 .(Item No. 2) and whzch was also recon31dered on July 21,
1970 (Item No. 1). .. ... . B . SO

, ' The hearlngs had been duly advert15ed in accordance thh the law. At the
;July 21, 1970 hearlng, thirteen persons spoke in favor of a Cast Iron Historic

- Dlstrlct and five individuals gpposed it. The witnesses favoring. designation

clearly 1nd1cated that there-is great support for this.proposed Historic District;
- they also-indicated- a- preference for the enlarged boundarles ‘as . proposed on
:f,July 21, 1970 (Item No...2). : _ .

oM
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the United States. :

The research was completed and the final text prepared by Karen Graham Wade,
Marjorie Pearson and James T. Dillon, consultants to the Commission, whose work
was made possible by a grant from the New York State Council on the Arts. The
report was typed in its final form by Sarah Slade and Steven Williams.

The District was first photographed in 1966 by John J. Bayley, then a stafF
member. A large number of photographic details were taken in 1971 by the students
from Pennsylvania State University; the necessary block front and individual facade
views were completed in 1973 by John J. Bayley and Merritt Meyer, a volunteer.

Members of the Landmarks Preservation Commission staff who have been directly
concerned with the preparation and production of the report include Anne Gewirtz,
Mitzi Gevatoff and Irene Mahnken, who typed successiveé drafts.. The final production
of the report was carried out under the direction’ of John W, Bonson, Offlce Ad-
ministrator. : : .

Grateful acknowledgement is mede to_the1persoﬁs in the various City ageﬁcies
and public and private repositories of information listed in the Sources and Credits
Section. We particularly wish to thank the American Institute of Architects-

-Mew York Chanter, the Fine Arts Federat1on, the Friends of Cast Iron Architecture,

the Historic District Council, the Municipal Art Society, the. Solo Artists':
Association, the Victorian Siciety in America, the Villapge Home Nwners Association,
as well as Commupity Board No. 2, for their support and encouragement,

Though many individuals have been associated with different phases of this

report, final responsibility for the facts and oplnlons expressed rests with the
Landmarks Preservation Comm1551on as a whole.
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Part I

1. LAND USE: SOCIAL-AND ECONOMIC HISTORY: -

' The: Colon1a1 Period - Farms and Forts ffﬂ -

Dur1ng the Dutch Colonial period, the ‘area of the present Historxc Dlstr1ct
was farmland that had béen.granted to some of the manumitted slaves of the Dutch
Yest India Company.(1)* Many of these Blacks had been freed by an order of February
©25, 1644 after they had belonged to the Company for almost twenty years. They were
'then -ostensibly on the same footing as othexr free people in New MNétherland and they
were expected to. earn their ‘livélihood by agriculture -but their futire was consider-
‘ably ‘less secure than that of the other‘citizens. Their childrén, both those born
" and’ those yet to be born, were to'be staves of the Company. (2} This practice was
demonstrated on December 6, 1663 when Domingo Angola and his wife, Marycke,free
Blacks and owners of a- p1ot of land . lyihg roughly betweén Houston Street, Prince
' Street, Greene Street-and’ Broadway{3petitioned the Provincial Council for the manu-
nission of Christina; a baptized. orphan ‘daughter -of Manuel Trumpeter and his wife
‘Anthonya. The Council would: grant the1r{request on .¢condition that either another
Negro slave be provided for the Dutch West“India Company in hér place or that three
huridred guilders be paid for her-release. On September 16, 1664, Govert Loockermans,
firphan-Master of the Prov1nce pald ‘the three hundred gullders for Chrlstlna s
freedom. (4) :

The SoHo-Cast: Iron Dlstrlct thus has the added interest of hav1ng been the
site of the first free Black -settlement on Manhattan Island. It retained a ‘Black
population .for over two hundred years, until the middle: of the 19th Century, when
the area changed from resxdent1al to commercial use. (5) -

In the 1660s, August1ne Herrman(c. 1605- 1686) began to acquire much of the land
in-and near the Historic ‘District.(6) He had been born and raised in Prague but was
. forced to flee in 1618 to Amsterdam with his parents after his father had been put-
~ lawed' for political activities. After serving for a short time in the army of :

" Gustavus Adolfus of Sweden, Augustine Herrman joined the Dutch YWest India Company
and traded for them in Curacao, Brazil and Mew Metherland. In 1643, he left the

~ Company and became the. agent in New Metherland for the great Amsterdam mercantile

firm of Peter Gabry § Sons.: He built a large fortune through trade in furs,
slaves and .indigo while: in their service, and became the largest exporter of
_tobacco in America. Ferrman bought extensive tracts of land on Manhattan Island
and in New Jersey not only for hlmself but “for Govert Loockermans and his brother-
in- law Micholas Bayard. Peter Stuyvesant sent him to Maryland in 1659 to conduct
negotlatlons with Lord Baltimore .concérning the ‘boundary between his- territory and
that of ‘the Dutch. The Fap of the Maryland territory, on which Herrman workéd for
" ten years, so pleased Lord Baltlmore that he gave Herrman: over thlrteen ‘thousand
acres of land in Maryland and the hereditary titie of Loxrd of the Manor. Herrman
died at Bohemia Manor, Maryland,-in -1686. His land holdings in the area of the
listoric District passed to his brother—tn-lam, N1cholas Bayard, near the end of
the 17th Century [?) '

N1cholas Bayard (c 1644 1707], a nephew of Peter Stuyvesant was born in the
Hetherlands and was brought to this dountry by his mother in 1647. He served the
government of the Colony in a number of capacities including Surveyor of the Prov-
‘ince and Mayor of the City. In 1686, while serving as Mayor, he helped to draw -
up the Dongan Charter which guaranteed the rights and privileges of colonial citi-
. zens. During 1689, when the Colony was convulsed by the “Glorious Revolution",
whith culminated in New York with Leisler's Rebéllion, Bayard fled to Albany to
escape assassination at the hands of the Leislerites.- Uhen he learned that his
son, Samuel, was ill, he returned to the City and was arrested and thrown into
prison. He remained in prison until he was released by Henry Slou shter whom King
William had newly appointed’ Governor of the Province. ' - ©

* See: Footnotes, pp. 26-30
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Leisler and his son- 1n-law Mllbourne, after surrender1ng ‘the Province to
Sloughter, were arrested, tried and on May 16, 169%, hanged and, .beheaded for the
crime of hlgh treason. But the factionalism d1d not .die.with Le151er.- "hen Lord
Béllomont, who was sympathetic toward the Leislerites, was appointed the chief

f;executlve ‘of New York, the Leislerites accused Bayard and others of being Jacobite
_pirates in league Wlth Captain Kidd. . Bayard, in turn, was tr1ed for high treason
“before Chief Justlce Atwood and sentenced to be hanged and- dismembered. Before

" the execution order ‘could be carried out, however, Bayard's appeal was granted and

" the sentence was annulled. All his lands which had been conf1scated were restored to

him and Bayard d1ed quietly in New York City in 1707.(8)

The SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District lies in part w1th1n the western section
of the Bayard Farm and during the 138th Century there was little change in its rural
character. (9} This was due to the fact -that ‘it was cut off by natural barriers
from the settlement at the lower tip. of Manhattan. The Collect Pond and the stream
flowing from it, Smith's Hill, Bayard's Hill and Lispenard's Meadow (Cripplebush
Swamp) all comb1ned to slow. the northward expansion of the City.(10)  Broadway
was not’ extended north of Canal Street until after 1775(i1) and the surrounding
land, even at'this date, was still belng farmed.

*hen the Revolutlon erupted, a series. of fort1f1catlons and redoubts were
built across Manhattan. -There were two ‘forts -orn Mercer Street between Broome and
Spring streets: a third was located in the center of the bloeck, bounded - by Grand,

" Broome, Mercer and Greene streets and another stood between Grand .-and Broome

Streets, Broadway and Crosby Street sbreastworks stretched. across Broadway a few
feet north of _Grand’ Street. (12} : - B

The Early Republlc

As a- result of financial d1ff1cu1t1es caused by the Revolutlonary Nar, MNicholas
Bayard, the third of that name, was forced to mortgage his West Farm. . It-was divided

L into lots at the close of the 13th Century but very little development took place
' unt11 the first decade of ‘the 19th Century (13)

“As early as 1794, the area near the Junctlon of Broadway and Canal Street had

- dttracted a few nanufacturlng businesses. On the northwest corner of the inter-

section stood the cast-iron foundry and sales shop..of Joseph Blackwéll, wealthy
merchant and owner of Blackwell's Island,(14) Next to his property was that of
Thomas Duggan who owned a number of lots along Canal Street’ which was then called
Duggan Street. He operated a tannery near BlackwellPs foundry. (15}

By the early 1800s, landowners in the area had begun to petition the Common

"Council to drain and £ill the Collect .Pond, its outlet to the Hudson River and
~ Lispenard's "eadow. - What had been a bucolic retreat for: the residents of the Dutch

and- English town had become a serious health hazard to- the citizens of the City -
and’ an impediment to its development. . The shores: of the Collect were strewn'with
garbage and the rotting carcasses of dead animals, the.stream along Canal. Street was
a sluggish sewer of green water and parts of Lispenard's Meadow were a bog.

~ that yearly claimed a number of cows. . It was also a breeding ground for the mos-

quitoes that almost every summer spread the dreaded- yellow fever plagues. After
years of bickering and numercus plans and proposals, Bayard's !ill which stood over

" one hundred feet above the present grade of Grand Street and the other hills in
‘the vicinity were cut down and used, together with the C1ty s rubbish, to f111 in
'the marshy land (16) . :

In 1809, Broadway«was paved and sidewalks were constructed from Canal Street

" to-Astor Place and ‘serious development of the area began. However, even before

‘this, a number of prominent men had chosen to build their houses along this section

" of Broadway. Citizen Genet, James Fennimore '‘Cooper, Samuel -Lawrence and the:Rev-

“erend John Livingston all 11ved near the .intersection of Spring Street and Broad-.

way.(17) Spring Street was one of the earliest streets opened for development :

‘and the oldest house in the Historic District still stands on Spring Street. - It
“is No. 107, a frame house wlth a brick front built by Conrad Brooks a shoemaker,

about - 1806

Another early house .on Spring_étreet is the william Dawes house at No. 129
which was built in 1817. "As late as the 1950s a well of Manhattan Company which

k3 - o . ..l - . .
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used to supply water to the City was:located in an.alley behind the house. It
was in this well that.the body of .Juliana Elmore “Sands was discovered on January
2, 1800, and its discovery electrified the community. A young.man named Levi:.
;.Ueeks who was said to be-hey fiance was arrested for her murder. He:.was. defended,
among ‘others,. by Aaron Burr, one of the'organizers of the Mamhattan Company, and by
Alexander Hamilton,- it is ironic' that thesé two.men"should join in the defense of
- Meeks but it indicates the- enormous amount of public excitement.and.iterest in, the
case. . After three days of testimony before a .packed courtroom-and with hundreds
-of people crowded in the. street outside, the jury foimd Weeks innocent. of the, charges
It was determined that the young woman had committed suicide in a fit of melancholy.
- But.rumors about the affair persisted and tales of a white robed figure moaning
. at the-well and alarm -bells in the night continuéd fdr many years-after the event. (18,
_ The mystery remained unique in the folklore of ‘theCity until the murder of Mary
- Rogers, a salesgirl in-a’ clgar shopfln the St. Nicholas Hotel, forty years later.
. The sections of the hotel that dre still standxng on ;Broadway- near Spring Street
may occupy.the site of this earlier hotel. {19) ' " The murder was.described in. -
depth by Edgar Allen_PQe in h;s_short»story“The MYstery of Harie Roget.” - -

1815 1850 - A Re51dent1a1 Ne10hborhood

The development of the Dlstr1ct was ‘slowed by the Tar of 1812 but after

.the economy .recovered: from the post-war depresSsion, building' activity.was:rapidly
renewed in the area. Because wealthy and influential:men had settled along.the
northern section of that part of Broadway which runs through the District and in
the area immediately north of Houston Street, the sense  of prestige which. their
names gave to the neighborhood made it attractive to the growing mumber of middle
class families in the City. The per1od between 1815 and 1825 was a decade of
enormous growth for the Eighth Ward -in.which the Bistoric District (except for
- ‘those blocks between Broadway and Crosby Street) formed the eastermmost part. Its

"+ population more’ than doubled changing.it from an.area that had been described as
_.--one of “hill and dale .and; pleasant valley' to the most ‘populous:¥Ward in the City.(20)

. Nearly three dozen houses in the:District date from this period-of growth. .Two: -
almost complete rows of Federal houses-still stand; one . on the south side. of;Spring
... -Street between Yooster Street and West Broadway and the other on the north side
. . .of Canal Street between Mercer and Greene Streets Samuel F. B, Morse lived at

."No. 321 Canal Street 1n 1825 (21] ' - T BT "

1850 1900 - Entertalnment ommerce and Industry

e _For the thxrty years between 1820 and 1850 the Dlstrlct remalned a stable :

: res1dent1a1 nelghborhood but in the 18505 it began to change, and- to change rapidly.
.. The transformation at:this. time was due in-no. small part to the new development
- 'that: had. begun to alter Broadway. The decade of the. 18505 saw the metamorphosis
o .of Broadway from a street of small brick retail shops into a boulevard of marble,

...~ cast-iron and-brownstone commercial. palazzos. .Lord § Taylor, Arnold ‘Constable

! & Co., Tiffany & Co.,.E. V. Haughwout.and others established their stores on or
_ - near :Broadway. Major hotels joined them: the Union Hotel, the City Hotel, the
.+ Prescott House, the Metropolitan and the ‘magnificent St. Nicholas Hotel. . The famous
~.music halls and theaters soon opened: Brougham's Lyceum, the Chinese Rooms, .Buckley's
. Minstrel ‘Hall, the Olympic¢, Lafayette Hall, the American Art Union,’ the. American
.; ‘Musical- Instltute and many' more, -made Broadway between Canal and Houston Streets

- the entertalnment center of the City. (22) o u : .

v

-The decade also saw a radlcal change in the small cobbled streets beh1nd the

L aisplend1d facades' of Broadway. They, too,- became an entertainment center and were

... .as famous. for: their diversions as was Broadway. .There were.even, guide books and
- directories specifically published for the area:. It had become the red light dis-
trict. . Crosby, Mercer and Greene Streets, Mest Broadway and touston Street .all

- - had -their “‘ton" houses, houses -of assigndtion and ladies' boarding houses that
-catered to every taste, A 1one1y travéller ¢ould visit Mrs, Hathaway and ‘‘view

. ~spome of her, fair. Quakeresses". or Mrs. Everett whose' ‘beautiful senoritas are

- quite qccomp'pishhd “.; or Miss Lizzie Wright anc ner:“French-belles": or Madame
Louisa Kanth's which was run ‘on the German order’!: or Miss Virginia lenriques®
where ‘fts lady, its boarders, 1ts flxins and fash1ons‘ were “on the Creole
-order” (23) Lo L L - .
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But pleasure was not the only business of the Historic District during the

-1850s. As the middle class families began to leave the area, small manufacturing

companles took their place. Brady's Iron Foundry, Althouse Iron Works, a number
of .cofper and brass shops, locksmiths, and China and glass manufactories made and

:'sold their products here. There were cabinet makers produc1ng pianos, chairs and

tables, .together with the lumber yards to supply the wood they needed. Lorillard's
Snuff Manufactory occupied most of the block between Broome, Spring, Wooster and

West Broadway and Appleton § Co., book publishers, used -the Howard building on
Greene Street as their warehouse. (24)

The  1860s brought another great change in the character of the area. The
Eighth Ward, in the five year period between 1860 and 1865, 1ost 25% of its popula-
tion, the highest rate of loss for any of the tards below l4th Street. This loss
was due in part to the increasing sordidness and danger that developed around
the brothels but the major cause of the exodus was the’ movement of factories and

'__warehouses into the Ward.(25) Despite this shift in land use, the value of the

real estate actually decreased during the Civil War but the trend was dramatically
reversed in 1868. This was the first year of one.of the greatest speculative eras

in the City's history.(26) At the close of the War, the value of the property in
the Eighth Ward had been assessed at a little over $18,000, 000, but: in 1868 it was
assessed at nearly $26,000,000 -- an increase in three years greater than the increas
over the twenty year period between 1845 and 1865. . This increase and the fact that
the Ward was strategically located close to the larpest business markets in the City
and near the docks along the North River did not go unnoticed. Boss Tweed and his

. Ring began. ‘to make plans for the Section but before their schemes could be carried

out the Ring was broken and the Panic of 1873 hit the country.(27)

It took six years to recover from the effects of the Panic but, beg1nn1ng in

. 1879 and continuing into the 1890s, large factories and stores were built along the

streets parallel to Broadwdy. The District was no longer the City's entertainment
center but had now become a center for the mercantile .and dry-goods trade. Some of
the most’ important textile firms in the country were located here and conducted
world-wide trade worth millions of dollars.

Cheney Brothers, one of the foremost silk-fabric manufacturers in the world,
maintained offices at 477-479 Broome Street in a cast-iron building designed by
‘'Elisha Sniffen. This remarkable family began their silk manufacturing 1838 in
South Manchester, Connecticut, where they constructed a company town that was noted
for its humanltarlan planning.(28) The family was not only noteworthy for its
business. acumen but Seth 'ells Cheney and his brother, John, also made notable
contributions to American arts and letters. (29)

The cast-iron building designed by John Correja on the northeast corner of

*Grand Street and Broadway was occupied by Mills § Gibb, a world-wide dry-goods

firm with offices in Nottingham, Paris, Calais, and major American cities. It
was the largest firm of its type in the country. (30)

W, G. Hitchcock & Co. was a prominent import and commission firm that had
been established in 1818 by Pierre Becar. Among its early partners were Aaron
Arnold and James M. Constable of Arnold Constable § Co. They had their offices
in the Griffith Thomas cast-iron building at 453- 455 Broome Street and dealt
mainly in silks,{31)

The Jennings Lace Morks which had its factory in Brooklyn, kept their main
office at 77 Greene Street where they introduced into this country Chantilly, Point
d'Alencon and Breton lace.(32)

Oelbermann, Dommerich & Co. which had its own building at 57-63 Greene Street
was an old dry-goods firm. Its trade was so extensive that there was hardly a
branch of the dry-goods business that did not have dealings with the company. Their
annual sales by 1893 amounted to about 315,000,000, (33)

The building at 455 Broadway was the main office for Belding Brothers § Co.,
which, at one time, was one of the most important manufacturing interests in the
country. They had mills which produced sewing-silk in itlontreal, San Francisco,
Northampton, Mass., Rockville, Conn. and Belding, Mic. which had been named after
the family. (34) -

con
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) With the end of the 19th Century came an end to speculative interest and growth
© in the area. The center of the City had long since moved northward and with it the
.- prominent’ businesses soon followed. Marginal 1ndustr1es such as dealers in textile

and paper wastes, small apparel firms that produced underwear and standard design
women's clothlng, ‘that d1d not - change w1th the: fash:ons f111ed the vacancies left
by the older bus1nesses (35) S

Decay and Reblrth -- ﬁrt:sts and Industry ”;:” :

For the next s:xty years, the Dlstrlct lay unchanged and Forgotten by the
City in.a limbo of small industrial and commercial enterprises. It was not until

- the 1960s that a new movement began to stlr. This, surprisingly enough, was
. caused by the trend among artists to paint on larger and larger canvasses. The

high-ceilinged, empty 1ofts of Sollo provided the large spaces that ‘they needed

‘;,for their work and the rents:were very low.. With the help, of City agencies, ‘the
.zonlng Yaws were imaginatively amended to permit the m1grat10n of artists into the
.. ;.area without, at the same t1me,dr1v1n~ ‘out the marginal Lndustrles whose employment
.. ..Of thousands of semi-skilled workers fills a necessary niche ;in the Clty S economy,
- The result has been that the SoHo-Cast. Iron Historic D1str1ct is ‘fast becoming one

of the most important creative centers of contemporary.art in the nation. At the

" _same time, the innovative zoning provisions are demonstrating how, with approvriate
' provisions for health and safety,manufacturlnq, commercial and certain. residential

uses can exist s:de-by -side. If:the demonstration continues to succeed as it has

.. during the past few years, SoHo may well provide a wider lesson.'_w1th a little

1mag1nat10n effort and ingenuity; exc1t1ng alternatives to demolition ¢an be found
for the stagnant and decaying areas of our cities. These. alternatives have the
further advantage, whlch “slum clearance'''lacks, of preserving the continuity of a

‘city's cultural and h15tor1c herltage -- in the case of the Solo-Cast Iron District,

the preservation of a unlque concentratlon of structures of great historic signif-

flcance._

v
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2. STYLISTIC HISTORY

The. SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District is significant not only for-its historic
role in the commercial development of Mew York City, but also for the surylval of
the largest concentration of full and partial cast-iron facades anywhere in the
world. A majority of the buildings that incorporate full fronts of cast iron date
from the decade of the 1870s, though a substantial number of complete masonry
structures, as well as those combining masonry and cast iron, date from earlier
and- later decades, ' ' R B

The earliest extant buildings within the Historic District -date back to-the
first ‘decade of the 19th century when the area was exclusively residential.‘ By
mid-century, ‘most of the early houses had either been replaced or .converted for

. commercial purposes, though there remain today over thirty identifiable Federal

period buildings within the District boundaries. They are far outnumbered, however,
by non-residential structures dating from every decade of the second half of the 19t
century plus a few belonging to the 20th.  Aithough the commercial character of the
area was firmly established by the 1870s, the broad range of construction dates
can be attributed to the need for expansion, the need to keep in step with changing
fashions and the need to.replace structures lost or damaged by fire. ,

Early Non-Commercial Architecture

- The.earlieét known;buildiﬁg-remaining in thpriétoric District is a.c. 1806-
'08 Federal style brick house, now covered by stucco, located at 107 Spring Street.

“Although’ the only -discernible Federal bharactériétics:remaiﬁiﬁg'on this building.
_ '’ are:its handsome stone lintels, three later Federal houses in the Historic District
.retain their original doorways. One of these is the house at 105 Mercer Street,

built in 1819-20, which has kept intact the original wooden columns flanking. the
door, abdve which is an outstanding leaded fanlight. Another common’ treatment of
Federal doorways was a rectangular transom outlined by an egg-and-dart molding as
exemplified by, the entrances to 146 and 156 Spring Street, which also retain -
their original entry columns. These three houses, though the best preserved, are
similar in their basic characteristics to the other extant Federal houses in the

Historic District. For the most part they are three stories high with a width of
-twenty-five feet., Their Flemish bond brickwork is now often covered by stucco,
' but some of -them retain their original peaked roofs with one or two dormers.

- Since the area did not develop into a commercial center until the second half
of the century, it would be reasonable to dssume that quite a number of residential
structures must have been built in the Greek Revival style between the late 1820s -
and the 1840s. 0ddly enough, however, only two surviving buildings in the Historic
District (589 Broadwdy and 127 Grand Street) are identifiable, either stylistically
or by documented construction date, as belonging to the Greek Revival period.

" By mid-century, the area of Broadway lying within the District had developed

. into the leading entertainment center of the City. The sole survivor of the many

theaters and hotels erected during that period is a small portion of the once

_ €legant . St. Nicholas Hotel, completed in 1854. The lintels on the remaining
“section, ‘located -at 521-523 Broadway, are embellished by garlands, velutes and ¥

‘elaborate keystones, characteristics of the new French influence. Other contem-

porary hotels in the area,- such as the 1851 Metropolitan Hotel, long since demol-

‘ished, were, however, built in a strict Italianate manner with arched ground-
floor windows and a combination.of projecting lintels and curved and peaked pedi-

‘ments- over the upper story square-headed windows. ‘ :

0

Early Commercial Aichiteéture :

" During the same period when hotels and theaters were prevalent along Broadway,
elegant retail stores, many- of which catered to the carriage trade, also began
to appear. Although there had previously been food stores and service shops inter-
mingled with the row houses, the new scale of commercial development, which
began in 1850s, permanently changed the character of the District. '

‘Two of the more prominent éarly'empbriums,:thé HéughwoutlBuilding'andfthe



tics of these commercial masonry bu11d1nos .whether or not they contain cast-iron
A elements are round-arched windows and square-headed windows topped by a pediment or

' cornice slab. Balustrades also frequently appear. below second- -story windows, and

'occa31onally below the.more. important.windows on other floors. These structures,

.Badger's Archltectural Iron Works at 44 Mercer Street. .Such a dlrect,'"two di-
- ifensional® approach antlclpates ‘the: predomlnant neo-Grec - influence found on the full
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Arnold Constable § Co. store, remain today as. s;gnrf1cant landmarks of the changing |
era. Their importance lies not. only in ‘their .imposing commércial, grandeur, but

- also-in the- use ‘of ‘cast iron in their, facades.. The two bu11d1nas ut;llze the |

material in ‘two d1fferent ways. The Arnold Constable store uses cast-iron ground- ‘

" floor. columns’ to- support a. trad1t1ona1 masonry front. The Haughwout Bu11d1ng facade -
.is made ent1re1y of cast iron. . i .

Y8

The pract1ce of using cast 1ron for storefronts and For arch1tectura1 orna-

mentation had begun in the United States much earlier, though a complete cast-iron

facade was pract1ca11y unknown until James: Bogardus erected, 'in 1843, a drugstore
with: a full cast-iron facade for. John Milhao at 183 Broadway. (36) It was soon
followed by his own factory bu11d1ng and by five stores for Edgar H. Larng at the

~_corner of washmgton and Murray Streets.  Although Bogardus ‘servéd as a forceful

** catalyst in, popularizing the use of cast- -iron facades for commercial structures,

* he was pr1mar11y an engineer and inventor. The ‘actual work- of casting was left
. to others.. Because of this role Bogardus was soon supérseded by Daniel D. Badger,
.i'pre81dent of- Archltectural Iron Works,. as the domlnant figure in the developlnq use
B of archltecural cast iron’ 1n New York C1ty. ) :

‘Badger who was first llsted in the 1849 Dxrectory as a manufacturer of iron
shutters, is most famous for the full Venetian Renaissance facade on the Haughwout
Building of 1857. His work is, however; found frequently throughout the District in
the form of cast-iron storefronts and roof cornices, the earliest extant examples
being on the 1852 granite store built -for Seabury Brewster at 535 Broadway, Like

. many of the masonry facades of the 1850s and 18&03 these early iron storefronts

and cornices usually have a classical Feelrng which mirrors the Italianate style
S0 popular in contemporary residential architecture. The predomlnant characteris-

which are in most Cases completely symmetr1ca1 average five stories in height with

& width. of from, three to six bays. The roof cornices, whether of iron or stone, . i
- are usually supported by heavy consoles or paired brackets ‘between which frequently

_ appear frieze moldings. The cornices.are also at times topped by pediments’, as-
E exempllfled by the 1854 bu1ld1ng at 508 Broadway. :

The cast -iron. storefronts used in conJunctiOn wlth these stately Italianate

o facades are nearly all composed of classic Corinthian columns’ between which were

placed the show windows. Other cast-iron storefronts’ from the 1850s 'and 1860s,
either from Badger's Arch1tectura1 Iron Works or other. foundries, ‘reflect. the much
nore ornamental character ‘of the French Renalssance style.. - An 1dent1fy1ng element

" columns or pilasters., These are frequently comb1ned with. scrolled brackets.
: Cor1nth1an capltals are found on both French:and Itallanate de51gn5.,.

Styllzed geometrlc capltals were also’ occas1ona11y used on early ¢ast-iron
storefronts, such as ‘those capping the pllasters of the 1855 storefront from

|

= |
-=\found on this type: of storefront is .a medallion or cartouche—form applied to the

|

|

cast- 1ron facades of the '15370s, the per1od of greatest popularlty

The manner 1n wh:ch many ‘of ‘the cast -iron storefronts combine French and

-Ital1an elements is reflected in similar combinations on masonry facades. One -

of. the more outstanding examples of such a bu11d1ng is the previously ment1oned
Arnold Constable store, dating from 1856 with dn identical extension added in
1862. The Corinthian capltals atop the pilasters of the iron storefront, cast

by the Merklee § MNichol foundry, as well as the round-arched windows of the

second floor are decidedly Italianate components.. This Italian influence is again

. seen on the marble Canal Street facade of the same building where the paired central )

windows on -the second floor of the original section are emphasized by an underlying »
balustrade and a crowning pedlment connecting the two windows. - These Italian

.-motifs are, however,tempered ‘by French elements “such as. the segmental-arched windows
- on the rema1n1ng floors, the elaborate top-floor lintels on the Canal Street side

ET

and the horizontal bandrng on’ the storefront’ pllasters that ant1c1pates a common
element to be, found on. French Second Empire bulldlngs.,. e

Al

The comb1nat1on of classical elements was at times so free that no pre-existing

“styi1st1c term or terms can be applied directly in descr1b1ng a partzcular building.

¢
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The most .striking example of such a fabrication is the "sperm candle" style which
was extremely popular in New York durlng the early years of the 1860s. (The name
was derived from the use of two-story columns or pilasters that resemble candles
made from sperm whale o0il.) The only example of a pure '‘sperm candle" building in -
the Historic District is the 1860 marble structure at 502-504 Broadway, designed

by the reputable firm of Kellum & Son, which ¢riginally had a cast-iron storefront
from Badger s firm. This building, which will be more fully discussed in the block
. by block descriptions, is a transitional.structure.which combines highly classical
€lements with a non-classical emphasis on verticality and openness. These latter

‘__characterlstlcs, which are typical of late 19th and 20th-century commercial -archi-

tecture, are achieved by the use of large plate glass windows flanked by two

."tiers of elongated columns which. .span the second to third and fourth to fifth stories

. with narrow spandrel panels d1v1d1ng the two floors of each two-story grouping.

‘:Two other contemporary buildings in the Historic District, 464 Broome and 19 Hercer,
also incorporate similar two- story units, but Ain a much heav1er and more Italianate

‘”manner. oo :

. The "sperm candle style 1s 1mportant not only for its. 1nd1penous and pro-
“gre551ve character but for the direct -connection that it makes between facades
that combine both cast iron.and stone and those made completely of cast iron. The
_ style was apparently first 1nterpreted in stone, exemplified by the 1858-59 .
‘marble building, located at. 388 Broadway, just outside the Historic District. In
1860 a cast-iron “'sperm candle" building, designed by Kellum, was built at $5-57
thite Street, also near the Mistoric District. The 51on1f1cance of these two
bu11d1ngs is that although they are identical in almost ‘every detail, one was
built of marble and the other is composed entrrely of .cast iron. Thls copying of
a stone facade in cast iron points clearly to the original intent of most cast-iron
buildings, which was to erect quickly and cheaply structures which would appear to

" ‘be made of stone. It is important to note, however, that the “sperm candle"

'style was partrcularly well adapted to cast iron due to its llghtness and open
‘fenestratlon ' S -

‘ Althounh most "sperm candle" bu11d1ngs were constructed between 1859 and _
1861, there are extant marble examples dating as-late as 1864. In these instances,
it is intriguing to speculate whether or not the cast-iron ''sperm candle' facades
influenced the designers of these later buildings as much.as their stone precursors
had influenced the early cast-iron. examples. Though not.-dealing specifically
with the ‘'sperm .cnadle" style, Walter Knight Sturgis states on page 234 of his
October ,;953 artlcle, "Cast Iron In New.York! in the Architectural Review:

”Cast 1ron forms or1g1na11y des1gned to imitate .
masonry, were, in a few years, imitated in the
‘very same material from whrch they had been
derived."

As prev1ously mentioned, the earllest example of a complete cast-iron facade
in the Mistoric District is the 1857 Haughwout BUlldlﬂg -The next full cast-iron’

~ “front in the District did not appear until 1868. . Cast iron was used though for

- complete facades in other areas of New York City as well as. in other cities during
" this eleven year period. . This is well substantiated by llstxngs in Daniel Badger's
catalog of 1865, - = ' . -

Several of the cast -iron facades produced by the Badger Archltectural Iron
Horks in the late 1850s and early t0 mid-1360s 1ncorporate the same strong Iteli-
" anate elements, speC1f1ca11y those derived from Venice, as are seen in the. Haughwout
' Bu11d1ng By 1868 when Isaac F. Duckworth and Charles Mettam each designed a

full cast-iron facade, the Italianate style haed, however, become so diluted that
only occa51ona1 elements of their designs can be SO descrrbed Those. aspects
" which still recall the style of the Italian Renaissance are the second-floor
. balustrades, the heavy pedlments and the Corinthian capitals. The capitals are,

" however, placed atop smooth rather than fluted shafts, a characteristic as non-
Italianate. as the rounded corners of flat-headed windows or the rosette medallions
above the capltals. These elements which are essentially French, are combined with
Ital1anate details in a pleasing and homogeneous manner. The combination is similar
to ‘that used ou earlier masonry. facades, such as the .one on the Arnold Constable
" store. The dominant Italianate influence of the 1850s was, however, gradually
replaced in the late 1860s and 1870s by the inspiration of contemporary French
styles, Though occasional rellance upon Italian motlfs is found on cast-iron facades

\
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©- of later periods, (especially in the work of Gr1ff1th Thomas) ,the most prevalent
+ influence was that of the French Second Empzre, the French neo-Grec and der1vat10ns
"therefrom. Lo _ : : :

Cast Iron Arch1tecture o

Before dlscuss1ng the perlod durlng Wthh the use of ‘complete cast-iron

r;*facades reached its peak, it is interesting to note some of the underlylng causes
o of 1ts pooularlty and ‘some of the methods emnloyed by its pract1t1oners. ;“.

The second half of the 19th century in- the Unrted States was time of rapid

'-'phy51ca1 growth and economic expansion.’ It was ‘also a _time of intense competition in
" which no.one was embarassed in- flauntlng his newly acquired wealth. This phenomenon’
- ‘was manifested in the opulence of .the “residential palaces” in Newport no less than

in the great "commercial palaces'' of New York City. In both instances; if an indi-
vidual or a company did not have the money to construct a building to surpass that

- of ascompetitor; methods were devised to imitate it as closely as possible. This

‘was the case-with a vast majority of bu11d1ngs fronted by cast iron. 'Although cast

iron is a matevial whlch by -its inherent. qualities can be 1nterpreted in a llght,
almost-delicate manner, in-most instances. it was used to imitate structures built

- of granite or marble. More -grandiose examples’ of such imitations can hardly be

found than the French Second Empire desrgns .of I ‘F. Duckworth. Uhen comparing )
the bu11d1ng costs of structures erected in the. Hlstorlc District during the 1870s
and 1880s;.there is Yittle appreciable d1fference between between those with upper

' . :stories of masonty and those with: full ‘cast-iron. facades Yet, in’ nearly every
“instance, the cast-iron facades incorporate a great deal more ornament than do
=" those of brick or stone. - Yhen faced with a limited budget, an owner far preferred

an elaborate cast-iron facade reflectlng the grandeur of, Parls or. Venlce ‘than a

‘:slmple masonry wall.

In addition to the ease of casting iron in forms thet would have taken weeks

- to- be ‘executed by stone carvers; cast-iron architecture npossesses other practical
cattributes vhich weére attractlve to Mew York businessmen.  The use’ of paint on

- these building fronts not only‘madé refurbishing 51mp1e and relat1vely inexpensive
-~ but also ‘gave, the owner great latitude in ch0051ng the paint -¢olor or colors. The

-increased speed .of .construction over comparable masonry bulldlngs due to the

:prefabrlcatlon of 1ron unlts, was also a con51deratxon..j

1. . -

Closely connected w1th the prefabrlcated nature of iron arch1tectura1 ‘inembers
is the question of the.role that the architect pldyed in the design of these

"structures. There is no question that an architect's profess:onal skills were

utilized in planning . the basic substructure of -4 building and in determinlng
the general formula to be followed on its facade. Yet, it is highly questionable
whether he had much of a role in the design of the individual members. It seems

" almost certain that in the case ‘of buildings which are architecturally unique or
' which are attributed to: one of the more prom1nent architectural firms that it was
“the architect himself who supplied the iron foundry with spec1flc designs or

utilized members which -he had previously designed. Did the archrtectural de51gner

- have sole right to these designs however? This may have been the practxce in-

some instances, evidenced by the repeated use of specific motifs by certain indivi-
dual architects. But there are definite except1ons to this hypothesis. For exanmple,

- ‘a ‘capital abacus, cast by the Cornell Iron "orks, which is. characterlstlc of the
"work of Henry Fernbach was used upon occasion by other arch1tects.

When studylng the architectural styles uséd by the nore promlnent ‘and/or

" more prolific architects who worked in‘cast iron within the ‘Historic District,
© it-is possible to pick-out d15t1ngu1sh1ng character:stlcs ‘that link the work w1th

‘thé individual. - Little individuality is evident, however in the work of the less

prominent architects who 'also designed buildings w1th ‘cast- -iron facades. Ap«

"7 parently-theé-.latter weére usually confined themselves ‘to ch0051ng stock cast-iron

members that- lad been designed by- the iron.foundry. or by another archltect. It
isy in fact, probable that even the more noted architects also resorted to
the same procedure at .times. It.is known that Badger' $ Architectural Iron Works had

-an ‘entire architectural department, headed by George H. Johnson(37), wh1ch was
«.-golely responsible for de51gn1ng stock pieces and. serving as consultant to
“.architects order1ng cast-iron facades from: the frrm. Although Badger was not active

during the period in which cast iron reached 1ts greatest point of popularlty in
the Historic District, it can be assumed that the other foundries such as Cornell
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The un1form1ty created by the frequent use of stock ‘cast-iron members does not,
however, diminish' the '‘effect of the facades, because the very essence of a cast-
iron facade is its standardization. This dlsc1p11ned regularity is seen not only
in the repetition of bay units on a single structure, but also in the repetition -

- of details from one building to anotheér. With the exception of. designs such as those

by I. F. Duckworth:in the French Second Empire.style, the organization of cast-iron
facades was based upon a strict balance between horizontals and verticals. . Though
the buildings are-often accented by.a crowning pediment, their general effect is one
of non-directional uniformity::@ This aesthetic chardcteristic, though .interpreted

+in ¢classical forms, -was as much.a precursor of modern arhc1tectural practlce as
-':'were the prefabrlcated components of the facades. T C e '

!

As preV1ously mentzoned Itallanate elements combxned w1th those derxved

- from France were:still. ut111zed in several of the cast-iron: facades built .,
© during the -late 1860s and early 1870s.::By 1872, however, motifs derived from con-
- ‘temporary French fashions. strongly dominated the New; cast iron designs, though

an occasional Italianate window balustrade-was still-utilized.: In additiop.to the
general influence from the French: Renaissance, it was then that the grandeur of
the Paris of Napoleon III bégan to have its greatest influence on the commercial

‘cast-iron. architecture of New York.City: It is seen within the District most
" notably in‘thé work of Isaac F. Duckworth; who used broken pediments,. horizontally

banded piers; segmental-arched -windows and mansard roofs. ' Even though these facades

-~ were still- basically organized on the. same.repeated bay system as were contempoxary

cast-iron fronts, they were frequently given focal emphasis by the, use of pro;ectlng
central bays dormer windows or.urns:set in the- break of a pediment:’
. \1'\.

The French Second Emplre style as 1nterpreted in cast iron was, however, in
most instances tempered by neo-Grec ornaments. The French neo-Grec style, the-
single most important:influence found. on the full cast-iron facades of the 1870s
and 1880s, was a sophistocatéd and stylized outgrowth of the French Second Empire

'style. It is chardacterized by incised linear ornament, styliZied floral and

geometric- forms -executed:in two-dimensional relief and widely spaced relief or
incised parellel. lines on columns and pilasters. :Light, slender columns .topped by
stylized Ionic capltals are also 2 hallmark of the neo-Grec style, though not a

: unlversal one.

In add1t1on to the use of neo-Grec elements,’ such as terminal blocks and modil-
11ons,’on basically Second Empire facades, these elements were also used in con-
junction with derivations from .other French styles. . By the late 1870s, the char-
acteristic cast-iron capital had changed from the Corinthian mode to a basically |
geometric. form in accordance with.neo-Grec principles.- .Such.capitals, typical
of the work:of Henry Fermbach, are usually characterized by a.smooth necking band
to define the separation between. the capital and column shaft. These capitals are

- supported by -a simple abacus-frequently embellished by a neo-Grec apron, under ;

which. are set widely -spaced geometric or stylized floral forms.,K Although not
strictly neo-Grec in form, these capitals are comsistent with the classical

' principles upon which the style was based. Facades incorporating such capitals

also frequently utilize other neo-Grec forms such as incised designs on the spandrel
above each capital, .antefixae projecting above -the roof cornice and-decorative
terminal blocks at either end. of the projecting cornices at each floor level. Such
buildings characteristically follow the standard. cast-iron, formula of repeating i

. throughout ‘the facade the .same bay unlt. The window heads within these bays

usually have rounded corners.

Cast 1ron facades that rley exc1u51ve1y upon- neo- Grec forms are as successful

-aesthetically if not superior to those that:combine various styles, though they -
* are fewer 'in number within the Historic District. It-is difficult to generalize

- about. these ‘designs since  the: architects:displayed- great individuality.- -Pure

neo-Grec buildings, however. generally have a more linear overall character than
those that merely 1ncorporate a few neo-Grec motifs and possess proport:ons that
are more delicate and elongated , N L

“The neo-Grec, French Second Empire,xFrench'RenaiSSancenand-Italianate styles
were by far the most/popular choices: for. cast-iron facades erected in the Historic
District:between the 1850s. and the late 1380s when:the full cast-iron facade lost

" its popularity..: An. occasional, stylistic: exceptlon, ‘hawever;, is to he found, such
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as Y. A. Potter's 1873 Victorian Gothic: facade at 435 Broome Street or Richard
Morris Hunt's ‘‘free-form classic® structure of 1873-74 at 478-482 Broadway. Hunt's
- now demolished building which stood next door had an elaborate Hoorlsh front also
executed 1n cast iron. _ ‘ o

Mith the exceptlon of the 1894~ 95 bu11d1ng at 15 17 Greene Street the last
complete cast-iron facades erected within the area were begun in the year 1890.
Even though cast iron continued somewhat longer to be used for fenestration de-
tailing and ground-floor facades, it ceased to be a. maJor architectural material
due partly to technical dlfflcultles in applying a cast-iron facade to the taller

- . buildings that the newly -available steel- skeleton construction made possible.

. There also arose some serious questions. as to the effectiveness of cast irom as a
fire resistant material which will be discussed more fully in the next section. At
the same time new processes were developed for manufacturing architectural
ornament in terra cotta which replaced much of the inexpensive decorative function
that has made cast .iron so popular. Also:of 1mportance in the demise of cast-iron
architecture was the late 19th-: ~century change in taste toward styles Wthh were
more sulted to constructlon in- brlck and -stone,.

: It is lmportant to remember that masonry.bu11d1ngs many wlth cast-lron
‘ground floors, continued to be erected contemporaneously with those having full
cast-iron facades. It would be repetitive to review their stylistic development,.
however, for they either followed the-same evolution from the.Italianate into neo-
Grec. as already discussed or their styles can only be. described as simple industrial
"or commercial vernacular.. Yet, by about 1890 new developments began to be seen in
. masonry bulldlngs They. became not only: strongly differentiated .stylistically
from the cast-iron- facades but were also soon to supersede them completely

Later Archltectural Devel_pments :

- The commerc1al bu11d1nes erected in the Historic Distr:ct at the turn of the
century mirror-the same general trends that swept across the country. One of the
two most influential styles was what can most accurately be described as Richard-

. sonian lomanesque after .the great Boston architect, Henry Hobson Richardson. He

had been attracted during .his studies in.Europe by the straightforward way in which
- buildings of the 11th and 12th centuries expressed the weight of their masonry struc-
-ture and the natural qualities of their materials. His work and that of his follow-
- ers, characterized by the use of braod heavy.arches, rough-faced stonework and
restricted areas of rich decoration was freely adapted in the examples within the

. District. .Owing to their limited sites. and commercial requirements, Romanesque
buildings' in the District had to have simpler and more symmetrical plans than those
used in free-standing residential or civic structures. - Also,. for economy, brick
walls were more frequently used than the characteristic rough random-ashlar. But
despite these limitations, -a bit of fanciful romanticism can-at times be found in
thesecommercial adaptatlons, as in the ﬂargoyles on- the 1890-91 bu11d1ng at 484~
490 Broome Street. _ o

" The World's Columb1an Expos1t1on held in Chlcago in 1893 served as a major
catalyst for the resurgence of classical forms in: American architecture, promoted
initially by architects who had studied at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris.

* Although a fairly strict archaeclogical: correctness was followed in most residential
and civic buildings of the period, much freer forms had to- be developed for commer-
cial structures due to their unprecedented, unclassical height. Such buildings
within 'the Historic District, which average ten to twelve stories, are composed,

"insofar as possible, in the classic, tri-partite canon.  This system is composed of

- a base consisting of two. or three stories, a shaft of another six or eight and the
entablature of the top one or two stories. UWhen such facades are only six or.
eight stories high, a similar tri-partite comp051t10n often contributes an imposing,
monumental scale. Much use was also made of intricate terra-cotta. ornamentation,
which, like cast. iron, combines richness of. effect with the economy of multiple
castings from the same mold. - PR :

By the first decade of the 20th century this type of heavily decorated class-
icism was largely replaced by a new emphasis on lightness and a more open fene-
stration. Many of these buildings, however, still retained intricate detailing
as seen-on the highly or1g1nal 1903-04 Slnger Bu11d1ng by Ernest Flagg at 561-563
Broadway. ol o o
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Since 1910 little new construction has taken place within the Historic District,
and, with only a few exceptions such as the 1920 bank at 525-527 Broadway, these
buildings are of little interest architecturally. Many of the post-1910 structures
are garages, lunch stands or gas stations and a number of older buildings have
been either entirely refaced or had their ground stories reconstructed. .

L | - B IK. .;__
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3. 'CAST IROH:AS‘A BUILDING‘MATERIAL'

In order to real:ze the 1mportance of the SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District in
the history.of architecture and structural englneerlng some background:is needed
on the processlng and structural characteristics of iron as a building material.
Some knowledge is also needed of how these processes were developed and of the
various ways in which iron was used in the past. It is only from this perspective ¢
that the historic importance of the District can be fully understood and an ap-
preciation grasped of the significance of its contribution to the future development
of the skyscraper and its structural techniques

Cast Iron and-wrought Iron: Early Development and Use

Cast iron and wrought iron are the two forms of iron tradltionally tsed in
buildings. Cast iron-is a refined form of pig iron whose strenghth is dependent on
its carbon content. The refining of cast iron in the western world did not take
place until the 12th century when furnaces were developed that could generate
temperatures high enough to melt the metal 1nto a2 liquid state suitable for
casting. (38)

'Wrought iron was developed as early as.the 5th century B.C. by the Greeks.(39)
In the Middle Ages it was used for cramps, stays, tie rods, in window frames, and
for the spires and pinnacles of Gothic cathedrals. The use of wrought-iron tie rods
and beams hecame common in Renaissance and Baroque buildings.(40) To form the iron,
one merely had to heat it to a pliable state, and then the impurities could be
hammered out. While the process was Very primitive in its beg1nnings, 19th-century
research led to some very complicated refining processes for wrought iron. 'This
was probably one reason for the greater popularity of cast iron during this period.
Cast iron merely had to be melted to rid it of impurities and then cast. Moreover,
repetitive forms could be cast in large quantities. Yrought irom, on the other hand,
had to go through several hammering and rolling processes to rid it of impurities
and to form it into the desired shapes, and each piece had to be fashioned indi-

vidually

W

Prior to 1750 ‘cast iron was used chiefly for such items as tools (anvils and
mortars), cooking utensils, firebacks and andirons, grave slabs, cennon and other
implements of war.(41) Abraham Darby of England began exoerlmentlng with the
- production of cast iron about this time; by using coke, and later coal, instead of
charceoal, he was able to turn out the product more cheaply and efficiently. With
Darby s dzscovery, several ‘English engineers began to use cast iron for structural
purposes, most notably bridge building. The first cast-iron bridge, spanning the
Severn River was manufactured at Darby's Coalbrookdale iron works between 1775
and 1779.{42) Another significant bridpe was designed by Thomas Paine, the
American Revolutionary "ar figure of “Common Sense' fame, and built in England
under the direction of Rowland Burton across the River Wear at Sunderland between
- 1793-96. It was a single arch with a 263-foot span: the ribs forming the arch
were of cast-iron panels., The technique was that of stone vaulting adapted to iron
construction, (43)

L]

Cast iron was also used during this period for decorative features. Although
cast iron had been used for this purpOSe as early as the 1720s, it was the '
high quality of the designs produced in the 1760s by the brothers John, James and
Robert Adam, the noted British architects, and cast by such British foundries as
the Carron Co., that brought their popular acceptance (44)

) Accordlng to Carl Condit, the Brltlsh eng1neer John Smeaton, was the first to

. use cast iron for structural columns in, 1770-72 in St. Anne's Church at Liverpool. (45
"In Paris J. G. Soufflot used cast iron to frame a roof in 1779, and M. Ango used it .
to carry a floor in 1782. (46) : S

_ However, the development_of iron framing in English spinning and textile mills .
in the late 18th century was one of the most significant events in the history of ;
cast iron. To quote Turpin Bannister: “From them (the mills) stemmed directly a

novel structural technique that dominated British and American building for a

century and which through ingenious 1mprovements conquered at last the hazards of
combust1b111ty and 11m1tat10ns of height.' (47) -
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William Strutt of Derby, tngland was the bullder of the first completely iron-
framed building in 1792; his Calico Mill was 115 feet long and six stories high.
The floors were laid on brick arches, supported by cast-iron beams, and paved
with brick. A similar flax mill, possibly designed: by Charles Bage, was built in
1796 at Shrewsbury. Probably the main reason. for using this type of construction
.was to minimize the danger from fire which was always a hazard in the textile in-
dustry. (Many of the commercial buildings in the SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District
were devoted to the dry goods trade, and one of the arguments for. adopting cast
iron for those structures was 1ts noncombustlblllty }: -

_ Although the cast-iron frame of m111 buildings had 1mportant 1mp11cat1ons ‘the
framlna itself was. Dartly hidden:(48) The cast-iron framing technique was visually
much more striking in the realm of greenhouse architecture. As early as 1805 .
Humphrey Repton had designed a cast-iron greenhouse in the “Gothic style.''(49) :

" John Nash designed. a conservatory formed of cast-iron trellised p11asters and glass
. for the Prince Regent at Royal Lodge, Yindsor in 1814.(50) HNash was also renowned
. for his use of cast iron in thc Royal Pavilion at’ Brighton bullt in 1818, (51) . The
cupola was built.over-an iron framework, and intricately de51gned iron columns
were used for interior supports. Joseph Paxton, who was head gardcner to-the Duke
of Devonshire, designed the Great Conservatory at-Chatsworth in 1837, followed .
by the Lily Fouse at Chatsworth (in which cast-iron columns were used as. ralnwater'
. pipes as well.as for . structural purposes.) {52). Paxton’s outstand;ng achievement
was the design for the Crystal Palace, built.to house the London Great Exhibition in
1851. .This..structure excited the 1mag1nat10n of v1rtua11y every . notable contempor-
ary cr1t1c. o ; Ce -

_ The French used 1ron and glass in-similar ways durlng the same per1od . Among

. the notable structures were the Galerie d'Orleans of the Palais Royal in Parls
designed by P.~F,~L. Fontaine in 1829-31 and the, greenhouses of the Paris botanical

gardens created. by Charles Rohault de Fleury in. 1333 (583). - :

Another bulldlnw Form pecullar to the’ 19th century in its use of irop and
glass_was the train shed-- concealed, however, behind-a trad1t1onal classical
masonry waiting room and station. Built between the 1830s and 1860s, these sheds
were as unique and -expressive in thelr forms as the contemporary greenhouses and
conservatories. To. contemporary' eyes, however, they seemed to be merely works of
engineerin and not at all worthy of the’ name of ’Archltecture ",5,

, Another 1nterest1ng use for cast 1ron espeC1ally in Enpland 'was in the realm
of church construction. As early as 1813, iron was used for the complete internal
-structures and interiors in three Liverpool churches. desipned by James Rickman and
ironmaster John Cragg.(54) It was also favored for molded decoration, especially for
Gothic tracery. - : : :

Structural Techniques

: It was the research of the Englishmen. William Fairbairn and Laton. Hodgkinson.
- from the 1830s through the 1850s,.that showed to .which purpose the two types of
iron were best suited.(55) Cast iron, which has a high compr9551ve strength, they

‘found best suited for columns while wrought iron, which is hlph in tensile strength,
is best suited for beams, the members subject to the most tension. Fairbairn and
Hodgkinson were also responsible for publicizing the I-beam; James Bogardus of

' New York. probably learned of it through thelr publ1cat10ns. :

when pieces were cast in iron the de51gner would make full 51ze drawlngs of
the principal parts from which patterns would be made. Molds were made in- sand and .
the pieces cast in these sand .molds. The castings. would then be cleaned, chipped
and filed, and.the ends of a column would: be cut. smooth in a "double-ended" rotary.
facing mach1ne .Columns would be bolted together in the fitting shop, and. arches,.
soffits, sills and ornaments would be added. All surfaces would then be given a
coating of oxide of iron paint. The parts would then be separated and numbered for
re-assembly on-the building 51te (56) . : e

The actual assembly.of a cast-mron building will be described in some detail -
in the description of several of Bogardus's structures. Such a building as the
A, T. Stewart (later Wanamaker) Department Store, designed by John Kellum between
1359 and 1868, was the exception rather than the rule among the buildings within
the District. It combined a complete iron frame with wooden floors and joists::



SH-CI D

its floor, roof and wall loads were transmitted vertlcally through the cast iton
-colunns dlrectly to the stone: Foot1nn (57) R _ _ o

L T

_ It appears From the examination of a “number of bu1ld1ngs within’ the District
‘that whether:its facade is of cast iron; brick, or stone, the basié structure

varied little, espec1a11y for buildings erected in the 1860s and. 1870s. ' The building
- is almost- -invariably built between bearing party‘walls of bri¢k. If the front
- fatade was of ‘brick or stonme, it would usually-have beén supported by a cast-iron

?-storeFront whlch'permltted larger show wlndows than would be’ poss1ble with masonry
‘piers.  When there was a ‘complete cast-iron facade it would act as an 1ndependent
‘curtain wall and would have dittle relation’'to the donstruction behind it.  This
is illustrated- by the facades of -the Laing’ stores  --- “except’ for the Hurray qtreet
51de of the corner store -- as w111 be dlscussed below. :
Whlle it is d1ff1cu1t to genera11ze about ‘the’ interiors, the follow:ng p01nt5

apply to many"of the-District ‘buildifgs fiom ‘the- 1860s through the 1880s. " Because
- these structures were used for’ warehouges” and as: 1ofts, it was desirable to’have as
" “much-opén’ interior space as possible. -Thé usé of inteérior cast-iron columns to
~- support'the floor beams and joists: prov:ded the opén_ space’ that was desired. ' The

-¢olumns ‘would be bolted ‘together from- floor’ to floor; 'The floor JOlStS often

' médde -of wood but -sometimes of wrought' iron; “would be supported ~at their

*“outer énds by the 'brick bearing ‘walls and ‘in the’ center of the’ bulldlnp by sirders

‘which ‘would carry- the floor: loads to -a central rew of ‘iron columns.  If the building
~was -narrow’ the beams might spah its entire’width without' the need for a center line
- of "column. supports,y The length of the floor joists might vary from:12 to 25 feet

"'dependlng on the load they vere intended to bear and ‘the mater1a1 of wh1ch they

" wet'e made. * If the requ1red span-was greater than about 25" feet,glrders had to be
used to cdrty the loadiof the floor beams to the interior.columns. Into the 1870s
it.was common practlce to-use- wooden glrders.- Yrought-iron girders only came into
“"widespréad use in the next decade. -If the girders were: of wood ‘the floor beams
would also be of wood, but wrought -iron girders did, on occasion; carry ‘wooden

" floor beams "If the: beams were of wrought dron the’ spaces between them might be
spanied- by shallow brick- archés- with ‘4 wooden Floor 1aid on cement fill above thenm.
‘'This added to’ the fire resistance of the structure as d1d cross walls of brick --
-whether load bearlnu ot . not. : .

T
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' Cast Iron Developments 1n the Un1ted States -

i

In the Unlted States the use of iron in bu11d1ngs dates from early in the 19th
céntury. ' In Philadelphia's United States Bank: (1818 ~24) - the- architect, Milliam

- Stritkland, inserted wrought-iron rods as tie members into the' arched’ openings

at the ends of the tfansverse barrel vault which ‘spanned the banking rooft. (58)
Another Phlladelphla bulldlng, Strlckland's Chestnut Street Theatre of 1820-22,
was the €irst in the United States to use cast -iron interior’ columns (59) f“
tWhen Robert Hill designed the Publlc Record Nffice at Charleston, South
". Carolina, in 1822-23;"he aimed- to produce the most durablé and incombustible struc-
ture p0551b1e (60) He made the basement, 'cornmices, stairs, -and porticoes of stone,
the walls and interior-vaults of brick, the roof of ‘wood and copper, and the sash,
frames and shutters of 1ron. CThe build1ng wzthstood both the earthquake and fire
"_'of 1886 -
The u. S Naval hsylum (1826 33) in: Ph113de1ph1a “had its exter1or gallerzes
" and - Foof supported by hollow cast 1ron columms, and wrought 1ron ralllngs adorned
1ts balconles (61) e : E
The Mlners' Bank at PottSV111e Pennsylvanla (1829 30) des1gned by John
Haviland, had'a two- -story - facade ‘made of- pieces’ of iron'cast at the foundry and
'‘assembled-on.the site.. The iron plates 1m1tated stone It is not known if the
' 'facade acted as a bear1ng Wall‘(62) § ;ffﬁ : T
“The Bond Bu11d1ng on Merchants ‘Row ‘in. Boston of about 1830 used iron struc-
-+ tural elements. Also ebout this time, ‘Cyrus- Alger, a Bostonian, conceived of a
-pro;ect for a cast iron dwelllng thls 1dea 1ater influenced Dan1e1 Badger (63)

- “The John Travers lerary in Paterson N.J. of 1846 was the flrst ‘building in
-“:the Unlted States 1n wh1ch 1nter1or cast—:nm1beams rested on the br1ck walls wh1ch

' r.' I K L ._,'u
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carried the floor and roof loadS'tb‘thé*foun&etidﬁs.(64)‘

The New York Crystal Palace of 1853 and Thomas U. Ualter s U.S. ‘Capitol
Dome of 1855-65 were the two most dramatic uses of cast iron in the United States.
Ythile the Crystal Palace burned in 1858 the future of the Capitol Dome appears to
- be more safely assured ,

Cast Iron in New York City

Accordlng to the History of Architecture and the Bulldlqg Trades of Greater
'New York (1899), the first use of iron in buildings in New York followed the War
of 1812, (65) but it was mainly for decorative purpdéses -- balconies, railings,
fences, sashes, door and window frames, roofs and doors. :

In 1835 Jordan L. Mott built a foundry on Uater Street for, the manufacture of
iron storefronts, and in 1836 he took out a patent for casting hollow iron col-
umns. (66} The Lyceum of Natural History, built in 1835 on Braodway between Prince
and Spring Streets from designs by Alexander Jackson Davis, used iron columns on

. the first floor instead 'of massive masonry piers, and’ ‘thus obtained larger display
windows. (67) - The U.S. Custom House of 1840, now known as Federal Hall, and still
standing on Wall Street at the head of Broad used no wood in its construction.
Iron was used for such elements as the stairs, railings, doors, window frames, etc.
The" other parts of the building were of marble, and brlck arches were used to sup-
‘port the floor and roof loads. (68) ' :

James L. Jackson establlshed an iron foundry in 1840 at 201 Centre St.,later '
known as the Jackson Architectural Iron Morks.(69) Apparently he began manufac-
turing iron shutters, grates and fenders but 'soon added the manufacture of columns,
- lintels, .beams and girders which were cast on special order from "housesmiths". (70)
Later Jackson added his own smith-shops for parts of his own design. The John B.
and Wllllam Cornell foundry was- establlshed in 184? at 141 Centre

" About 1847 awning posts of cast iron were erected in the front of many
stores.(71) "The author of the History of Architecture...of New York (1899) con-
-jectures that this suggested the-use of cast-iron columns.and pilasters for store-
fronts. Such an explanation may seem simplistic today, but is nonetheless possibly
true. - ' :

-
W

. In the New York 'Music Hall of 1850 "at Broadway and Mercer' iron columns
supported the balconies, and iron was used for the beams.(72) The main section of
the Astor Library, 425 Lafayette, built between 1849 and 1853 by Andrew Saelzer,
used cast-iron columns for 1nterna1 supports., (73)

The_tlork ofﬂpaniel Badger and Jamés Bogardus

It was Daniel Badger and James Bogardus, however, who developed some of the
most inventive uses of cast iron and also popularlzed it as an arch1tectural and
structural medium.

Daniel Badger began his career in Boston in 1829.(74) His store bulldlnﬂ of
1842 on MWashington Street had cast-iron columns and ‘lIintels on the first floor,
and he later claimed that this was the first iron storefront.  In 1843 he bought
Arthur L. Johnson's patent for rolling iron shutters. He moved to New York in
1846 and set up a foundry for the manufacture of iron shutters. He later located
his foundry on the block bounded by 13th ‘and 14th Streets, Avenue ‘B and Avenue C.
His offices were 42 Duane Street. His first full iron facade was completed in WY
1853. (75) Badger's business increased at a tremendous pace, not only in New York
City, but across the country and around the world, as can readily be seen by
examining the listings in his 1865 catalog. Badger himself did not design the
- components, but several-prominent New York City architects designed parts which were
cast by his firm. Some of these designs may have been made to special order and
. were not necessarily carried among the firm's stockpieces. George H. Johnson was .
Badger's chief architect for a number of years, and his designs were were made
specifically for the firm. Although Badger's Architectural Iron Works continued
in business until the 1870s, the majority of the ironwor® we have been able to
attribute to his firm, at least within the District, -dates from the 1850s and 60s,

" -19-
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prior to the publication of his 1365 catalog.

. James Bogardus, born in 1800, was a prolific inventor and lecturer on techni-
cal subjects.(76) Between 1836 and 1840 he made a trip to Eutope to study
iron construction; he was also impressed by classical forms of architecture, -
especlally those of Italy. These were the forms he addpted in his own designs. He
established his New York foundry in 1848 at Duane and Centre Streets to cast columns
and beams. His factory was the basis for his patent of 1850 for an all-iron build-
ing. It was disassembled in 1859 when Duane Street was widemed. It is not certain
that his factory was actually all iron, but his theories of iron construction
- were set forth in the’ drawitigs for his patent. VWhile Badger may be credited for

ei:Ypopularlz1ng the use of cast iron for facades, Bogardus advanced the use of iron

for structural supporting systems although it 1s not clear now Just how w1dely
his methods were adopted ‘ o ' -

Bogardus* factory was ‘assembled on a Stome. base supporting cast-iron sills.
Hollow cylindrical columns were bolted to the sills through the column flanges
- at the sill joints. Channel-shaped spandrel- girders were bolted to the top flanges
-of the columns.  Another set-of sills, columrs and spandrel$s was added for each

: Lfi:succeedlng story. The outer members of the iron frame took the place of a bearing

wall. The floors, ‘according to Carl Condit, (77) were carried on wooden beams. In

“his patent drawlngs of 1850 Bogardus proposed a floor and roof construction of

- cast-iron plates with tongue:-and-groove: 301nts, ‘£loor g1rders shaped as shallow

. segmental arches supplemented by wrought-iron tension rods, and floor and roof

. beams of I-section. Bogardus can thus be credited with introducing the I-beam to
. the United States. (Incldentally the iron for his Flrst fronts was cast at the

: Jackson foundry )y :

N It is interesting to compare the des:gns for Bogardus'  factory, long since
.. demolished, with those for the Edgar- Laing stores of 1849 at the northwest corner of
'\Washznpton and Murray Streets.(78) The building containing five stores divided
by brick party walls was built on a trape201dal site and was constructed with two
€our-story cast-iron facades consisting of piers with engaged Doric columms,
beams, and recessed panel wall units below each window. All these iron components
© were. bblted together, The other parts.of the bolldlng were ‘constructed in the
traditional manner with brick bearing walls supporting wooden floor joists, but
along the’ Murray Street side of 258 “ashington Strect, the cast-iron front actually
. carried“a part of the floor load. The wooden floor ]olsts were inserted into the
. channel-shaped.iron beams. The wooden roof joists rested on the bottom ledge of
- the cornice frieze and were further stabilized by means of iron straps attached to
the l'ip of the frieze. - (Thé other sections of the cast iron facade were braced
by being s1mp1y strapped’to .the wooden floor joists which were supported by the
brick bearing walls.) This actual proof of Bogardus' early use of a cast iron
facade: for load bearing purposes was not fully confirmed until 1971 when Professor
- Minston Weisman, under arrangements made by the Landmarks Preservation Commission,
supervised the disassembly of this historic structure which is currently planned
for re-erection near its original site as part of Manhattan Community College's
new Washington Market Campus.- Since the Laing ‘Store facades are unquestionably the
oldest examples. to have survived in the United States, the full documenting of the
assembly system and their re-erection on a college campus is of great value to the
h1story of Anerlcan -architecture and technology

Dur1ng the sanie’ per:od of dlsassembly many’ detalls of the self—support1np
cast-iron screen wall were fully . clarified. The frame rested on sills cast in
sections ‘and then laid on 2 stone foundation. The columns stood on the sill joints
‘and were bolted to the'sills. Another set of sills or spandrels’ were bolted to
the -tops of the columns to rdise the buildlnp up to the next story. Nrnamental
'castlnos were used as ‘coverings for the junctions of the cast<iron beams over the
“columns. The facade was-painted wlth tan-colored paint mixed. wath .sand to give
‘1t the texture of stone._ : . :

The Harper and Brothers Bu11d1ng of 1854 was Bogardus' farst'feally iarge
comnercial building. (?9) John B. Corlies, the architect, used Bogardus' system._

of cast-and wrought iron framing and applied all’ the then known precaut1ons against.

fire. However, even here the construction methods were not.as advanced as’ those _
advocated by Bogardus in his 1850 patent. The building used a’ cast-iron facade

"- and masonry bear1ng walls with brick interior partitions. -Intérior cast-iron
columns supported exposed cast-and wrought-iron girders, across wh:ch were placed
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partly concealed wrought- 1ron ce111no beams Br1ck arches were constructed between.
the beams above the girders and leveled with cement to provide a flat surface; a

pine floor was laid over this. The girders were of the "bow-string" type, similar

to & truss, in which a wrought-iron tie rod resisted the tensile stresses while an
arched cast-iron body was under compression. The girders also brought concentrated
loads to the supporting interior columns which thus shared the floor loads.with theua
bearing’ walls Another important structural innovation was the transmission of -
floor loads to the girders by means of 7-inch wrought-iron ceiling beams, 31m11ar '
to railroad beams, and developed specifically by Peter Cooper's mills in Trenton,

N. J. for wide-bayed iron framing. The first shipment was divérted by the govern-.
ment for use in the U.- S. Assay Office in 1854. This building was demolished in
1915, and only the handsome stone facade was saved for re-erection on the face of

the American "ing of the Metropolitan Muséum of Art. Cooper's beams were then used ..
in the Harper Building, also long since demolished. The third application was in

the Cooper Union Foundation Building in 1855, where they may still be seen.

T The Virtues and Defects of Cast Iron

Fire was an éver present danger and a constant fear in 19th-century urban
life. Lower Manhattan had suffered disastrous fires both in 1835 and 1845; hence
there was a great demand for fire resistant buildings. -In the Historic District
which was the center of the-drygoods trade, protect:on against fire was of speC1a1

. urgency.

Fireproofing was an inexact science at best through much of.the.19th century,
The New York City building codes reflected this state of affairs: Previous to the
creation of the Department of Buildings in 1860, fire limits established the areas
in which frame buildings could not be built. In 1860 this applied to all areas of
Manhattan below 52nd Street., In 1871 limitations were placed on the width of "non-
fireproof' buildings, but none on their helght. Height limitations were not set
until 1835. (80) : '

One o€ the great clalms madc for cast iron as a building material was its i
ability to withstand fire; Badger and Bogardus were both ready to make this assertlon
Bogardus' pamphlet states: "Cast-iron houses are perfectly fire-proof...for, it |
is well known, not only a high and intense heat, but the use of a-blast,qismrequired
to reduce iron to a molten statée: and never yet, in any conflagration, has it
been found melted, except in pieces of minute dimensions, and in such -situation
that.the'current of the flames created around them an artificial b1ast."(81)

Just how fireproof unprotected iron structural members are remains sowewhat -
of a problem The controversy was strong throughout the period when most cast~ - i
iron buildings in New York City were constructed. However, it must be remembered .
that despite brick bearing or party walls, and iron facades, the interiors of these“
buildings were largely of wood. Popular opinion held (and still holds) that the
great fires in Chicago of 1871 and in Boston of 1872 proved the instability of cast
iron in 2 conflagration. The material fell into theoretical disfavor for buildings
after that time. ' On' the other hand, in New York the great majority of cast-iron :
facades within the Historic District were built in the 1870s. (Previous to that ...,
decade cast iron had been used largely for storefronts and facadedecoration.) The
only conclusion that can be drawn from this is that New York architects and
builders felt that the aesthetic effects obta1ned by u51ng cast iron outwelghed
the dangers of fire. : . S

The 20th century ‘has prov1ded some ev1dence of the stab111ty of 1ron struc- ,
tures in some 1nterest1ng ways. When the A: T. Stewart (Uanamaker) store burned in .
1956, the iron frame remained completely intact; only the. wooden floor1ng and joists
were destroyed, In England dur1ng the World War II bombings, cast-irom structural-

‘elements were exposed for the' first time since the erection of the buildings.
Gloag states: ''...when buildings were demolished by fire it was amazing to-see the

cast iron skoloton still standing when the steel joists of later adjoinging buildings
wers hont and distorted. (82) These experiences seem somewhat to weaken earljer .
arguments comparing the use of unprotected cast iron to unprotected steel. Yet .

it is known, on the other hand, that both materials will buckle at relatively low
temperatures and that hot cast iron has the further disadvantage of cracking when
exposed to the shock of cold water $0 that the very effort of trying to put out a |
fire adds an additional haiard. BT _ D

”
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8o perhaps ‘it is bestito.conclude that while cast iron does not:function as

'*-_an absolutely fire«resistant.medium, particularly in.its inability to confine a

v, fire within a small area, yet, if the iron is well cast and placed in a well-.

;constructed bumldlng, the cast iron: structure 1tse1f is apt to remaln stable.

3

o

It was: graﬂually Iearned in. the 19th century that a br1ck encasement of iron

tistructural membeys-provided one.of the best forms of fire protection. This is, of
“.course, - the method that was used ‘in the English textile mills built just prior to C

the beg1nning of the 19th Century. It is unfortunate that this method was not

more widely followed. Since'it was both costly and extremely heavy in terms of
building weight, ‘most builders turned to the cheapér, quicker, and lighter methods
of ‘using unprotected iron beams in combination with wood. The development of hollow-
clay.tile brought both an inexpensive and light method:of fireproofing. The first

 use in this country of hollow-clay tile for protection of floor beams appears to

have been in 1855 in the Cooper Union Foundation Building.(83) However it took
another fifteen or more years before a really practicable and inexpen51ve hollow-*
clay tile method was developed Gradually it came into widespread use in the late
18705 . - S

0f course, the proponents of cast iron extolled it for other advantages be-

- sides its-fire resistance. Those that Daniel Badger cites in the' introduction

to his.catalog are: “strength,. lightness of structure, facility of erection, archi-
tectural beauty, economy and cheapness, durability, and renovation.® lhile the

claims of strength, lightness and durability seem to have generally been substanti-
ated with time, many critics of cast iron have also attacked it for what they claim
to be its lack of these very qualities.- In response, it must be remembered that . j

.iron was often cast without specifications, foundry control, or expert metallurgical

knowledge; moreover 1t was often used in ways that were 1115u1ted to its phy51ca1 '

.o propertles.

: A cast -iron structure was easy and quick to erect in comparlson with a masonry
building, and it was also cheaper. (A cast-iron building could also be easily dis-
mantled and re-erected clsewhere.) Essentially the pieces were an early form qf
prefabr1cat1on, they were cast in multiplé units which could be readily combined
and assembled in numerous ways. -Naturally this was much cheaper -than carving each

“. plece individually in. stone.. If a client ordered a cast-iron building from a

foundry, he might also be able.to do without the services of an architect, and simply
engage a builder to do the work,. Certainly this was the case when British foun-

dries  shipped cast-iron houses. and.other buildings around the world. However,

when one examines the Building Department records for iron and stone buildings of
approximately the same size and from the same period, a contradiction seems to arise.

The average construction period for both building types appears to have been about *
eight to nine months (although some cast-iron buildings were put up -in four or '

. five months), and the costs are often very. similar. This apparent paradox becomes

., more understandable when it is realized that the construction of each of the two

.bu11d1ng types was almost 1dent1cal except for the facade._

""Ease of renovatlon“ was another ‘reason for the popularlty of cast-iron struc-
tures. All that needed to:-be done to give a bu11d1ng a new appearance was' to

- apply.a new.coat of paint. .Moreover, if an iron piece were warped or broken, it

could easily be replaced by another stock plece or by recast1nv the faulty piece

from the .original mold.

" would have. been foolish to continue to use. unprotected cast-iron facades for
- these larger bu11d1ngs : . . ,

Yet desplte these various advantages the cast-iron facade was rarely used in
the Historic District after the late 1880s. There appear to be several reasons for
its demise, The:change: in -stylistic taste has already been discussed. . The other
reasons were of a more practical nature. ' The problems of fireproofing became of
increasing concern as the -économic pressure for buildings of even greater size
and height increased. By the 1890s the City building.codes were regutating - :
building size as. a necessary precaution against fire.(84) Developments of better )
methods of fireproofing with hollow-clay tile and the new. availability of rolled )
steel sections with their high tensile strength made -possible these larger buildings.
Jith the obvious advantages of such alternatives at hand, architects and builders

There is, an- ironic: tw1st to the thoroughness of the reactlon aga;nst cast

" iron as a bu11d1n? material. For the next half century, the steel skeleton- frame i

of all New York City's skyscrapers continued to carry, floor by floor, the heavy

Tla22.
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weight of masonry enclosing walls. It was not until after the end .0f World Yar

IT that it was realized that this masonry only served the function of keeping out
the weather as well as keeping out the light! Furthermore it had to be laboriously
" laid up brick by brick,' tile by tile, or stone by’ stone just as in the Middle Ages,
even though it was now being supported hundreds of feet in the air by a steel shelf
at every story. With the commercial availability of large sheets of glass as wéll
| as the development of light, non-ferrous metals (which did not require maintenarice
| by painting) as well as of new, light forms of heat and fire insulation which could
. : be sprayed on or applied in the form of panels - the idea of the curtain wall was
Do L ., born. . Nr, rather, it was re-born. For Bogardus had forseen, & hundred years before,
o all the'advantages of . qu1ck1y erected, light, standardized, pre-fabricated panels
. as an effective and economical method of screening commerc1a1 buildings from the
.weather. .. He lacked modern materlals, tools and technlques, but he had the essential
ideas : C ,

, In the oplnlon of 20th- century critics cast iron has played a most 1mportant
role in the development of the moderh skyscraper. The development of the cast-iron
facade led to-a system of standardization for building units; advocates of cast iron

~“saw:this as a virtue because it .led to speed and economy of erection. Prefabricated
unit standardization has become an essential factor in today's construct1on methods,

.. dndividual handwork has beome proh1b1t1ve ‘in cost even in the rare cases when it is
DRI p0551ble ‘to obtaln it

: It .was the development of a system of iron framlng,however that had the greatest
- significance for modern architecture. The skyscraper has become.a fact of modern
city life because of the high cost of land and the desirability of close proximity
_within the central c1ty

Iron- framlng techn1ques, later translated into steel made possible the con-
_struction of -tall buildings that were strong yet light, and did not waste valuable
rentable areas by filling them with bulky masonry bearing walls and piers. Floor,
- roof, and wind loads are now generally carried by the steel skeleton; freeing the

'; partitions-and exterior walls from any bearing functlon..

v* "By the 1890s and early 19003 true skyscrapers, ten or more stories h1gh

: : -were being built within the SoHo-Cast Iron Dlstr1ct, and, though they literally

+ - . - -can look down on the five-and six-story cast-iron structures around them, they are
actually the direct descendants of their modest neighbors.

T . ' . '..‘f{v‘
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- 4. CAST._IRON AND ARCH!TECTURE U B S S
( L ) -__' - . _‘. ‘,.__b_ < .. -= - j‘, . , 2 E - oL o . - ‘-:__.'.; ' |I L .
S The' quesfion of "archlfecfural beau*y" as wetl as, The Iarger ques+|on of
wcasf-tron s?ruc+ures as "Archlfec?ure” isione of The mosf snferesf|ng to be

-:_“conSIdered ;m i e “7n‘~\r;-

- I? will be recalled Tha? casT |ron was used flrs* for s?ruc+ura| purposes
_‘and ThaT no maTTer what "sfyie“ it assumed ‘the. s+ruc1ure was - evalua?ed merely

. Aas a ‘work of engnneer:ng. However, ‘+he - implucattons ‘of cast-.iron for architec-

?ffural form weré., not lost on.: Ig*h-cen?ury critics,. A dominant them in. 19th-century
f:archu?ecfural Though? in Brifaln, France and. The Un:fed Sfafes ‘was the need 1o

,”afdevelop a.new archtfectural sTyle apprOprtaTe +o the new 1ndu5+rzal age; what

".-1ron?

nxkcquld be’ be#Ter SU|+ed +o Thus new sfyle than fhe new maTerlal of The age, caS*

L. Lt . . - oo N Lo . : . 3
1 E RN T ‘ i - i

x “,f One 1nteresftng early +reaTsse on Th;s Theme was W|ll|am Vose Ptckeff'

A New' Sysfem ‘of Archifécture (i1845), -He- advocafed hew forms of architecture

" based on the use of new materials -- metals and espeCnalty lron-'ﬂ...why should
. we not avail ourselves of the drsTuncfuve properTnes it possesses for the. pro~

’i-ducfion of @ new and: beculuar species. of . beauty’ 1n sysfemaftc archcfec*ural effect.,”
"“ﬂPlcRe?f advocafed a new sysfem ‘of design based ofthe curve as in nature, not the

- tsfraigh+ lune. Moreover iron should not be used in such a ‘wdy as to d:sguuse its

- “qualities and be made to appear SOlld when it was hotiowﬂ "tan entire indepen-

\'mfdence‘ of the several members, ‘parts, o feafures of pre—ex:s?enf archifecfure
' mus+ a+ all times be ma|n+a|ned “'if_ IR o :

Pickett was also ready to descrlbe Jus+ how buildings should be bu|I+ in

“"acéordance with his pr|ncnp%es' wrought iron’ was to be fashioned.into Fie bars
" - &nd overed with-irof plafes, promlnenf or ' decorative’ consflfuenfs were to be
Tt cagt i separa?e molds “The’ -coatings on the iron. plaTes {which he advocafed elec-

froplaf;ng with COprr zinc and bar:um) shou!d be un c0n+ras+|ng colors.

- “Pickett concluded by s+a+4ng that ‘tron archu?ec*ure answered the- requiremenTs
- of bo*h beauty and utility and cited those frequently mentioned virtues of cast
iron =~ fire resistance;’ economy, repe?n?son of forms, ease of rearrangemen+ of

o the: par+s and c%eanl:ness - Cor : : PO

Pickett's book is: menfloned in ?he 1n1roducTion fo Badger s 1865 caTalog,
and his theories seem to have  influenced Badger. However, it is interesting to
‘note that Badger's architectural designs bear no resemblance to those advocated
by Pickett, The author:of the. introduction explains: “The allusion to this work
ot Mr, Pickett (gic) is-made not for the purpose of elucidating the principles
-of Architecture laid down by him, for his ideas would be deemed crude at the
present time,.,." Instead Badger "relied on the Venetian Renaissance for the
basis of form and ornament,since it provided the most architectural expression
for the basic functional! pattern of columns, spandrels and windows" (to quote
Carl Condit,) (85) Bogaerdus also used [talian forms for his designs, Their
aim was not to develop a new system of architectural design; they frankly imitated
forms in stone and had no thought of developing new forms for use with iron,
Their ideal held that anything that could be done in stone could be done just
as well and more cheaply In iron,

As has been earlier discussed, Badger and Bogardus were the two main creators
of designs whose forms adhered closely to those of the Venetijan Renaissance,
There are fascinating structural, economic and funchonal parallels that made this
adherance particularly appropriate.

Most of the later designers in cast iron were much freer in their adaptation
-of French and |talian Renaissance forms to this medium, But in all these cases,
works in iron were considered to be "Architecture” only if they Imitated forms
that had evolved for stone buildings, By a curious aesthetic twist, a few
examples will be found in the detailed discussion that follows, of stone-fronted
buildings in the District that actually imitate cast iron ! '

The London Crystal Palace of I85! was the first major non-traditional work
done in iron which excited the acclaim of the critics as a work of "Architecture,”
and even they were not completely certain about this, James Fergusson writing in
his History of the Modern Styles of Architecture in 1862 .about "ferro-vitreous
art" claimed that a new styie of architectecture was inaugurared with the "Exhibi~
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tion":"As re-erected at Syndenham, the building has far greater claims fo rank

among the important architectural, objects of. the world,” -Nonetheiess, "It has not
a.sufficient amount of . decoration about. its parTs Yo take it entirely as an object
of Fine Art ,,. it wants solidity, and that appearance of permanence and durability
indispensable to make it really architectural in the strict meaning of the word."(86)
Fergusson felt that the ‘way to remedy this S|Tuafson was to 'introduce a third
material; he advocated the JudICIOUS use of colored brick and terra cotta,

But not all critics were so hesus?anf in their approval of cast iron as a
building form. |In 1854, New York City held a design competition for a new city
hall, In an editorial on September 6 of that year, thé New York Times advocated

; - the: use. of iron'to build a new city hall citing such factors -as-cost and time;

moreover the writers saw iron as a.proper expression of the age. Using iron for
the city halliwould furnish the opportunity for the developmen? of a distinctive
national system of architecture,

As will be dlscuSSed below in the block by block descripffdns, Richard Morris
Hunt produced two distinctive cast-iron facades at 476 and 478-482 Broadway that

».employed non-traditional and pon-imitative forms. Thé non-imitative forms, The

noted 19th=-century American architectural critic, Monfgomery Schuyler, in writing
about them stated: (87) -"The 'iron age' in commercial building produced nothing
better than these two fronts and very few things so good But, like the other
comparative successes they indicated that the problem was not really seluble,

1T is a matter of congratulation upon architectural grounds that at about fthe Time
when these fronts were done, experimentation in iron fronts should have been
brought to-an end by the demonstration of the fires of Chicago and Beston that

“fronts of unprotected iron-work were not pracfically trustworthy, and architects

were thus. released from the attempt to solve the :nsoluble "

The author of the History of Archlfecfure ... Of New York (1899) in wri+|ng
about the development of the cast-iron building, expresses his doubts about the
form: (88) "it was a puzzle to those students of architecture who saw the hope-
lessness of looking to the cast-iron bunlding for any architectural development
-~ @ puzzle why these fronts were 50 common,"

Those archl?ecfs who smlfafed Venefran Renalssance forms in cast iron found

@ structural form that was appropriate in. |ightness and openness, Later archi-
. tects, such -as Henry Fernbach, who adapted neo-Grec forms to cast iron, were also

able to use the. ma+er|a| in"a less traditional way to create !ight and open
structures, - . :

t+ is interesting to note in passing that when iron was used in non-traditional
forms iTs uniqueress was sometimes emphasized by-the use of color, For practical
reasons iron had to be painted as a protection against rust, But such vivid
colors (red, yellow, and blue) as those used on the Crystal Palace, for example,
expressed more than a mere need for protection of structural members, Hunt's
non-traditional buildings on Broadway were.painted 'in at .|east half a dozen tints,"

"The Paris Eiffel Tower of |887-89 was a great work in cast and wrought iron and

also painted in several different colors, {t is also possible to argue that this
use of color on metal was less an attempt to express the special qualities of
the material than merely another reflection of 19th-century fondness for poly-
chromy, as witnessed by numercous examples in the V|c+orcan Gothic and "Queen Anna"
sfyles. ,

Many serious observers of Thelr con?emporary archu?ecfure were deeply dis-

‘turbed by the conflict between the old ftraditions and the -new technologies, Pro-

fessor Donaldson. is quoted by Sir. John'. Summerson (89) as asking the young men at
+he 1847 opening of the Architectural Association: "The great question is, are
we to have an architecture of our perijod, a distinct, individual, palpable style

~of. the 19th century?" col T ,

We see that the |9th-century view of. casT-lron architecture was a conTradlc-

tory one,. .For some it was valid only if it was a dnrec* |m|1a+|on of traditional

forms - in .stone, - Others: thought that the p055|b|11+:es inherent in cast lron

.seemed 1o point a way towards the developmen? of.an archifecture appropr|a+e to
_the age; still others: felt it was only partially successful, and sometimes not
.even . *ha+ I+ is only from the distance of the 20th century that we can rec-
.ognize +that casT-:ron architecture developed forms that were significant for

their structural innovations and- unique in their aesthetic expressions.

-25-
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" BLOCK BY BLOCK DESCRIPTIONS

BROADWAY .

The secTion of Broadway Tha* runs Through the Historic District was extended

north of Canal Street to Astor Place in 1775 and was known as Great George Street.
1¥s name was changed to Broadway in 1794, The roadway was paved and sidewatks

" were taid_in 1809 thus facilitating the development of the District, Broadway

was primarnly a residential street until the late 1820s and sarly 1830s when

many residences were converted into smali | réfail shops, Rapid commercial devel-

opment soon followed and con+:nued into the early 20?h cen*ury. Today ‘the street

stTill refanns a commercual characfer. o B , !

'-. I

Canal to Howard Sfree+ i; f

N

The. 1hree norfhern mos+ bu:ldlngs in thls block gnve one a p|c+ure of the
range of types of architectural development which took place on Broadway. No,
423 is typical of the modified Federal style of building which lined Broadway
in the 1820s, Nos, 425 and 427-429 were built only a year apart, but the two
styles of cas+-cron facades utilize iron for ornamental’ details in quite differ-
en? ways. ,

' N . 'ﬁ.‘

'wesf SIdG(}niV |n Dnsfrncf- Block 23! (soufh par?), Nos. 4I9-429

Mo, 425, a relafively simple fnva-sfory, Three-bay ‘bui 1ding erecfed in 1869,
is probably one of the first that Griffith Thomas designed with a cast-iron
facade, The square-headed windows with their curved corners are separated by

~ unadorned columns, each floor has its own prOJecfing cornice,  The heavy main . |

en?abla+Ure, supporfed by follafed brackeTs, is crowned, by a curved pediment,

‘In its use of formg and lack of ornamen+a+ton, it presen?S a strong confrasf

with No._42?—429’ _ _ .

No. "~ 427-429' Broadway (43-45 Howard) deS|gned for Ay J Duffenhoffer by
Thomas Jackson in 1870, uses cast iron in a highly ornate manner, While basic~
ally Venetian Renaissance in ifs use of sfruc?ural forms, The bum!dlng details
are etaborated in the French Renaissance manner,’ ' e

Five stories high, six bays wide on Broadway,,and fwelve bays wide on Howard

_‘-Sfree* the butldung creates a striking ef fect on its cor ner srfe. The round-
. arched windows which are dlvided by ornately .decorated columns topped by

Corinthian’ capi+als, deve[op a hnghly effective rhythm, The. spandrels between
the arches contain florid’ detaiils, ~Much of the' ground floor on Broadway has

_ been remodelled but one original doorway remains framed by columns similar fo

those on the upper stories, The Howard Street ground floor retains the columns
which divided the original show windows, Also!6n this side, one special show
window survives, |t is three bays’ wide and prOJecTs slightly from the wall
surface, it is covered by its own canopy and .cornice which is. topped by finial
elements, Originally there was a simiiar window on Broadway. The main building
cornice. is supporfed by brackets |nTer5persed by trieze- panels which have 1he
same &laborate decoration:of ‘the spandrels.’” Above the four. ceniral hays on

: Broadway is a ped|men+ whlch confalns the bu;iding dafa of 1879

[—_— 1
! - 1
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BROADWAY (Cont'd.)

231~12 ‘ ST 231=1

#419,421 . #4423

Restaurant and shop © Commenced: 1822
I story - Completed: 1823

Architect: Unknown -

Original Owner: Benjamin Lord

Original Function: Store & dwelling
Facade; Brick, iron cornice

3 stories; 3 bays

Comments: New ground floor facade; iron
corn:ce probabiy added in 1860s.

231-10 - L ases

#425 - . e T H427-429
"pommehced{ T Lo S e (#43-45 Howard sou?hwes+ corner)
“Comp tetedi 10/ 18/1869 17T Commenced: 7/I/I870 '
Architects: Griffith Thomas. e Cpmplefed° 1/12/18741
'Buiider: John T. Conover . <.+ Architect: Thomas Jackson
Original Owner: LeBoulillier Bros. . jOrsginal Owner: A, J. Dittenhoffer
- Original Function: Store .- ' Original Function: Warehouse
_Facade: lron, from Excelsior iron WOrks_Facade- lron '
. 5 stories; 3 bays 5 s+ortes, ‘6 bays, |2 bays on Howard
Comments: Lacking original urns at - Comments: Was the site of the City Hotel

roof line and capital decorations’ . im 1852, - Ground floor ‘alterations,
o ' SR o +_ notable bay treatment on Howard,

' '-Howard To Grand Sfreef -:ru_:

- Most: buuidlngs on The wesf side of this block on Broadway date from the
|8605. None of them have complete cas+~1ron facades, However, there are several
interesting examples of the use of iron and stone in combination, most notably
from the Architectural jron Works of Daniel Badger., This is not surprising

_considering this early daTe o before cast |ron reached the height of its
' 9p0pular|+y.---A. o : SR

_ The east slde is. flanked by two sump+uous busid:ngs 1yptcal of the -1890s

. commercial style, Most notable are the four cast~iron bu1ld1ngs in the center
“-of the biock done in 1876, . Nos, 444 and 452 use cast iron in an especially

interesting way., O, H., Valentine's Manual of the Common Council of New York,

- 1865, shows views of Broadway from that year; five ' buildings are depicted which
'are are still s*andnng onh the block, glVlng US a useful ?ool to noTe building changes,

" West Side: Block 23! (nbrfh parf),'Nos. 43!8461

No, 443—445 is:.a handsome fnve-sfory buildnng, six -bays wide, done in an
ttalianate manner. Built: in 1860 for N. Ludium by Griffith Thomas, the building
is aesthetically very successful, The entire facade is stone, Round-arched
windows. topped by individual. projecting cornice siabs. supported by brackets
create a symmetrical-rhythm-across the facade, Below the central windows of the
"second floor is a projecting balustrade with. urhs a+ either end of the railing,
The ground floor has. been. complefe!y altered, but i+t orlglnally had round-arched

+ . doors and -show windows, - The main. cornice 'is supported by ornately scrolled

" brackets, and a pediment prov|des a funal emphasas ‘o Thls handSOme Classic

- 1composiflon.

No, 447, comple?ed in 1860 for wllilam and Edward E lechell forms a

. harmonious composition with its: neighbors., Danietl Badger's: cafalog for his
Architectural iron Works lists the store front as a commission done for Mr,
Cotlamore, the proprietor of the store, Only the first floor facade is iron;
those of the upper stories are stone, '

.32
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BROADWAY (Cont’d,)

The building is five stories high and three bays widg. -

The fodnd-arched

~ windows. topped by ‘heavy fiat keys?ones are divided by panelied.pilasters which

have Corinthianesque capitals,

A S|mple but bold projecting cornice, running

under.the windows as well.as outlining each p:lasfer base, divides each of the

upper stories,

bracke+s are Topped by rounded *ermtnal

Lot R .19 I ST e N
C2BI-14 i
#ﬂ3|-439 Ce SR
(46 Howard, norThwesf corner)
. L:sTed on Howard '

'23I-38 I R

#443-445 (Through fo Mercer)

Comp leted: 1860

Architect: Griffith Thomas

Original Qwner: N. Ludlum .

Original Function: Store = '

Facade: Stone, iron cornsce

5 stories; 6 bays '

Comments: Ground floor alTeraTuons,
urns missing at ends of cornice,
Built for*D, Appleton & Co. -

S W, Weisman,Art Bujlefin, Dec,

(o

1954

231-36

#449 (through to Mercer)
Complieted: 1855-56

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: Matthew Morgan '

Original Function: Store

Facade:.Marble, iron.cornices

5 stories; 3 bays, N . .

Comments: lron storefront 11sted m',’
‘Badger's -Architectural rofn Works .
catalog in 1865;.the proprietor
was Mr, Jackson; “Ground, floor -~
alterations, oo T

P

231-32

#455-457 "
Commenced: 1867

Comp leted: |868
Architect: Unknown

" Original Qwner: E. N. Nichols

Original Function: Store & lofts
Facade: Stone, iron cornlces

5 stories; 4 bays

Commants: Owned by Belding Bros, sewing
silk busiress in 1895 — illustrated in.
in Kings Views. lron ornament missing
“from cornice, ground floor aiterations,

" Completed:

. The cornice above the first floor 'is iron.as are +he remaining
original elemen+s of the'first floor facads.
moditiions and dentils and:js supporfed by scrolled. bracke?s af *he end5.

The main cornice has: underlynng
‘These
blocks.--

23I~40 :

#a4\ - o
Commenced 3/2!/1876
Completed;, 9/11/1876 -
Architect: Griffith Thomas:'
Builder: John T, Conover' .-

o Original Ownér: Wm, B, Lawrence ‘

Original Function: Store
Facade: Originally iron, now brlck :
5 stories; 3 bays -
Comments: ‘1908 alferafuon <. néw front
. added, 1imestone first: floor, brick
above, casf iron in befween wrndows.

: 23|~37

#447 {through to Mércer)}

Completed: 1860

Architect: Unknown

Original Owners: Wm; & Edward Mnfchetl

Original Function: Store

Facade: First floor iron, sTone above

5 stories; 3 bays _

Comments: [ron storefront listed in
Badger's Architectural lron Works
catalog in 1865; the proprietor was
Mr. Collamore. Ground floor alter-
afions. g s

23!-25 . '
#451-453 (fhrough to Mercer)
Commenced: 6/1/1869

12/10/ 1869
Architect: J. B. Snook
Builder: W, E, Lambert . _
Original Owner: Estate of George Lorillard
Original Function: Store and storehouse

, Facade' Stone ashlar, or:gunal!y iron and

“brick
5 stories orngunally, now ralsed ?o 6
6 bays’
Commen?s- 1916 alfera+ion - comple?e new
facade on: Broadway. (A '

LY
\ 1

23!-30

#459-461 . :

{#115 Grand sou+hwes+ corner)
Commenced: 1860

“Completed; 1861

Architect: Unknown :

Original Owner: Thomas Suffetn
Original Function: Store & tofts
Facade: Stone

S stories; 6 bays, |3 bays on Grand

Comments: Ground floor alterations,
remaining iron on ground floor entabla-
Ture,
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Eas+ S:de._ Block - 232 Nos. 434-458 Sl e e T .
Coa Nos. 444 and 452 have iden+|ca¥ five—s+ory,,+hree-bay casf-rron facades.
Designed -by Schweitzer & Greve for Edward.Mathews,:the two.buildings were built -

-together -and are joined:on the Crosby St.-'side, - Each facadeis flanked by a

~simple pilaster treatment, Slender: neo—Grec «cotumns divide. ihe window bays,

Stretching between each .set-of columns . is a pierced ‘stylized arch set in front
of the window glass beneath a wide spandrel‘panel,. . The effect is. reminiscent

of that created on the Richard Morris Hunf—designed building at 478-482 Broadway.
The tracery is painted to contrast with the other elements of Thefpuilding.
Crowning the facade is a bold projecting cornice decorated with anthemion alter~
nating wufh ra[sed circular mo+ifs and flanked by neo—Grec console bracke?s.

Nos 446-448 and 450 wers, bU|IT at the same Tlma by J B Snook for the
LoritTard. Estate and: share a common facade, Both are five stories high; No, 446~
448 is six bays wide and-No, ‘450 is three bays wide, Quoined pilasters flank
the ends of each building and form a dividing line between the two sections,

. Columns topped, by Corinthian capitals define the window bays and the ground

- . floor openings. A simple undecorated cornice divides each of the floors, The
main entablature adds .an appropriately strong accent to the composition of the
. Joint facade! Flanked by ‘1drge consoie brackets, each topped by a sort of neo-

Grec terminal block, thecarnice of each building stretches above a.panelted
concave frieze. -Additional. concave brackets with their own incised terminal
blocks alternate with the panels on the frieze, These non-traditional decorative
details combine with the other:elements of the buiidings +o fonm a handsome open
classical comp05|+ion.”p;,.. i L VP S

P S, 1 T -

232t . U T 232-3 . . o

. #a34-438 S #mztuf» -
F38-42 HWoward, northeast- corner) ~ Completed: - I938 .
- Gommenced:' 4/6/]895 LU . Architect: Unknown . . .
.Completed: :5/20/1896- .- - .+ Originai Functions Store -
. #Architect: Ralph S, Townsend - _Facade: Stone: - ... *
- Original Owner; Abraham Boehm & Lewls -2 stories; 30 feet-wide ° :

Coon = . -Comments: This'building is a drastic
Original Func+|on- S+ore SRR alteration of another .buiiding occu-
Facade: Indiana .|imestone on 1st and pying the site since c., 1875,

2nd floors,’ brlck and ?erra cotta - o

above. v B LR _:i" f‘
9 stories; 9 bays (3 fr:ple bays) T
Comments: Ground floor alferafions

'__-232-4 T 2325

L, 42 . RO #4444 (Through *o Crosby)
- ...Commenced: - 5/I6/I876 . " Commenced: 11/6/1876 .
Complieted: 9/5/1876 ~ .. . . - Completed:.7/30/1877:
Architect: W, P. Anderson.; - « - Architect: Schwen?zwer & Greve
Buiider: Charles E, Hadded .7 Original Function: Warehouse
. Original Owner: Edward Ml?Chell "~ .o Originat ‘Owner: Edward. Mathews. .
Original Function:-Store. . - Facade: {ron, from-iong isiand Iron Works
Facade: Brick, now.stuccoed over g 5 stories; 3 bays
4 stories; 4 bays Comments: Built as one bu1lding with ¥452,
- Comments: This is an L-shaped bU|idlng Ground floor aiterations.

with another facade at #36 Howard,

1965 alteration~roof-replaced after TR Ty P _
a fire, original .fron. cornice L S -
removed at that fime, : Ground [T

floor altered, H_.~;f. ' Coe R A T

e e i . Co P A o T . -

~24-
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232~6/7 - L L Ll 2328 e
#446-448 ~ 7 T T sy T T
Commenced: 12/21/1876. - 7 Commenced: 12/21/1876
Completed: 5/25/1877° .0 . (Completeds 5/25/1877

Architect: J. B, Snook : " . .. Architect: J. 8, Snoock .

Original Owner: Loriliard EstaTe N Original Owner: Loriliard Esfafe
Original Function: Store . : “Qriginal Function: Store .

~Facade:' lron, from J. B, & J. w Cornelfi Facade: lron, from J, B. & Jo W. Cornel!
‘5 stories; 6 bays- - . 5 stories; 3 bays ..’
. Comtments: Common - facade wnTh #450. New Comments: Common facade with #446—448

doors and windows. |, - New doors and wnndows., .

232-9- . 232-10

#452 (through to Crosby) . #454

Commenced: |1/6/1876 ' Comp leted: 1863

Compieteds 7/30/1877 ~ . ' . | - Architect: Unknown .

Architect: Schweitzer & Grevé ' .). . - Original Owner: Peter Goslet

Original Owner: Edward Mathews . '-“Original Function: Store

Original Funcfson- Warehouse. . G ' Facadc 1 Brick

Facade: |ron, from Long tsland lron WOrks‘S sTorles originaily, now reduced fo |;

5 stories; 3 bays 25 ft, wide,

Comments: Built as one. bunldang With Comments: 1946 alteration - removed
-#444, Ground' floor alterations, upper 4 stories; nothing original

remains on the facade, For a line
drawing of the original see Valen-
t+ine's Manual, 1865, p. 589, Also
had a Badger storefront,

232-11" . o 232-12

#456 - #458 (southeast corner Grand)
Completed: 1654 . o Commenceds. 3/21/1895 - '
Architect: Unknown ©. . = Completed: 3/19/1896 . .
Original Owner: Thomas Woodruff Architect: Alfred Zucker:
‘Original Function: Store & lotts -~~~ Original Owner:-Charles, A, Baudonuno
Facade: Stone, iron cornice & store~ Original Function: Store

front’ S PR Facade: .Limestone, brlck and terra cotta
5 stories; 4 bays - . ' S 9 storles; 5 bays - , :
Comments: Original Badger sforefronf Comments: Ground f!oor al*eraTions.

Ground floor alfera?&ons @_]f T e

Grand to Broome Street

This block provides good examples of the changing taste that characferuzes
American commercial architecture, Four cast-iron buildings remain from the fate
I1860s and 1870s; a number of ofhers from both earljer and later periods re+a|n3
their original iron trim,. Several buildings of the 1890s d:splay the ornate use
of iron in codbination with brick and other maferuals.“ thers on the east side
which once had iron. facades have been comp letely. alfered in the 20th cenfury.

Wesf Side° Block 474 (eas* parf), Nos. 469-487

g, 4??-479 is a- flve—s+ory cast-iron.: buuldlng bu1i+ for William Rhinelander
by H. W, Smith ‘and -Sons-in 1869-70, While the builidings forms are derived from
classical sOurces, much of its ornament is quite fanciful.

A center molded ptiaster simiiar to fhose on.the ends, splits the six
window bays into two groups. The bays themselves are separated by columns with
hexagona{ bases and Corinthianesque capitals, The windows have rounded lintels,
and abstract geometric detail decorates the spandrels. Pilasters sepsrate the
ground story doors and windows which remain fargely intact. The upper stories
are separated by simple cornices. The entablature contains a panelled frieze
underneath the simple cornice which is supported by gently curved brackets, An
unusual touch is a fine leaf-pattern detail on the bracketrs and modillions,

-35-
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No, 483—485 is the ofher ‘cast-iron bu:ldung on this side of the street,

Built in the same years.as No, 477-479,
Helen Langdon as.a store and lofts.

it was designed by Robert Mook for
l? is also derived:from ciassical sources
but the ornamentat details are simple, almost sparse in treatment,

:This five-

story building is divided ‘intotwo bay groupings ot three bays each by a central

panelled pilaster like those flanking the ends of the building, -

Simpte round

columns, topped by an egg-and-dart melding (which gives the appearance of a

Doric capital) separate fhe windows, .
under lying modiitions,

To the.roof line,

474~38+0 45

#469 : '

(Northwest corner Grand) : _

Orlginal building destroyed by flre,,~
" now a parking lot; sitée of.Grif- -
. tith Thomas's Lord & Taylor store,

474-36 AR

#473 (through to Mercer) S

Commenceds 4/15/1894 %

- Completed: 2/25/1895 -

~ Architecti Ralph Townsend - -

Original Ownher:- J. J, L|++Ie :

~Original Function: Store-.

Facade: Limestone, ironiornamen? '

-8 stories; 3 bays . - 5

Comments: Cornice removed, ground flcor
intact, Commor facade with #475,

474-33/34
#477-479- (Through to Mercer) - ' -
Commenced: :7/12/1869 o
Comp leted:: 3/31 /1870 EOR
Architect: H. W. Smith & Sons - i ¢
Original Owner; Wm, thnelander
<0riginal Function: Store ‘& storehouse
Facade: iron
_ 5 stories; 6 bays ' _
‘Comments: Some ornament missing, but

- ground floor intact, Site of the

" Amerijcan Art Unjon-in 1852, .-

The main cornice, ?reafed simply with:
[is-supported by scrolled brackets,-
touch is urns:above ?he cornnce over the. p:ias+ers* They glve

‘However,a-whimsical
. strong emphasis

474-37
#471 N
Comp leted: 1855 -

Architect:. Unknown )

Original Ownery Margaref Duffle
Original Function: Sfore

-Facade: Stone with rron ground floor

and cornice

5 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Storefront Iisfed in Badger s
Architectural {ron Works catalog
in 1865; the proprietor was W,

Gibson, Window ornament shaved,
some iron ornament broken and
missing,

474-35

#475 (through to Mercer} -
Commenced: 4/13/1894
Comp teteds: 2/25/1895

-Architects Ralph Townsend

Original Owner: Harvey Chaffee.
Original Function: Store
Facade: Limestone, iron ornament
8 stories;: 3 bays C
Comments: Cornice removed, ground floor
alterations, Common facade with

474-32 '
#48} (Through to Mercer)
Completed: . 1855-56

--Architecty Unknown -

Original. Owner: John DeWo | fe

Original Function: S?ore

Facade: Stone '

4 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Storefront listed in Badger s
“Architectural lron Works catalog,
1865, Cornice and window ornament

cremoved, windows filled in, some

iron remains on the ground floor,
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- 474-30 .--, o ‘ B . ‘ W ‘..‘,' '.,_l IE_-_ o 474 29 ." ",-"_‘ .:.'-‘ e “, " I'. ;

1
‘#483-485 (?hrough +o Marcer) Lo e Tt HA8T (Through o Mercer)
Commenced: 9/1/1869- . . 9. _re'-Q“' (Southwest. corner ‘of Brooma)
Completed: 3/31/1870° - ~ .  Cisted on‘Brdome Street °
) Aréh\*&C‘r’ Robert Mook o ) ) . 0’ LY bays on BroadWay LT

" Bullder: Tucker .
Original Owner:.Helen Langdon - - o s .
Original Funcflon- Store & lofts- IR LU LT S
Facade: :’lron .. Lo T ;‘”“:g"“ e
-5 stories; 6. bavs Sy Lot e e ‘
> Commentss Ground floor al+era+ions,..'%.b B AR L

- capn?al ornament- missing.“ R N R

R AT N ‘_,‘ 0 N 2T I Lo Lot N o i

“, East Slde° Block 473 (was? par‘I'), Nos. 464-486

' Nos 462-464 and 466-468 Broadway (120-I32 Grand) form an lmpreSS|ve corner
building which runs along.Grand Stréet.to’Crosby Street, -Desugned by Jokh Correja
for George Bliss.and J, Cossitfis 1879-1880; ‘it is' a massive exampie ‘of a cast-
iron commercial palace done in a French Renaissance vein, |[Ts six stories are
comblned into a total of twelve bays on:the Broadway Side and 24 bays on the
Grand Street side. - The. bays- are turther sudeV|ded lnfo groups of six by heavy
psiasfers decorated similarly, to the corner piers 'and ex?andlng threu gh “two sto-
ries, The ground-floor facade’ has been compietely altered, but.on the. upper
stories slender round:columng with Corinthian capitals: separa?e’fhe bays. The
lintels are embellished ‘with sawtooth motif, while the friezé ‘of the second and
fourth story ‘entablatures are composed of rows of incised banding. - The ltarge
pilaster orders have a Type of: bandwork-and—scallop capi?al with a medallion
" motif midway on the shaft., “The rather heavy: cornice™is suppor+ed by bracke+s,

. and fha archlfrave |s Iined by 8 row of modillsons. b -

ere e
: No. 478 482 is @ unique sfa?emenf in cas+ iron designed by Richard Morris
. "Hunt in 1873-74. .The nine bays of this five story buu!ding are: subdlv:ded
“"into groupsof Three by : onic orders ex%ending fhree s?ories from +he second
" to’ the- fourth. floors,: "Slender stylized colonnef?es separa?e ‘the’ windows

" allowtng.for a large-amount of glass. ' A’curved screenwork éxtends’ between the
pilasters at the top of the fourth ‘fldor windows) further -defiriing the triple-
. bay grouping. -The ground floor has been partiatly ailtered, but the incised iron -
pilasters remain intact, The fitth floor is also treated separafely with its
own pilasters and colonnettes subdividing the bays. - Behind these colonnettes .
is a pierced screen-work similar to that on the bullding.at 130 Greene Street.
Perhaps the most-unusual feature of the design is' the corn|ce which is very
narrow. but.is:supported.by slender modified brackefs .over a’ very wide: stightly
concave frieze set with.vertical banding in raluaf Orlglnally +hare was o
balustrade above Tha cornlce, bu+ it has been rem0ved.“r

Hunf also designed an adjoun|ng buildnng at 476 Broadway in lB?I—?Z which
Isno: longer .standing.  .We.know from early .views that helutilized dast iron to
croate Moorish effects, particularly in the arches. of .the' bay ‘divisions, which
are also ‘\tormed by -slender. columns, Th:s bualding also had a strongly projecting
cornice which was supported by brackets with Moor ish mo?ifs. Bofh buiidings are
i1 lustrated in American Architect and. Building News,_vol ", = No. 478~482 in the
issue for June 10, 1876, and No, 476 in the .issue for Juty«15, 1876, The
description accompanying the. |Ilus*ra+|on for No.. 476 states: "The panels are
filled with porcelain decorated with arabesques, the' shaf+s of the columns are
incased in brass and nackel-plafed drums, and The mouidangs, e+c., are painted .
with various colors," "o : " .

A History of Architecture and the Euilding Trades of New York'(VoI. i, p.53)
published in 1899 describes these store fronts!, ., , as realistic as possible,
A very sincere and a partly successful attempt was made in these fronts to give.
the full character of a street facade designed in a material previously unknown
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in architecture, Moreover a serious attempt was made fo utilize the almost un-
limited stréngth of.-the ma?erial in making uprights as siender and the proportion
of gilass- in The whole front as great as practicable,” This account also reports
that they were origlnally painted in polychrome of at. least half a dozen tints

day,

although +Bey were la+er redone in gray, the color the rematnlng bU|id;ng is to-

Mbﬁ?goﬁery SEhuYIer, the leading American éfch}iéquFé! critic of the late

19th century,also commends these buildings (Architectural Record, V,.8ct, - Dec,
1895): "Each had the fundamental merit of being unmistakably designed for ifs
material ... (and speaking of No, 476) ... 'the. arches here, with their hanging
cusps, promofe the impression the whole front - makes of being unm|sTakany metal-
lic, and excluding any other meterial than metal. Moreover, the radical weakness
of the material as a material for permanent structures, its liability to rust,

is here taken account of, and in each case.the painting which an jron front needs,
, for its preservaflon is made an |mporfanf elemen? in the decoraflon.“

Ip These bunldlngs HunT used ‘cast |ron in a non- lml*afuve manner to illus=

_"473-1/3 -
. #A62-064, AB6-468 (+hrough to Crosby)

#120-132. Grand northeast: corner)

. Commenced:-9/24/1879 . . . - Tk
. Completed: 5/31/1880., .- R
Architect::John Correja - - S

Builder: P. Hermann . -

Original. Owners: George Bliss & U

Cossitt
Original Function: S*ore

. .[Facade: jron '
6 stories; 12 bays on Broadway, 24 bays

on Grand

”'hCOmmenfs' Brooks Bros, sfood on +h|s .
site prior to the erection of pre- !

sent building. . Ground floor alter-
. ations, . . o .

-Commenced: 4/16/1878

" Completed: 8/27/1878 . . . .

Architect: William H, Cauvet - --
Buitder: Van Ddlson & Arnott.
Original Owner: - -‘Levy Bros.. & Co.

. Origina! Function: Store & open. Ioffs s
.. Original Facade: .ron-on Broadway, o

brick on Crosby: - ...

5 stories, now reduced to.:l; 2 bays
'“Commen?s- {934 aITera*lon - reduced

height, .complete new facade.,” " -
Building on site previous to pre-.-
sent one was occupied by-a Baptist

-¢hurch on the ground floor .as of

~ 1847, and by the Generz| Society
' of‘Mechanics & Tradesmen on the
upper floors,"

-:rTra*e the po?en?lai for ‘8 new sTyle of archlfec*ure.

T arkes
-#470 - :
.-CompleTed° 1858,

Architect: Unknown
Original Owner: Pacific Bank

- Originai Function: Bank .

Original Facade: Stone
Present Function: Store

-Present Facade; Brick -

5 s+ories'originally,-now reduced to 2;
3 bays. .-

3 Comments: 1918 alfera+|on -.new lime-

- istone front ‘on basement & lst fioor;
1940 alteration - remove upper
.- three stories. Nothing original
. remains on facade, For a line
. ... drawing of the original see p. 589,
gnVaien+|ne 5 Manual 1865,

L ars,
- #4744 .
~.Comp leted: 1863.

Architect: Unknown.

-Original Owner: Jane McNev:n
-0Original Function: Store & dwelling
;Facade: Brick; iron cornices & store~

front..

- 4 stories; 3 bays’
uCommenfs"Ground floor al?eraf:ons
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473-8

#4776 (through to- Crosby)
Commenced: 4/16/1902

Conmp leteds 2/28/1903 .
Architect: Robert Maynicke
- Original Owner: Henry Corn

'f'OrngnnaI Function: STore & lofts .
‘Facade: Brick,

Jlmesfone, terra cotta,
Ciron :
"1l stories; 5 bays - ' '
Comments: Was the site of an 1871 72
Hunf casf-nron store,

.473—13

’ #484 ] . .
‘Commenced: 6/4/!8?9,-
Comp l&ted: 12/20/1879 -

"Architect: J. Weber & Sons. =

Builder: J..Weber & Sons :

Owner: J, J. Astor :

‘Original Func+|on' Store

Facade; Brick & iron storefront .

5 stories; 4 bays. :

Commenfs- 1911 .Alteration = new
facade ‘and |n+er|or

Broome fo Spr ing. Sfree+

This block also i.-itustrates The changing - charac+er of Broadway.

. Original Function: S?ore :

S

4?3-I0

. #478-482 (through fo. Crosby) -
- Commeneed: 6/25/1873
.- Completed:

1/31/1874" . .

Architect: Richard M. Hun+

Original Qwner: Roosevel?lHospifal
Facadé: ‘Iron N '

5 stories; 9 bays s

Commenfs- Some ground floor alterations.

473-14

#486 '
(#437-44\ Broome, soufheasT ‘corner)
lListed on Broome

2 .bays on Broadway

A number of

early buildings, dating from the 1850s and 1860s still remain, especially on the

" east side of the street.

They make a strong contrast to the Taller, more ornate
late lgfh-cen+ury and .early 20th-century ‘commercial: buildings they- adJ0|n.,
'Two buuld;ngs have. complete cast-iron facades,

Only
but one of *hem, the Haughwou?

sfore, 5 perhaps +he bes+ known buuld1ng in the D|s+r|c+

1

: WBsf Slde' Block 484, . Nos. 489 -527

NOS. 503-505, 507-509. and. 511 are three' separa?e bunldnngs with a, single

homogeneous facade, designed.by J. B. Snook for Joseph Loubat in 1878- =79, these
. five-story bUIId!nQS have divisions of six;, six, -and three bays respecflvely.

- Plain pilasters mark the building separations and:flank the end bays. Smooth
‘round columns, now minys their capital ornament, :separate the winddws, moving

in a rhyfhmlc pattern across the fronts, The ground floor, with the exception
of one doorway at No, 503, has been completely altered. The entablature is the
most ornate element remaining on the facades., Vertical pseudo-brackets stretch
across the broad concave frieze underlying the narrow cornice creating an effect
somewhat similar to that on 478-482 Broadway. Larger brackets support the cornice
above the pllasfers and these are topped by neo-Grec ?ermlnal blocks at the
cornice line,. : S

0. 213-51 is a 5|x-s+ory high, thirteen-bay wide store bu:tding, designed
- by SamueIIWarner in 1884, |+ is a commercial adaptation of the popular Queen
Anne architectural style of .the period, incorporating floriated terra-cotta.de-
+ails into the overall design in a vibrant polychromatic fashion, Heavy brick
pilasters decorated with terra-cotta placques and ornate capitals subdivide the
bays into three goupings between the second and fifth stories. Slender cast=-
iron-pilasters with lonic capitals separate the windows in the outer bay sections,
while in the center bay section the windows are separated by iron columns with
ornate stylized capitals. The ground floor has been altered, and [ittie of the
original remains, The sixth floor is set off above a heavy entablature. The

ornately scrolled brackets which support the iron cornice alternate with ferra-
cotta placques set into the brick frieze, Heavy brlck pilesiers, also with
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Terra-coTta caplfals, separate the sixth-~story wnndows while r|5|ng above these is
a half-story mansard roof offset by. three pedlmenfs. The central pediment encloses
an ornate terra-cotta ornamental design, and it is also underiaid w;fh mo lded brick
pllasTers inTerspersed by +erra-cof?a placques,

No. 52I-523 is The remalnlng porf|on of the old ST Nucholas Hofel whlch once
extended up-to Spring Street, A pamphlet issued by the hotel .in"1856,- The St.
Nicholas Hotel, lts Plan and Arrangement, .describes the massivé compiex which stood
at 507-527 Broadway. .i1t+ states that the plan and designs for the central portion of
‘the-building were prepared by the owner D, H, Halgh? Daniat Badger s catalog of
1865 attributes the design to J. B. Snook, - Badger.'s foundry supp!ied a 470 foot
. cast-iron storefront which may have been used on both the Broadway and Spring facades,

Kennion's Architects and Builders Gu;de lists The archlfecf as Grlff|+h Thomas (of
Thomas and Son,) :

- According to the pamphle? The foundations for The centi-al por+|on (No, 513-519 -
Broadway) were laid in 1851, and it was completed and open by January 1853, "The
southern wlng {No, 507-511 Brcadway) and the northern wing (No. 521-527 Broadway)
were begun in 1853, and the whoie complex was in use by March 1854, The complex
fronted 275 feet on Broadway, 200 fest on Spring, ‘and 275 feet on Mercer. The pam-
phlet further describes it as being six stories high and fronted with white marbie,
The architectural order was a "modified Corinthian"; while the facade was "ornate,"
it was "not overloaded with embel |l istments." Clarence Cook wri?ing in the New York
Quarterly in i855 (p. 121) seems to differ: "We desire not to scrape off the carv-
ings of the St, Nicholas to reduce it to the simplicity of ‘the Astor, but we wish to
waed from it a little, so as to give some plain space of. wall on which the eye can
" repose, introduce a few string courses to preserve that horizontality so necessary
to the unity of a targe structure, and make either massive piers or rusticated
quoins at its extremities to strengthen and consolidate the whole." However the
" northern wing was only five stories high and contemporary illustrations indicate

‘that the decorative details differed from those on the southern portions, (See John
- Ay Kouwenhouven, A Columbia Historical Portrait of New York, p. 277, for a picture
- of the original . structure.) The .china, cut glass and chandeliers:were from the

- firm of E.. V. Haughwout,. and the: carpets, ‘drapery, bedding and upholstery were
furnished by A. T, Stewart, both preminent merchants. of -the 1850s ‘who themselves !
commissioned archufec?uraity noteworthy buildings.. . ‘The former complex, containing
1000 beds, was in its day one of the most prominent hotels on Broadway in the 1850s
and 1860s. The War Depariment made the hotel! its headquarfers during the Civil War,

- The glory of the St..Nicholas.was short-|ived; the southern wing was replaced
. by the Snook-designed Loubat store (No. 503~5i1) in 1878, and Samuel Warner's store
--and -warebouse (No, 513~519) replaced the central portion in {1884, Only a portion
of .the north wing remains at 521-523. Broadway., The buiiding is five-stories high
and six bays wide, and faced with .stone, The windows on the upper stories of No, 52|
retain most of their original ornamented. moidings. -Above each window is a curved

:-.pCOJec?ing cornice ledge under which is a type of ornamental detai! inspired by

: French sources. The windows of the top floor have simple moldings and are slightly
- -set off above 2 molded string course, - All the windows of No, 523 have been shaved
. of their ornament, The original stone entablature still cornects the two parts of
: .the buildings, Elaborate. heavy brackets support a simple. cornice..

484-28 . E ST 4Bae26

#89 . oLt L U #A91-493 R
- (#442~444: Brooms, nor?hwas? corner) o - Commenced: - -4/7/1896
-,Listed.on Broome . S - _Compieted:. 2/24/1897

2 bays on Broadway- . - . .. c:Architect: Buchman & Deisler
oL .. . Original Owner:  Jeremiah C. Lyons
Tl .. . - - .. .. .. . Original Function: Store
' v e L Facade: Limestone, copper roof
T . . 12 stories; 4 bays
ST S .+ :Comments: Ground floor.: alterations, Site
e LR of American Musucal Fund Society,
2 B ' - 1853, .
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484-24 .

#495-497 (through to Mercer)
Commenced: 5/2/1892

Comp feted: 3/30/1893

Architect: Alfred Zucker.

.Original Owner: Augustus D. Julllard
Original Function: Store .

Facade: Brick, stone, terra cofTa,
. spandrel panels, copper roof
8 stories; '3 double:bays

iron

484-23

#4199 (through to Mercer)
Commenced: . 1868

Comp jeted: (869
Architect: Wm, T. Beer
Original Owner: C, J. & A, D, Oppenhelm

Original Function: Store & warehouse
. Facade: Stone,

iron cornice

- 4.stories; 3 bays

Comments: #495 - site of "éke+ch Cluw“
In 1846; #497 - site of. Amertcan Art

Un:on in1840,: Site of Grover &

Comments: Ground floor alterations.

Y-

. Baker’ Sewing Machlne Go., 1860 ‘George . -

. Johnson Architect;
: Arch|1ec+ural

for- Badger® s
Iron Works,

'484-22

#5001 (#hrough to -Mercer ) ,
‘Parkirg lot; site.of-c, 1865
cast-iron building from

- Badger's Architectural Iron Works

';'484-I8

#507~509 @ '
. - .Commenced: 7/22/1878
., Completed; 2/21/1879
Architect: J. B. Snook
Carpenter: Wm, Vanderhof

Mason: Richard Deeves ) -
.Or:gnnal Owner: Joseph F, Loubaf '
Original Function: Store
Facade: lron, from Cornell
.5 stories; 6 bays -

lron Works

‘Commenced:
" Completeds

'484—20

#503-505 (through to Mercer)
6/20/1878
2/26/1879
Architect:; J. B, Snook
Carpenter: Wm. Vanderhof -
Mason: Richard Deeves

" Original Owner: Joseph F, Loubat

Original Func*non‘ Store -

Facade: [ron, from Cornell:lron Works

"5 stories; 6 bays

- Comments: Common facade with #507-509

‘Architect:

#51! Grounq floor altered,

;484 I?
JHS0
~Commenced-

7/29/1878
2/26/1879

J. B, Snock
Carpenter: Wm, Vanderhof
Masan: Richard Deeves .
Original Owner: Joseph F, Loubat
Original Function; Store

Complefed-

. Facade: |ron, from Cornell lron Works

‘Comments: Common facade WlTh #503 505,

#3511, Ground fioor altered,
484-16 N5 N

#513-5(7=-519 .

Commenced: 6/14/1884 .

Completed: 2/28/1885.

Architect: Samuel A, Warner
Carpenter: John Sniffin

Mason: Masterton & Harrison
Original Owner: D. H, Haight Estate
Origindl Function: Stores & warehouse
. Facade: Stone, brick, terra cotta,

" " and iron ornamen?

6 stories; 13 bays

=Commen+s' Ground Floor altered,

. 484~ 9

#525-527 :

(#92-94 Spring, southwest corner]
Listed on Spring

6 bays on Broadway

5 stories; 3 bays
Comments: Common facade with #503 505,

#507-509, Ground floor altered,
" 48a~12/11
#521, 523

. Completed:

1854

Architect: 'J;'B; Snook or Griffith
Thomas

Original Owner: D. H, HalghT

Original Function: St. Nicholas Hotel

Facade: Stone. o

5 stories; 3 bays each section’

Comments: See description in fText,
Ground filoor altered, window orna-
ment shaved on #523,
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- East Slde- Block 483 Nos. 488*528 C

No._ 488-492 the E V Haughwou? Bunldang, was designa+ed as' New York City
Landmark on November 23,7'1965, Designed by John Gaynor in 1857 with its cast~-
iron components: from Danue! Badger s Architectural.lron Works, Thls buuldnng is

- :;The mos? nofabie of +he many cast~iron buildings: in- the Dus?rlc?

_ FIVB s?orles hlgh, nire bays wide on Broadwav and fourteen bays w:de on
Broome Street, this impressive building dlsplaYS strong Venétian Renaissance
-characteristics., The arched windows, set between fluted Corinthian columns

Cowith underlylng balustrades are reminiscient.of those on Sansovino's library on

the Piazetta in Venice, The ground floor which lis slightly’ differentiated from
the upper stories by its window shapes retains most of its original characteris-
tics, The delicate busldlng carnijce rlses above several bands of elaborate
friezework, ‘ : : .

Eder V. Houghwout was a merchant in cuf-glass, snlverware, clocks and
chandeliers, and this marvelous cast-iron palace provcded a luxurxous setting
for +he|r dispiay and sale, . e Tt
._“-2" -. P

No, 502 504 is a fine example of what was known as a "Sperw candie" bu:ld-
ing, so calied because of the distinctive window~bay- treatment which was remi-
niscent of The shape of candles made from sperm whale o6il,

. The bunidlng bual? ‘in 1860 by Kellum and Son for Homer Bos*wick is five

“stories high,: The six window. bays are treated in two-story units -- Two-story
. columns separate each vertical ‘window group with its rounded upper window., A

narrow banding’ |nc159d with. a circular motif separates the windows within each
‘Vertical:group, -The-cornice is treated simply with a row of modillions. But

-applled directly’under this is a row of flat "inverse crenellation,” A molded
bracke* flanks leach end of *he conice, and rlsnng from these are small urns,

The ground floor store-front, ai?hough much altered, was made ‘of ‘cast iron
from Badger's" Archn?ec*urai ron WOrks Badger's catalog illustiates cqnple?e
cast~iron facades done in the "“sperm~candle® style, even though the upper stories
of this buiiding are of stone,  The most notable example of. an: all -cast-ifFon
buiiding in this styte is still standing at 55-57 White Street (out of the
District); it is &@lso listed in Badger's catalog with Kellum given as the
‘@rchitect and dates from~1860, - The White Street cast-iron facade is |den+|cal
~ in design to the facade of 502~504 Broadway, Poss;bly this type of des;gn may

_have originatéd in -cast iron.and was ‘latér imitated in stone. ' A History'of

© " Architdcture and the Building Trades in New York (1899), mentions that forms

"of ironwork, caused a change in The design of stone buildings,! and they then men-
Fion “"the store fronts. along Broadway diversitied with- engaged’ columns very
'Iong, very slender and very smooth; which when cut out of white marble explalned
the popular phrase abouf the' sperm candie order," :

. 483-( | K ".f'ffﬁ' a3-3 T T

T #488-492 o DT . #4094 S o
(Northeast- corner! Broome) SEREN -Comp leted: 1866 R
- Commenced: 1856 .. Architect: Unknown ' °
") Completed: 1857 . "~ «oteoct o - Original Owner: Thomas welis
Archa?ecf' John Gaynor . .. 0riginal Function: Store
' Origlnal Owner: Eder’ V.’ Haughwou+ Facade: lron &.marble |
. Original Function: Store ¥ 4 stories; 3 bays
' Facade: fron, from Badger 'S Archl*ec- Comments: Some ornament missing:
tural lron Works ‘ ‘Name on' iron. doorstep is J. Nicholas,

5 stories; 2 bays, {4 bays on Broome may have done alil the iron work,

Comments: Some ornament missing, ' . ' R
D. J. Badger & Co, is inscribed on

~ iron doorstep. '

- -42- | - .
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483-4

#496 .

Completeds 1866 .- -.: ,

Architect: Unknown - ‘

- Original -Owner:- Edward Glilllan

- Original Functioni Store? . .

Facade: Stone,-iron cornices»-'

5 stories; 3 bays '

Comments: Site of Union Hote!,
Ground floor altered,

1851,

. 483~7

#502<504 (Through +o Crosby) \
Completed:” 1860 N A I
Architect: Ke!l lum. 4 Soniyw L
Original: Owner: Homer . Bosfwlck
Original Function: -Stores- -

Facade: Stone, .iron: s+orefron?
5>-stories; 6.bays. - ; o

. Comments: STorefron+ from Badger s
Architectural Irpn_works..

e

483-9 .. I

#¥508
© Completed: 1854 ..
Architect:: Unknown .
Original Owner:: J. L. Post
Original ‘Function: Store i
Facade: Stone, iron. sforefr0n+
5 stories; 3 bays .. . Sl
. Comments: -Storefront. from Badger s

‘o

Archjrecfural Iron Works, - Ground-

. floor alterations.. Common facade. - .

with #506, S
483-11, 13- ~f}.,:_'}_,;,.u IR
#5t2- 516 . : [P EPR

Commenced: 8/8/188!
Completed: 8/31/1882. . . -
Architect: Lamb.& Wheller - ..

j:-Orlgunal Qwner Luvungsron, DeForesT '

& Perkins : )
: Orlgnnai Function: Store -
' Facade: Brick and terra cofTa Co
‘6" storiies; 8 bays; , .-
Commentss Ground floor alfered

1

'483-15,

#520-522 :
Commenced: 3/29/!900 _
Completed: 1/31/1904

Architect: Buchman-& Fox- oo
Original Owner: Jeremiah C. Lyons -
Original Function: Warehouse E
Facade: -Limestone )

It stories; 3 bays, 50 feef
Comments: Ground floor altérations

!

I

. Facade:. Stone,

s #506;

- Qriginal Function:.

. Facade; S+one,

o facade in' Valentine's Manual,

483-5 ST by Ty
#498-500 ‘
Completed: 1859+ * f..a
Architect: Unknown .-~ - .~ .
Original Owner: W. B. Lawrence . :

- Qriginal Function: Store? .=

iron cornices, store-
fron? from Jackson® lron Works

5 s?ornes, 6 bays -
CommenT5° Ground “flodr: al?erod

483=84 C

Comp.leteds 1856 (poss:bly I854)

Architect: Unknown @ |

- Original, Ownen; .Eugene Langdon : ‘

,Store .2 - A

- Facade: Stone,’iron storefront. '

-5 stories oruglnally, now reduced to
3‘&,:3 bays )

o Commenfs* Storefront from Badger s

_Architectural Iron Works. « . Common
tacade with #508 (but cornice was
dlfferenT) aifhough -now al+erdd

483-]0:‘..

#5I0 . ' ' ;

-, Commenced;. 7/3/!878 RO

: Complefed-,Q/IZIIBTS KRN

o Architect: N

.. Builder: Freeman"&.Bloodgood -

: . Original Owner:-Heymann & Sons .
-Orignnal Func+|on- Workshops & manufac—

Wm; Bloodgood

turing vor ey
iron s+orefron+
5 stories; 3 bays- :

‘Commentss” Ground:floor al+era+|ons.

Iron from Excelsior Iron Works,

*'483-!4 S R
L #5418 . L o
- "Comp leted:

1855 © S
Architect: Unknown L
Original. Ownefr: Delancy Kane
Original Funcfion-‘STore & Ioffs .

~Facade: Stone
~ o 5rgtories; 4 bays i e
-v;:Commen?s* New front on- Ws* and 2nd floor,

. cornice removed. ‘Line drawing of

1865,

© p. 597; looks like ‘this is +he
-remaining secfuon of a Iarger
buuldlng.- R
f483~17 R
. #524-528 ‘

- (#80-86 Spring,,soufheas? corner, 68

Crosby)’

. Commenced: 9/15/1902 . - -
. Completed: 5/28/1903 - BN
- Architect:  Arthur H, Bowdi+ch
' +Bui.lder: George H. Fuller Co,
. Original Owner::Baynard Realfy Co
. Original Function: Stores and. lofts

Facade: Gran%fe,'Iimesfone,‘brick_and
terra cotta,
1l stories; 3 bays, 6 windows

Comments: Ground floor alterations
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Spring to Prince Street

This block is notablé, both for the early buildings of 1850s and 60s which
remain standing.and its finé commercial buildings of the late |19th and early 20th
centuries, .While only two -buildings have complete cast-iron facades, cast-iron
storefronts -enhance severaliof “the early buildings., 'No. 563, the Singer Building,
v uses-iron to create a-style tha¥ is unique to the 20Th century,

: O b o
West Side: Block-498; Nos, 529-567 -
Nos. 537=539.and 541 are. two picturesque cast-iron buildings with a common

facade designed by Charles Meéttam in 1868 foriGilsey and--Beekman, ' The five-

story, eight-bay facade is defined by a rhythmic series of columns separating the
windows, The celumns are plain, but have Corinthianesque-capitais. A rope-mold- .
ing edges the, windows,” Above the columns a. rosette motit decorates the spandrels,
‘A balustrade’adds. interest to.the base of the second»story windows on No, 341,
After a fife in.1883 the balustrade was removed from No, 537-539, and the first
 floor-entablature:was.réplaced by a highly follated one, dlso of cast iron. The
ground floor has been.completely altered. ' The most eye-catching element of -the
eiftht-bay facade .is the.main entablature and.rdof Iine, A‘panelled frieze is
“interspersed.by. scrolled brackets supporting the cornice with its modiilions,: A-
“large pediment with an urn at its peak crowns the two central bays. ~Two smaller - °

"' ~curved pediments emphasize:the side bays. Two urns at the ends of the main pedi-
ment and another two above the cornice terminal blocks at the ends of the facade = =

further emphasize the roof line. The urns themselves have unique center finials.
No, 549~55'i1's aigrandiose. statement to the glory of Charies Broadway Rouss,
a self-made milliohaire, Rouss, a Virginian, came to New York after the Civil -
War heavily in débt, But he ovércame these obstacies to make his millions, In
1889 & .sign on the construction site of the present building read: "He who builds,
owns and will occupy-this marvel of brick, iron and granite, thirteen years ago
walked:these streets:penniless and $50,000 in debt, Only to prove that the
capitelists of today were pcor men twenty years ago, and that many a fellow facing
poverty today may be a capitalist a quartér of .a century hence, if he will. Pluck:
adorned with ambition,. backed by honor bright, -will always command-success, even
without the almighty dodlar,'"; % C Lo -

The building is ten stories high and twelve bays wide. Heavy quoined pila-
sters divide the windows into three grcups; and entablatures differentiate the’
floors into groups of two. An ejabora+el§ carved capital tops each pilaster
section within these groupings.' The ground floor has been completely altered
which destroys the unity-of: the bottom two-story group, but the: original balus-
trade, remains at the base of the second floor windows. Cast~iron” colonnettes
and spandrel panels separate-the windows within the smaller.groupings.. The main
cornice which hoids a scrolled.pediment, cohtaining the inscription "Rouss Building, :
1889-1900", is supported by.heavy scrolled brackets, - Rising above the cornice
.are two triangular mansard~]ike attic dormers containing pedimented windwos topped
by, lion's head motifs, : These appear to be a later addition for King's Handbook

of New York City, 1892, (p. 829) shows +the.present cornice topped by a balustrade,
‘The pediment: in the same picture shows only the one date, 1889, :

el e e

No, 561~563. is_anjexcellent example of the new architecture made possible by
20th-century technology. This twelve-story buitding sometimes known as the “jittie"
Singer Building designed for The Singor Company in 1903 by Ernest Flagg who had
designed another bujlding for them at Broadway and Liberty Street in-1897,

The iron structure was fireproffed with brick and terra cotta (in itself an
important innovation),. but the large amount of glass and the delicacy of the
wrought~iron fracery on .the front give the building an-appearance of great light-
ness. : lron plates. bolted together form vertical pilasters defining the ‘end bays
and spandrels separating the stories, The five central bays are.grouped together
* vertically, emphasized by curved iron tracery at the top of the eleventh story,

r :
e R LA

" A4 :
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" Atsimilar tracery pattern defines the bottom two stories. Treceried balustrades,

somewhat Art Nouveau in quality, define the window bases., [Intricate curved
wrought-iron brackets support. the eleventh~-story cornice, - The top story is set
off above this cornice-and ‘is decorated with somewhat: sumpler ironwork; An ele-
gant work of architecture, this building dellgh?s one -as much 1oday as it must

. have done when it was first: built, . I e
P . A S Coed hee
498-23 oo Lo i o e 498-21 ;
#529-533 ., 1 e Che o H535 - D . .
 {Northwest corner Spring) -4 7 Completedr. 1852 e
1936 2-story warehouse QJ'-‘ " - .n 0 i‘Builder: Probably George®Sutton
Site of the Prescott House, - % .. Original Owner: Seabury Brewster
' |3)2 o L * Original Function: Store
I N "~ .. facade: Stone, lron. sforefron+ & cornice
IR R . "5 stories; 4 bays,

KR - Comments: Storefront from Badger s archi-
tectural [ron Works. Ground floor
aITered

498-20,18. - . 498-!7
#537-539, #54| (*hrough to Mercer) 543 (through to Mercer)
Commenced:-9/1/1868 -+ . .. . Commenced: 5/15/1902 _..'
Completed: 4/30/1869 @~ .. . .~ : Completed: 6/15/1903 . .
.*Architect: Charles Mettam o " Architect: John W, Stevens
:0riginal Owner: Gilsey-& Beekman: . ~ Mason: John W,.Stevens Bldg. Co.
Original Function:. S?ore o Original Owner: John W, Stevens
: Facade: tron - - L © “Ariginal Function: Warehouse
"5 stories; 8 bays P T TR Facade: Marble
© Comments: Ground floor al*ered 1883 IQ stories; 4 bays
c.. alteration to #537 539 as a result  Comments: Cornice m|551ng, ground floor
’ of fire, . . altered, »
. 498—16 o LTl 149815
© #545 (through to Mercer) vl sAT e
Commenced: 2/13/1885~ . . =« -+ - Commenced; 5/21/1888
Completed:. 12/13/1885° . - w1t . Completed: 12/29/1888
Architect: Samusl A, Warner ' Architect: Q. P, Hatfield
_Original Owner: Samuel |nslee Carpenter: McGuire & Sloan
~Original Function: Store. ™. ! 1 Mason: Amos Woodruffs' Sons
Facade: . lron . . L . Original Owner: Lucretia F, Post -
6 stories; 3 bays ' N - Original Function: Warehouse
'Commenfs-'Ground floor al+ered ‘v . Facade; Brick trimmed with Berea stone,
: - 1 iroh cornices, 2nd floor columns,

; . 6 stories; 3 bays
L Cre - ' 'Commenfs:‘Ground floor altered.

‘a98-11 - : © 498-9
#549-555 (through to’ Mercer) . e 0 #557-559 o
" Commenced: 3/11/1889 ' R I<story garage, 1954

Comp leted: 5/3)/1890 .
Architect: Alfred Zucker

", Original Owner: Charles B. Rouss

" Original Funétion: Store.
Facade: Granite, iron. colonne*fes
' .rand spandrels - . ' R
10 stories with attics; 12 bays ' ; I ‘ S
' Comments: Ground floor altered. S

P . - . . . LI -

ek
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- 498-7: v L el Do - 498-5. ¢ | .

L #561-563 | RTINS i :-”“ HEE5=56T . o DT
-~ Commenced; 3/30/1903 - CoLene e (86 Prince, soufhwesf corner)
. Compieted: ‘7/30/1904 -:- . . .. .o Commenced: 1859 ~ - %" -
"~ Architect: Ernest Flagg Sl sl Completed: 1860 -
Original Qwner: Singer Manuf Co., . Architect: John- Ke I m :
Original Function: Offices & lofts Original Owner: John May, ieased to Ball,
Facade: [ron, terra cotta, glass ' " Black & Co,
{2 stories; 7 bays T Original Function: Store and dwelling

Comments: Ground floor windows altered., Facade: Stone, brick on addition
¥561=-site.of Bethesda .Church, 1849; 5 storieés originally, now'raised to 9;
“#563=site of tThe Lyceum of Natural 3 bays, ‘6 bays on Prince: _

w - -History, 1837; New Jerusalem Chapel, Comments: Cronice missing, pedimented

1840; Church of St, George the ‘porch entrance and 2nd: floor balus-
.. Martyr; 1847; Lyceum Art - BGaliery, trade removed (See line drawing of-
1849; American. Musscal lns+|+u+e, original facade in Valentine's

1850.; T S A Manual, 1865, .pH09)
" East Side: Block 49? Nos. 530—566 .
No. 1540 :is a- sTrlklng fxve-sfory, three-bay .classical bu:ldfng desugned in
wh|+e marblevin 1867 by D, and. J. Jardine, The building.is flanked by .quoined
pilasters rising above the altered ground floor. The.window freatment-is most
unusual, - Pilasters decorated with fleur-de-lis in:irelief’separate the arched
windows.whose -lintels. are decoratéd with-similar fleur-de-lis,  -Flat-"capitals"
. also decorated with relief carving rise from the pilasters, .The window arches
are set with.relief-carved keystones, The two-dimensional effect of this relief
carving is non-traditional yet.handsome. The simpiy-done:cornice is supported
by four large brackets which alternate withrpanéls on the“frieze. Crowning the
- cornice:is.-a smail semu-curcular pediment setrwith +he -date “1867" on its
cornice, T - -

No, 542-544 has an.interesting building history., Two five-story buildings
erected in 1864 for Edward Robinson, were joined in.l90l,. Alterations-were under-
taken in 1907 which adjusted.the floor levets, effecfnvely adding. another story
1o the now S|x~s+ory butld:ng. “The two-story ircn storefrent was-added at this
fume. S Lo e oLt o e e

N L N T,

The four-bay sfone facade~ts flanked by pllasfers.. Oﬁ'Thelgﬁouhatfloor,'

. iron. pllasfers also define the end bays and create a large central:window
.expanse; The windows on’the upper floors are separated by .columns’topped with

" -:Corinthian ‘capitals.  On the .top floor stone .caryatid-|ike.figures separate the

-windows, |t was proposed to remove these during the 1907 alteration but it was
not done, Large -scrolled brackets support the cornice which is crowned by two

-urns above the outer .figures. - Together these elements combine to form a unique
and [nfrtQU|ng facade, , :

No. 552-554 is. a S|x-s+ory, six=bay -building,-originaliy.built as two
buildings: for-Richard French in, 1855, The two bujldings: were joined in 1897 and
also connected in?ernaliy with 556 Broadway (which is.stylistically different),
The Ywo-story iron storefront (which replaced an origipat. Daniel Badger storefront)
was probably added at the time of the 1897 aiteration, -This storefront employs
pilasters flanking the building and defining the end bays, : These set off a wide
central window expanse at the second. flpor, -The narrow second.floor-cornice is
supported by four large console brackets which stretch across.a.wide spandrel
panel, The four ficors which rise above the storefront are flanked by panelled
pilasters, The windows are outlined by slender: pilasters with small capitals,
and the rounded lintels are set with incised keystones, These elements are done
in stone, but portions of the main entablature are of iron, The cornice with its
scrol led modillions is supported by large decorated brackets and flanked by in-
cised terminal blocks., The frieze is decorated with a circular motif, Despite
the difference in years, the later elements of the building manage to harmonize
pleasantly with those of the earlier perrod

-l =
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497-|

#¥530 .. . . '

(#87 Spring, northeast corner)
Commenceds 5/1/1897

Comp leted:. 2/27/1898 -
Architect: Bronner & Tryon

Originai Owner: Joseph.L. Butfenweiser

" Original Function: Stores
Facade: Limestone, brick, Terra coffa
Il stories; 3 bays '
Comments:- Ground floor alterations,
Site of the Collamore House -~ 1853

497~-4
#536-538
(Connected
Commenced:
Completed: 1/31/1902

Architect: Delemos & Cordes
Original Owner: Rose & Putzel
-Original‘Func+ion: Stores

Facade: Stone ashlar, and brick

11" stories; 3 triple bays
Comments: Ground floor al+erafions

oy,

o 85!S§ring)
4/1/1901

497-7

#542-544
Completed: 1864
Architect: Unknown

. Original Owner: Edward Robinson

Original Function: Store and lof?s

Facade: Marble

5 stories originally, now raised to
6; 4 bays

" Comments: Buiit as two bulldings,
merged in 1897, 1901 alteration,
new iron storefront.added, 3rd

floor columns cut down, changed effec-

Tive buitding hengh+ from 5 to 6

sTorles._ :

497-9 - = .
#548 . .
Comp leted: 1866
Architect: John Correja
Original Qwner: Stethar Nichols
Original Function: Store and storercoms
Facade: Originalty marble, changed to
iron in 190} - : '

5 5+0ries 5 bays- .
Comments : Now- forms a common facade.

. with #546, 5 bays together, '

_Architect: -

.Fagader

497-2

#532=534

Commenced:; 4/6/1896

Comp leted: 1/27/1897

Raiph S. Townsend

Original Owner: Commercial Real*y &

tmprovement Co,

Original Function: Stores

Indiana |imestone,
‘cotta

10 stories; 6 bays

brick, terra

497-6 ‘
#540 (through to Crosby)
Completad; 1867

Architect: D. & J. Jordine

Original Qwner:; Charles Knox

Original Function: Store and

Facade: Marble

5 stories; 3 bays

Comments: 1867 .on pedrmen+

" with 78 Crosby in 1872.
altered,

warehouse

Was joined
Ground floor

497-9

¥546

Commenced: )

Completed: 10/10/1874

Architect: John Correja

Builder: Amos Woodruff

Original Owner: F, H, Possitt

Original Function: Store and 'lofts

Facade: Originally brick and marble,
now iron, (1901 alteration)

5 stories

Comments: Now forms a common facade
with #548, 5 bays together

6/15/1874

497~ |

T #550. - ,
Completed; 1854

- Architect: R, G, ‘Hatfield

Original -Owner: Charles F, Moulton
Original Function; Store

. Facade: Originally s+one, _changed to

iren in 1901 * . »
5 stories orlginally, now raised to 6;
5 bays '

~ Comments: Buildlhg-was-used by Tiffany

& Co, .when built, Drawing of the origi-~
nal facade, (altered in 1901} in
Valentines' Manual, 1865, p, 605,
Badger did the orlginal iron store-
“front, illustrated in his 1865 cata~-
Iog,-pla?e LX1V no, 26.

L.
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497~12 497-13

#552 (through to Crosby) o - #¥554 (through to Crosby)

Completed: 1855 R e Completed: 1855 - = .- K

Architect: J, B, Snook - \ . Architect: J. B. Snook :

Original Owner: Richard French ‘Original Owner: Richard French

Original Function: Store and lofts Original Functiont Store and lofts

Facade: Stone, 2-story .iron. sTorefron+ Facade: Stone, 2-story 'iron storgfront

6 stories; 3 bays 6 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Common facade with #554 - New.. Comments: Common facade with #552 New
iron storefront added -in- 1897 iron storefront -added in 1897 alter-
alteration,. The original iron .. .ation, - The original iron storefront
storefront was from Badger's Archi~ - was from Badger's Arch|+ecfural lron
fectrual tron Works, . .. Works. :

497-14 . . ol o T . 497-15. .-

#556 A #558 '

Completed: 1855 v C Comp leted: c I860

Architect: Unknown - - © _ Architect: Unknown

Original Function: Store " - ' Original. Function: Store .

Facade: Brick, iron storefront and trim Facade: Brick Coa '

4 stories; 4 bays . : 4 stories orlglnally,lnow reduced fo 2

Comments:. :New 2~story. sforefron? added 3 bays :

in 1890 alteration,’ - Comments: Facade complefely redoné |in
' S -~ alteration of about 1920, For pic-
ture of the original facade see
DeLesuw's ""Both Sides of Broadway"
p. 243, ¢

497-18 . . -,_-'-;..: L AT AT
#560-566 - e O L A
(#72-78 Prince, - #98-104 Crosby) y S
l.isted and descr.ibed on Prince- - : *

10 bays on Broadway . -

Prince +o Wes+ Housfon S*ree? L "_ L -«l _.‘:;3n_;

ThlS Broadway block dasplays a -wide varle+y of bU|Id:ng sfyles from several

of fhe periods of- its development; however, none of them have complete cast-

iron facades. The west:side of the block displays the grea+esf variety with
buildings dating from as early as 1860 to as late as 1917, . Several of those

from the 1860s are espacially handsome. The east side of The block is lined with
extravagant large commerical. buildings of. the 1890s, whose style is derived from
the palazzo design tradition, and whose decoration is expanded in scale to
accomodate: to-the. large. size of the buildings, Samuel Warner's smaller burldrng

‘of 1883% sTands in- confrasf a? the nor?h end of “the: b!ock

Wesf Ssde' Block 512 Nos. 569~60I

No. §6 -57 (85 9I Prlnce, I42—I46 Mercer) is a quae+ly handsome and sub-
stantial six-story brick and stone building It .is ten bays wide on Broadway

.,and thigteen bays wide on Prince;- the pr;mary Broadway facade recelves a more

elaborafe ?reafmen+ Than +he other facades do,

~ On the Brcadway snde the bays are broken info two units of five each by

heavy:piers banded with stone at the corner, center, and end of the buitding.

The bays are also broken into horizontal sub~groupings by the use of cornices
above the first, second, third and fifth floors, as well as specialized window
pier treatments wthun These suh-groupings. While the second and third-story
windows are divided by a cornice, the architect has fried to unify the two floors
by giving the second=floor . windows only siightly rounded |inteis and the thrid-
floor windows arched lintels, The window piers on both floors are decorated
with Corinthianesque capitals. The fourth and fifth floors are even more of a
visual unit; there is no cornice dividing them, and only the fifth floor window

s

N e



SH-C1 HD
r

BROADWAY (Cont'd) A T

lintels are rounded, The window piers on both floors are set with small marble

. columns. topped with leaf capitals, The sixth floor is set off above a foliated

cornice, and is suitably topped by an intricate iron. entablature, The cornice
has knob- modillions and is supported by knob-decorafed brackefs. The panels of
'~ The. frieze are set with vertical anthemion, . - - e ' '

- The Prince Street facade is much simpler, although the end bays are set off
--by piers.and treated in a manner simi lar to +he Broadway facade, The horizontal
subgroupings remain, but fhe wlndows ‘are very simple and only banded wl*h stonse,

. - No, 29! is a slx-s?ory, three-bay bui'lding whose ornginal structure dates
from 1859-60 and which once :shared a common facade with No., 593, However, ex-

. tensive alterations.were made to the building about.-1900, and the effect is very
handsome, |t appears that: the cast-iron doorways and window .bay on the ground
floor are remnants of the original building facade, . The arched doorways are
flanked by Corinthian columns and their spandrel panels contain elatorate flo-

. riated ornament. The projecting window bay is given an oriel-like treatment.
Above “the. ground floor the bullding i's flanked by piain brick. piers, Brick
spandrels decorated with rosettes also separate the floors. The window treatment
on-each floor is very open and 1ight, and ‘divided only by slender iron piers .

- .The sixth ficor is set off above an elaborate iron entablature whose frieze is

' decorafed with arched forms mimicking those of the windows above, The row of
wlndows s crowned by a brick pediment, sporting terra-cotta decorations, The -
whole is. flanked by elaborate terra-cotts- decorafed piiasfers which have lost

- their-original- tiny peaked gables, :

No., 593 a flve—s+ory, three-bay marble buiidlng, is a handsome classical
composiTton of 1860, Although the ground floor has been altered, it still retains
a portion of the original cornice which stretches to join that of No. 591, The
-north.side of “+the facade is edged by a row of quoins. -The window treatment of
the second and third floors are identic¢al, -The outer arched windows are outlined
by cap1+a|-+0pped pilasters and set with foliated keystones, The wider center
- windows are topped by pro jecting rounded pediments and supported by elaborate
foliated brackets., On the upper Tloors the outer windows have only a simple
;moldung, there are keystones on the:-fourth ‘floer windows. The centar windows
are grouped.into two narrow arched windows iinked by a ptlas*er and topped by

keystones. The cornice is suppor?ed by pa;ned foliated brackets which wrap over
- a proJec+ing string course, - . . ’

* oL

No. 597, designed by John Ke}[um.in ¥867 with a marble facade,'béars the
closest resemblance to work being done in cast iron at that period. ‘The windows
are very large and separated by members which are more:siender. than those normally
found on stone bulldings, Although its ground floor has bgen. altered, the upper
four stories are original, |¥s three window:bays on each floor are ‘separated by
marble pilasters topped by foliated capitals, Each story is separated by a .
cornjce which is flanked by scallop-iike terminal blocks, The facade is crowned
by a French Renaissance stone.entabliature; whose modllltoned COFHICB |s support-

;ed by htghly folia?ad brackefs. . \

e 512-23 0 L sz »
. #569-2¥5 | : R #577 (through to Mercer)
(#85-91 Prlnce, northwest corner- - 71 Completed: 1860
_ Through to Mercer) : 7 T Architect: Unknown

. Commenced: 3/28/1881. : .Original Owner: Estate of Mrs, Astor
Completed: 3/29/1882 Langdon
Architect: Thomas Stent - Original Function: Store
Builder: James Webb & Sons Facade: Stone, iron sTorefronT and cornice
Carpenter: John Downey 5 stories;~3 bays’
Original Ouwner: J, J. Astor - : " Comments: -Common: facade with #579, 581
Original Function: Stores S Original. storefront: from Badger s

. Facade: Brick, stone, iron trim . Architectural ‘Iron Works,” Ground
6 stories; 10 bays on Broadway, © 1L floor alterations. Present store-

|3 bays on Prince
Comments: lronwork from Heurelmann & Co..
Ground floor altered Breadway,

front has foundry p!acque from Cor-
- 'nell'’1rén Works. '
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 ~.0riginal Owner: Weil ‘& Mayer .

S #5891 (+hrough to Mercer)
" Architect: Unknown.

.,E-Origlnal Function:- Store

. Architect:

SH-C1 HD
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© 512-21

#5719 (Tﬁréugh +0.- Mercer) IS
. Compieted: - {860 " .= - ‘ ::..3-,- _,f_

Architects. . Unknowri -L-“””r

Original Owner: Estate of Mrs. Asfor

- Langdon S

~--Original -Function: ‘Store - -,

- Facade: Stone; iron, sforefron+ and

cornlce: S A .?‘-;' AL

5 stories; 3 bays

-Comments: Common.-facade with #577 5Bl
Original.storefront from. Badger -
. Architectural.flron Works, - Ground -
floor alTeraflonSu. e e

)

W o Se b
", P & L

'512-—|a R LI LI
#583-587 (Through To Mencer) SR
. Commenced:, .4/7/ 1896 - . .; S
-+ Completed: 4/5/1897 - -'-'-_ N
“‘Architect: .Cleverdon & Putzei. .

" Original Function: Store and lofts.:
', Facade: {ndiana limes?one, brick and
~terra cotta . L - SRR
12 stories; 6 béys

) * ST 0
: i G et ) . ca ]
Qo 5'2_'6 Ve . T Y

“. Completed; 1859 L e e

T Original Owner: AIfredIWags+aff

Facade: Originally sfone, oW brlck
cand iron. . SRR P
5. s+ories ortglnafly, now: ra;sed fo 6,
3 bays. ‘ =
Comments: Originaliy shared a common
-~ facade with:- #593; - Completely -
_~-altered -above the ground; :floor- ¢,

- 1900, o qu#uon_of prugunal:uron.. A

__storefront . remains, .Has a foundry .

placque from Jackson & Throcmorfon ‘,?v

lron 1ork

' “uh5I2ﬂI4 .-z"“ B “:ﬂu-;.ﬂyx.'
' #595(+hrough to Mercer) o
Completed : 1866
Architect: James Pirsson
Original Function: Factory and work=-

-~ shops, . photographijc -establ ishment

Facades . Orlgnnally s+ore 3 now br:ck
5 stories; 3 bays" "

: qumen+s° Facade completely: rebuii?
in 1919 alferaflon.;e

SR e

e e

_ 5I2-ll R NP

#599-601 (Through To Mercer) TR

{Southwest corner W.. Hous*on){

. Completeds: 9/5/1917- . -

J. Odell Whitenach

. Original.Owner: Erederick Ayer

Original Function: Store .and Ioffs

12 stories; 6 .bays (ou+er bays are-
doubie windows) -

‘ ,-Facade- S+one,

. -_afloor al+era+|ons.

: Commenced-
Comp leteds

. Architect: )

. Original” Owder: Judah Hammon

- Original . Funcflon- Dwell:ng -

- t.Facade: Brlck ‘

L4 s+or|es- 4 bays '

.-Commentss. ‘Window sills, I'infels and

-~'5|2-|3 SERECE
#597 {Through +o Mercer)

. 512-20 -7
. H#58J: (+hrough o Mercer)

Completeds "I860 = " .

. - Architects Unknown
:Original 0wner° Esfafe of Mrs. Astor

Langdon :
Original: Functions Sfore "
1ron storefront and cor-
. nice . S '

‘ 5: s+ories‘ > bays
.Comments: ‘Common facade wifh #5717, 579,

. Original storefront from Badger's
‘Architectural ron Works, Ground

512+ 17

#5689 (*hrough to Mercer)
1832 . :
1853 .o
Unknown -

. moldlngs have’ been shaved Ground

floor alfered

512 |5 Sl

- #593° (Through ‘o Merceﬁ)

Completed: 1860

. -Architect: Unknown - _

. .Original-Owner; Edward Jones

Z'OriglnaIiFuncflon. Store

". Facade::: Stone,
... 5 stories; 3 bays :

. Commentss Origunally shared a common

i I‘Oﬂ corn i ce

facade -with’ #59!
al+ered ' :

sl ‘..

Ground floor

i
[ o RS IS
. PR [

Complefed° 867

Architects John Ke | {um _

Original Owner: John Lawrence
Briginal Function: Store and warehouse
Facade' Marble, tron +r|m '

5 stories; 3 bays ‘

. Commen15° Ground floor alTeraf|0ns



SH-Cl HD

BROADWAY (Cont'd,)

East Side: Block 51i, Now, 568-602

511-1 -

#568-578 (through to Crosby)
(Northeast corner Prince)

Commenced: 9/9/1895

Completeds 2/24/1897

Architect: George B, Post

Original Owner: H, 0. Havarmeyer
Original Function: Stores and lofts
Facade: Stone, terra cotta and brick
12 stories; 8 bays, 126 feet wide

511=12

#594-596 (through to Crosby)
Commenced: 5/5/1897

Completeds: 5/4/1898

Architect: Buchman & Deisler
Original Quner: Jeremiah C, Lyons

© Original Function: Store

Facade: Limestone
|2 stories; 6 bays, 84 feet wide

51i-16

#600-602 (through to Crosby)
{Southeast corner E. Houston)
Commenced: 3/14/1883
Completed: 1/31/1884
Architect: Samuel A, Warner
Carpenter: McGuire & Sloan
Mason: John H, Masterton
Original Owner: Elizabeth W, Aldrich
Original Function: Store
Facade: lron

6 stories; 6 bays

S

511-6, 8, 10

#580-582, 584-~586, 588-590 (through fo
Crosby)

Commenced:; 7/28/1897

. Completed: 6/17/1897

Architect: Buchman & Deisler

Original Owner: John S. Ames

Original Function: Stores

Facade: Indjana |imestone, brick and
terra cotta

12 stories; 9 bays, 150 feet wide

Comments: Three separate bui ldings but
a common facade,

511=15

#598 (through to Crosby)

Commenced: 4/19/1897

Comp leted: 2/27/1898

Architect: Robert Maynicke

Original Qwner: Henry Corn

Original Function: Mercantile building
Facade: Brick and terra cotta

12 stories; 28 feet wide
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. Broome Strect, named in 1806 after the Lieutenant Governor of New York State,

. ~-had been laid out sometime after 1767. Before it acquired its ‘present ‘name, it

was known as Bayard's Lane, Bullock Hevins, and “Orchard Street west of - Broadway" .
at various times. Bu11d1np began on Broome about 1806 which made it one ‘of the '
first streets in the District to be ‘developed. - Partially becausé it'was developed
early and was wider than other east-west streets, it served as a principal east-
-west artexy w1th1n the sttr1ct offering an alternate route from the Canal Street
ferry .on the Hudson River. Consequently Broome Street was more promlnent than the
north-south cross streets it 1ntersected with the except1on of Broadway

~ Crosby Street to Broadway

This block still has two buildings which date back to c. 1825. Other early
buildings were replaced by new structures in the 1850s, 60s, 70s, 80s, thus
providing a wide variety of styles. The architectural quality ¢f the bu11d1ngs is
generally high, no doubt due to their proxlmlty to Broadway. The elz2gant Haughwout
Building, described on Broadway, occupies a large portion of the block .on the north
side. .

South Side: Block 473 "(iéegt'isa.‘ft)” Nos. 429-441

No. 433 is a four story, three- -bay building with an ornate mod1F1ed French
Renaissance cast-iron facade which appears to date from approximately 1870. low-
ever, tax assessments for ‘the building indicate that the structure actually dates
from 1827, about the same time as the adjoining building, No. 431. An alteration
permit was filed in 1869 to raise a rear extension to the building. The new iron
front may have been added at the same time, although no record of this.exists.

The style is very similax to Griffith Thomas’ style during the same period., (A
good example for compar1son is Ho., 425 Broadway.) ) :

Heavy round’ columns with elaborate Corinthian capitals def1ne the w1ndow bays,
and a very narrow cornice separates each story. The ground floor .has been altered,
but it retains its fine entablature. The main entablature, crowned by a rounded
pediment with a center finial, is the visual highlight of the bu11d1ng The cornice
- with its .elaboraté modillions is .supported by four ornate brackets. Vithin the
pediment is a scrolled antefix, which adds-a flnal ornate touch

No. 435 is built in a mod1f1ed Vlctorlan Gothic style which was-not commonly
used in commercial cast-iron construction. This five-story, four-bay building was
built for Catherine Wilkins in 1873 by W. A. Potter. Deeply fluted pilasters
" which culminate in very large brackets at the entablature flank the ends of the
building. ©On the second, third and fourth stories free-standing colonnettes with
fanciful leaf-and-flower capitals define the outer window bays. The fifth floor
is given the most distinctive treatment, Pilasters edpged with a sort of rope
molding separate the windows, each of which has its own Gothic tracery- arch. The
panels of the very wide frieze are decorated with stylized flowers. :- These panels
over the center bays are flanked by large brackets which:support a pediment
inscribed with the building date, 1873. A1l of these decorative details combine
to create a highly fanciful facade. These unique details were. made possible by
the architect's use of cast iron which allowed him flex1b111ty of design at a cost
far less than that of creating such detalls in stone. :

Mo. 437-441 Broome (486 Broadway) is one of the latest bu11d1nps ‘on this block,
dating from 1862-83, It was designed by Lamb and Rich with a combination of
Romanesque and Moorish elements for Wiiliam DeForest, although it was leased to
the Yechanics and Traders Bank by 1885 or before.

Six stories high, nine bays wide on Broome and two bays wide on Broadway,
this brick, stone and terra-cotta building adds a massive accent to the corner.
Two grouped bays on each end project forward, creating a pavilion effect. Although
the ground fioor has been altered at the corner and on Broadway, it still retains
certain massive qualities, in particular a very wide, rusticated round-arched
‘window on Broome, possibly designed to accentuate the banking room. The treatment

,‘“53_ ’
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"of the’ w1ndow bays above ‘the’ ground floor is both varied and complex. The second
__dfloor has merely a row ‘of round-arched w1ndows., In the third through fifth stories
" the denter’ bays are decorated with’ sty11zed neo-Grec ornament. The fifth floor

central bays'also have a rounded metal scéreen applied at.the tops of the outer

' w1ndows. .The sixth floor- ‘central bay area is given a set-back mansard roof treat-
:‘,ment with three pro;ectlng wlndow groups the outer two have’ sxmple ‘pediments, and
" are outlined with meétal work. -The center window. group ‘has an elaborately scrolled

5{473 18~
#4290 .
" Completed:’ 1859

" Architect: Unknown

";pedlment decorated w;th czrcular ornaments over square panelled frieze. In the

arouped end bays the windows 'in the f1fth and -sixth floors are separated by iron

' colonnettes.wlth detorated: panels separating the fifth and sixth floors. ~The -

frieze above these windows contains a flat applled«rlbbon -1iké ornament. Rising

above this is another row of square panelling.
two small cupolas wh1ch are, of course, 1nf1uentlal 1n creatlng the paV111on effect.

SE

-

Nriginal Owner: Euphraisme Poisier

Original Function® Stores and lofts

Facade: Stone

5 stories; 3 bays -
Comments Modern gnOund‘floorf‘-3i" o

473416 -
#4433

Completed“ 1827

- Architect: Unknown

‘Original Owner Lambert " Suydam -
Original Funﬂtlon* Dwelllng

'*J;Facade' Irén
4 stories: 3 bays
" Comments: Original facade removed
-and replaced by iron one‘in’'the ™
1370s, and served as store and

“loft .

,*.4?3 14 ,' B R
" #437-441 '
- {486 Broadway, southeast corner)
" Commenced: 5/13/1882 - - S
" Completéd: 473071883 ~ o ..niiT ool
- Architect: Lamb §'Rich’ ~-- 7 o
] :'Carpenter ~John Brown G

T s F ]

Mason:  Joseph’ Smith *
'Orlglnal Owner: YWm? DeForest
Original” Function: Store
Facade:" Phlladelph1a brlck

6 stories; 9 bays :

-":Commentsa Ground floor altered on

B'way. " Hew wlndows on Broome.
. Leased to Mechanics § Traders
- ‘Bank . by 1885 :

Crownlng éach end grouping are

' 473'17

w

#431 -

Completed c. 1825

-Architect: Unknown -

Original Owner: “m. J. Roblnson

Original Functlon Dwelling

‘ Facade: Brick - ¢ -

4 stories; 3 bays '

Comments Raised to 4 storles, stoop
cut away and ground floor rustication
‘removed for display windows. Retains
orlglnal doorway )

473 15

#435

Commenced 6/2/1873
Completed: 10/24/1873 _
- Architect: W. A. Potter’

" Builder: Richard Deeves

‘Original Owner: Catherlne w1lkins

"Facade: Iron -

5 'stories: 4 bnys - .

Comments Ground floor altered. This was
..-the ‘site of the Sketch Club in 1849
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North Side: Block 483, Nos. 432-440 Yoo e i

483-3§% oL T LT aggesg e T o
#432-436 - BT 7% {: SR
_Pork%ngﬂlotiend-garege —_— , Commenced: 5/20/1885 .

R Completed 11/20/1885

" -Architect:“E. Kilpatrick

* Original’Owner: Jane Major .

Original FUnctlon Store ;

Facade: Iron ‘

s - 5 stories: 4 bays e
"Comments' New doors and w1ndows

.ﬁ..;

g 483 1 '. . " .’x ' . '-I l E‘I : . L ,- -:I vt "‘ ",' 'J.-' “_"‘ ' Lo

(488-492 B'way, northeast cormer) - ° T B LI L
HAUGHIIOUT STORES.

- Listed oh Bfway | o vt e TR ad we
14 bays on- Broome U T e e e

ol

-“This block is largely ‘dominated’ by development in the 18905 and contains

" three’ examﬁﬁes of skyscraper ‘architecture. However, the two remazning earlier

‘ hulldlngs ‘are 1nterest1nP styllstlc examples from the1r perlods.

“ﬁ‘tlon technlques of the late Igth century

“elaborately molded brackets

South Slde‘ Block 474 (east part) Hos 443-449 't' o i'=f.i'-

No. 443-449 Broome (487 Broadway, 60 Mercer) is a late; 19th -century extrava-
ganza in stone, brick, terra cotta and iron,“stretching along the entire blockfront
of Broome Street for an impressive 29 bays. Its twelve stories and wide expanse
were made possible-only by’ the’ development of steel fram1n0 and skyscraper construc-

."",. ,,‘ .ok .- ot s Ty

a4t

The bottom two floors are faced wrth stone and given a heavy base treatment.
The third floor is differentiated by the heavy quoin treatment of the piers sepa-
rating the windows. The bays of the floors above this are grouped, divided and
subdivided by p11asters of varying sizes and decoration, which-create a complex,
symmetrical facade, The most elaborate decorative treatment is reserved' for the . .

"“upper three stories.  Thé pilasters dividing the'windows as well as the spandrel

arches’ contain elaborately florid Baroque terra-cotta ornaméntal’details. . Finally
topping the entire creation is “the broad entablature, 1ts cornice 15 supported by

It is 1nterest1nn to ‘note’ that the building is glven ‘the’’ same treatment on its
southern facade where it ‘rises seven stories above the adjoining building. Usvally

"‘this would have been left as a blank party wall ‘Apparently ‘the* archrtect didn' t

“anticipate that another equally: tall bulldrnp might rise besxde 1t

R}

474-29

#443-449

(487 B'way, southwest corner: 60 Mercer, southeast corner)
Commenced: 3/27/1895

Completed: 4/25/1896

Architect: John T. Williams

Original Owner: John T. Williams

Function: 0Office Building

Facado: Brick, stone, terra cotta, metal roof and cornice
12 stories; 29 bays, 3 bays on Broadway

Comments: Some ground floor alterations

. =55=
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North Side: Block 484, Nos. 442-452 S
No. 442-444 Broome (439 Broadway) was built for Louisa Hepburn in 1860 ex-
cept for the last three bay sections on Broome Street built in 1863,. - .

This c1a551cal Itallanate bu1ld1ng is five stories hlgh two bays w1de on
Broadway and twelve bays wide.on Broome. The short Broadway facade as well as the
corner bay on Broome Bt. are faced with stone while the rest of the facade is faced
with brick. This treatment is fairly common when one facade faces a more important
_street than the other. - The ground floor has been completely altered although it
does retain its original cornice.. One interesting alteration is a concrete arch
:at ground level added:to provide access to the basement when Broome Street was
widened in 1929. The windows in the stone facade section are flanked by simply
designed moldings and are topped by individual cornice slabs. The remaining windows
have simple stone sills and lintels. The entire bulldlng is topped by an iron
cornice supported by scrolled brackets. .

No. ‘448 was designed by Calvert Vaux of Vaux, Withers Co.,in~18?1-72 and is
an imaginative creation in cast iron. Five stories high and. four bays wide, this
bu11d1ng uses iron in a rather unusual ornamental fashlon, although the forms are
der1ved from French Renaissance sources.

Marrow pilasters decorated with a variety of floral and pellet ornament flank
the building. The windows are separated by slender triple-grouped colonnettes.
The window ornament is most unusual: they are outlined by pellet moldings and capped
by intricately detailed friezes. Under ‘the windows. .of. the outer bays are florid

panels. The windows of the fifth floor are subdivided into round-arched groups of
two, and also separated by colonnettes. Their spandrels also contain floral decor-
ation, The entablature i$ a unique element of the bulding. A concave architrave

_set with panels conta1n1ng rosette motlFs, underlies a projecting frieze inlaid
. ‘with circular rosettes. Theé whole is supported by elaborate brackets which grow
out of the fifth fiocor colonnettes .- :

_ Whlle the, bulldlng comp051t1on does not empha51ze the 1nherent structural
propertles of cast iron, any more than does any other classically-derived building
in the Dlstrlct, it does utlllze the materlal to create v1v1d and unusual decorative

- fOI‘ms . ) A Sy T ‘,"."_‘.‘_3 . - I L Lo o -
aga-28 .. . . - : ’-'_Z" e . 434226
#442-444 .- T - #446. - -
. {489 B'way, northwest corner) ~ (491-493: connected to Broadway)
- Completed: 1860 - o Commenced :-.4/7/1896

Architect: Unknown Co LCompleted- 2/24/1897

- Facade

Ariginal Owner: Louisa Hepburn _
- Original Function: In 1879 was factory
- and workshop . - .- o

Brick and. stone -

5 stor1e5‘ 12 bays, .2 bays on B'way

Corments: The last 3 bays on Broome -
were added in 1863. Ground floor
alterations, stone arch added 1n
1929

Architect: Buchman §& Deisler -
Original Nwner: Jeremiah Lyons
Ariginal Function: ftores
Facade: Limestone

12 storiés: 3 bays, 4 w1ndows
Comments‘ New. doors..and windows
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484-31 - 434-31 (originally lot 32)

#448 " #450-452

Commenced: 6/26/1871 o (62 Mercer, northeast corner)

Completed: 7/28/1872 . . Commenced: 5/26/1894

Architect: Vaux & Withers ' ) Completed: 2/28/1895

Builder: James Stewart _ " . Architect: John T. Milliams,

Triginal Owner: Mrs. A. G. Ullman’ Original Owner: John T. Williams

Original Function: Stores and lofts Function: Warehouse .

Facade: Iron = ‘ Facade: Indiana limestone, iron, brick

4 bays; 5 stories ' and terra cotta . o

Comments: New doors and windows - 7.‘ 9 stories; 6 bays on Broome, 6 bays on
Mercer

Comments: Newfdoors 0r1g1na1 bu11d1ng
permit signed “John T. wllllams per

Alfred Zucker.a

HMercer to Greene Street

This block, developed in the. 1860s and 70s, is one of the finest on Broome
Street. The. bulldlng facades are harmonlous in appearance, due to the common use
of building materials -- ‘stone and iron simulating stone -- and common designs
stemming from various Renalssance styles., Further harmony’ is created by the gen-
erally unlform cornice 11ne. : :

South'side:’ﬁidck 474 (west part), Nos. 453-467

No. 453-455 RBroome Street (57-59 Mercer Street) is a flne Gr1ff1th Thomas
design of 1872-73. The building is six stories high with a separate attic treat-
ment, eleven bays wide on Mercer and six bays wide on Broome Street. The end bays
are defined by quoined pilasters which give a strong emphasis to the ends of the

building and to the corner. At each story the pilaster is topped by a slight capita.

created from an egg-and-dart moldlng with an underlying floral motif. The windows
are separated by columns with Corinthian capitals. The stories are.separated by
cornices. The ground-story cornice with its modiilions is supportgd by brackets |
above the pilasters. The bases of the second story windows have balustrades. along
the Broome Street side and at the corner bays on Mercer Street, while the other .~
windows on Mercer have incised panels. A boldly projecting cornice, . with intricate
modillions supportecd by elaborate brackets, crowns the fifth story. Set back a-
bove this is the attic story. Its windows are separated by molded pilasters. There
were once ornamental iron urns at the roof line, but they are removed, and the
bases on which they rested have been covered over.

No. 457-459, also designed by Griffith Thomas in 1871. creates a harmonlous
composition with its corner neighbor, although it uses somewhat simpler detail.
Quoined pilasters flank the ends of this six-story, six-bay building. Columns with
Doric-type capitals created by an egg-and-dart molding and a floral motif separate
the windows. . A balustrade lines the bases of the second- story windows, The main
cornice pro:ects over the fifth floor, and a large pediment rises from it.. Set
back behind this is an attic story. The wlndows on each side of the pediment are
set behind a balustrade. ‘

-57-
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474-12 I T PR P

#453.455" " LT #457-459
(57-59 Mercer, southwest corner) . Commenced: 7/1/1871 ,
Commenced: ‘7/1/1872 .~ % .. . Completed: 12/31/1871
Completed: 2/28/1873 ' .~ -~ . . Architect: Griffith Thomas:
. Architect: Griffith Thomas S Mason:; Marc Eidlitz =~ '
Carpentér: Martin E. Dujan’ :;f ‘.. Original Owner: William Moser
_Mason: John T. ‘Comover ., .~ .~ Original Function: Warehouse
Original Owner: 'Julia Billings ~~ ~*  Facade: Iron L
Original Function: Store ”"_,” _ 6 stories; 6 bays “° v
Facade:  Iron" ' SR Comments: New doors and windows, original
.6 storles 6 bays, 11 bays on o stained glass, alterations on lst floor,

Mercer R ' part of cornice cut for fire escape
Comments: New ‘door's, corn1ce removed, : .

urns missing £rom roofline, was

W, G. MHitchcock § Co. :

474-10 e e

#461 ' LT 8463 o
‘,Commenced ?/1/1871 _ .0 777 Completéd: 1867 1 L
. . Completed: 12[31/1871 T .. - " Architect: Henry Fernbach !
., Architect: Griffith Thomas ' - ~Original Owner: Arthur Levy
" Builder: Marc Eidlitz =~~~ ° " " Original Function; Store -
Original Owner: William Moser - , Facade: -Stone; iron storefront and cornice
Original Function: Store - - - -~ . '§ stories; 3 bays
Facade: Iron .. ..., . Comments: New doors and windows

5 stories: 3 bays :

. Comments: New doors and: w1ndows, -
urn missing from broken T

pedlment C W '

. d78-7
" $465-467

(54 Greene, southeast corner)

__Commenced: '6/24/1872 ... I e
.Completed: 2/28/1873 . : ; [ S T

Architect: J. F. Duckworth : S S

- Builder: J. T. Conover .." C
. Original- Owner R. H. L.. Townsend T
_Driginal Function: Warehouse '/

Facade: Iron, ‘from Aétna Iron Works

6 stories; 6 bays

Comments: New doors and. windows,

modern ground floor :

North Slde Block 485, Nos 454 468
’ No 454 Broome (65 67 Mercer) ‘and 456 Broome appear to be one bu11d1ng. But
;the records '0f the Department of Buildings show that Mo. 456 was bu11t in 1867 for
Elliott Cowdin by B. . Warner. The identical design was used by’ Samuel Warner in
1879 when he built No. 454 for Cowdin. (Benjamin W. Warner was Samuel Warher's
younger brother, and they were partners in an architectural firm.) The only ex-.
‘terior separation betwsen the two buildings is a spllt at the cornice line, and
they are now joined internally.

The combined facade is six bays wide on Broome, ten bays wide on Mercer, and six
stories high. The Broome Street side, the more prominent one, and the two end bays
on Mercer are faced with marble, and the remainder of the Mercer facade is of
brick with stone trim. . -At the ground floor, columns with Corinthian capitals
(although many have lost their ornament) separate the bays. Heavy piers define the
corner and the end bays on both streets. On the upper stories of the marble facade,
pilasters under molded drop-lintels outline the windows. A panelled frieze under-
lines the second story windows. The windows on Mercer St. have no ornamentation,
just stone sills and flush curved lintels, connected by stone banding set into the
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~brick., The simple cornmce ﬁs supported by fluted brackets Wthh alternate w1th pan--

cls, 1n,the frleze

No 458 is a flve story, three-bay stone buzldlng, bUIIt in 1867 It appears
to have been built strictly between the party walls of the two adjoining buildings
(and its internal structure would be supported on these walls), for it has no flank-
ing pilasters. Interest is given to the facade by the treatment of the window bays,
which are surrounded by molded drop-llntels capped by heavy keystones incised with
a. fleur-de-1is motif. - A narrow stone cornice runs under the windows and outlines
each dividing window pllaster. . The ground €loor, in contrast, has its doors and
windows defined by columns, and it is set off £rom the upper stories by a stone
entablature. The main entablature which is iron, is non-traditional in its use
of decorative elements. The cornice is supported by simple curved brackets which
are not fluted or scrolled, and they alternate with raised blocks, set into the
frieze. A carved terminal block is set at.eat¢h”end of the cornice. Adding a
f1na1 accent to the composition is a.raised curved pediment over the cornice.

No. 464-468 Broome,(56 Greene).xsva handsome addxt;on‘tq th1s corner site, It
was built in 1860 for Aaron Arnold of the Arnold and Constable families, the wealthy

.Mew York merchants, of Armold, Constable fame. .The building is five stories high,

ten bays . wide on Greene and nine bays wide on Broome., The Broome Street facade is
of stone with an iron cornice and iron ground floor elements, while that on Greene
Street is of brick with some stone trim and an iron cornice. The two corner end
bays on Greene are faced with brick but differentiated from the rest of the facade
by a vertical row of" stone quoins.,

The architectural comp051t10n of this bulldxng is of 1nterest 'for several
reasons. Its nine bays on_ Broome Street are divided into three triple-bay sections.
The design of the outer two sections .is completely identical to the entire facade of
the building at 19 Mereer'Street. .The center bay section projects slightly, and

- these windows are also given the "sperm-candle" treatment. However, here they are

separated by two-story panelled pilasters with a central circular motzf rather than

-the quoined pilasters of the outer sections. Panelled spandrels also separate the

stories in-.each vertical two-story group, and a scrolled keystone accents- the

-, curved lintel at the top of each vertical group. Rather than using the same panels
.as ‘those at the base of the second floor windows in the outer sections, the center

section employs a:stone balustrade. The ground floor 15 repularly d1v1ded by
Corinthian columns across the Broome Street side.

‘On the Greene Street faeade the only ornaments are the stone lintels above
the windows, and the narrow stone string courses which separate each story. The

‘two north end bays are differentiated by a- sl:ght pro;ectlon in the brick surface,
; and ‘brick panels under the windows. The main iron cornice with.its modillions rums

along the Broome Street side. and around -the two corner bays on-Greene Street.

The center bay section on Broome Street is.crowned by a pedlment which is curiously
broken at one end where the outer bay section joins the center one. The Greene
Street cornice is very 51mple with mo ornamentatlon. Co -

The same unknown arch1tect must have de31gned both thls bu11d1n¢ and the one
at No, 19 Mercer Street, but the total composition here is much more effective.
The components effectzvely blend together, and the scale is approprlate to the corner
31te, not 0verpower1ng as 1t 1s at 19 Mercer. )

v . -,
. v . -
s ~ B
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485.38 ¢ 0 iito L 4gsi3s

#454° - o ‘ o ..-#456 .

(65 67 Mercer, northwest corner) oo Commenced 1867, .. .

_Commenced: 6/571879- -+ " . .Architect: B. w.}warner .

‘Compléted: 2/28/1880° ' - ‘}"_' "t Driginal Owner: Elliot Cowdin
_Architect: Samuel Warner - - CowsOriginal Functlon Warehouse '~ ST
0r1g1na1 Owner: Elliot Cowdln " Facade: Marble, iron storefront and corn1ce
Original Function: Store® ~ - . . G&-stories; 3 bays ' -

' Facade:' Stone and- brlck iron store- Conimerits :- New doors and w1ndows some stone

front and cornice. : . . _ i chipped

_‘S storles' 3 bays 10 bays on .

. Mercer

* Comments: Capital ornament m1551ng, B

”[ some stone chlpped Tt _;“ L ?sh'g;q R

#ass - S 1360

Commenced: ‘11/15/1867 - Lo sf--:PCompleted 1862

Architect: D. §J. Jardine > - . %' "Architect: Unknotm

Original Owner: Hyams '§ ‘Bamburger: - . Oridinal Owner: Henry J. Newton

“"Original Function: Store and mare-:: - - Original Function: Store and warehouse

~+ -House -~ - .. .. Facade: Stone, Ironm storefront and cornlce
'_ Facade “Stone, iron. storefront and PR S stories; 3 bays o

“"  cornice . soslw s o Comments: Capital ornament and bracket mise

-5 stories; 3 'bays:. - s L ‘sing, old door :L'
Comments~ New doors and wlndows,. _
some iron mlssrng ol

#462" PRt e HA642468 T T E e
Completed 1866 .. S u.s T (56 Greene, northeast corner)
‘Architect: Unknown =~ - 7 Compléted: -1860: -
0r1g1na1 Owner: Aaron. Arnold- . - .- _.Architect: Unknown oo
0r1g1na1 Function: Stores and lofts ﬁr1g1nal Owner : - Aaron- Arnold
Facade Stone iron storefront and ..« Original Function: "Stores -and lofts
: corn1ce SRR ‘-; . 5'~5Facade Stone,- iron storcfront.” 2nd cornice
5 stories; 3 bays: & .t U woe . S ostories; 9 bays’ on’ Broome ,- 10 bays on’
Comments ‘Mew doors :and wlndows, store- : Greene B
“front is a cont1nuat1on of , Comments: Iron from N1chol G Blllerwell

‘#464- 468 e 'Iron Norks new doors and windows.

LT e T o . -.:-,.;"ﬁ:"::.?
Greene to Wooster Street - °

This block is another of Broome Street's -finest. Four of the seven buildings
on it were designed by Griffith Thomas :in the short span.of six years, 1867-1873,
which contribute: greatly to its overall harmonious composition. One other dates
‘from 1872, and the remaining two are from the'early 18805 Agaln the design source

Sl -:'y-" 5 -
South Side: Block 475 (east part) Nos. 469-481

Mn. 469-475 Broome Street (55 Greene Street), the Gunther Building, is one of
Griffith Thomas' . finest designs, built in 1871-72. Magmificently adapted to its
corner site, its only rival in the District in this respect is J. Morgan Slade's
building at 119 Greene Street, built in 1882-83. '

This six story building, which is six bays wide on Greene Street and eleven
bays wide on Broome Street, bears a strong stylistic resemblance to Thomas!  build-
ing at 453-455 Broome on the southwest corner of Mercer Street which was built a
year later. This earlier building has a curved corner bay which creates an even
more striking effect than the heavily quoined corner bays of 453-455 Broome.
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‘Nuoined p11asters also define this curved bay, as well as the end bay on Broome
_ ‘Street, and one pilaster flanks the end on Greene. At the ground floor, Corinthian
_ ¢olumns separate the door and window openings, while on the upper stories panelled

pilasters with -Corinthianesque capitals define.the windows, except in a central
pro;ect1ng bay section on Broome Street. This central section uses Corinthian
columns. A typical classic balustrade runs along the base of the second-story

windows. - Each story has ‘its own cornice. - That above the ground floor has modillions

and is accented by a small pediment in the. central section on Broome Street. ‘Above
the third floor are three unusual slabs supported by brackets projecting out from
the cornice over various bay sections, - At -the corner bay. above the .second story is
placed ‘a scrolled and finialed pediment contaln1ng the inscription- "Gunther Building.
The main cornice curving around the bu11d1ng is supported by elaborate brackets.

No, 477-479, a handsome class1cal c0mp051tlon very. French in feellng, ‘designed

" by Elisha inffen for Jacob Weeks, was begun shortly . after the Gunther Building
"was completed. This six-story, eight-bay cast<is. . building has a double facade.
" Muoined pilasters:flank the ends and run down the center. Narrower. panelled

pilasters’ separate the windows. A row. of . Corinthian.colunns separates ‘the door and
window openings on thé ground floor.' The upper-story windows are flanked by en-
gaged columns with Corinthian.capitals. The lintels of -the second and third floor

‘windows are lined by moldings set with indented pseudo-keystonés. . The windows of

the sixth' floor are capped by keystones. A most unusual feature is the balustrade
treatment at the-window bases of each of the upper stories,  In each ‘four-bay
section, the center bays have a conventional balustrade, whzle the outer bays have
underlyzng "panels with a flat ribbon-like applxed ornament. The main cornice is
supported by small and large brackets arranged in a rhythmic pattern across the
building. The crowning touch is provided by two- pediments, one over. each of the
central bays of the four-bay sect1ons, which further emphasize the double-facade
nature of the building. -

475-44/45/46/47 475-43/41

1 #469-475 L PR #477-479 (originally #477- 481)

(55 Creene,.SOuthwest corner}
Commenced: 12/2/1871 - -
Completed: "5/30/1872 °

. Architect: Griffith Th&mas'

Builder: John T. Conover'

Owner: William Gunther . - :

Original Function: Store and store-
house

Facade: Iron, from Aetna Iron works

6 stories; 11 bays on Broome, '

Commenced: 6/3/1872

Completed: 2/28/1873

Architect: Elisha Sniffen

.Original Owner: Jacob Weeks

Original Function: Store

Facade Iron, from Excelsior Iron Works

6 storics; 8 bays

Comments: Missing section of 1lst floor cor-
“ nice and a bracket from pilaster. Was

Cheney Bros. store.

6 bays on Greene

475-40 ' s
#481 [or1g1na11y #483)
(Soutliedst corner Nooster) o
PARKING 10T = - RPN

‘North'Side: Block 486, Nos. 470-482 T o |

No. 470 Broome Street (nmorthwest corner of Greene Street) dating from 1867,
is an early example of Griffith Thomas' 'work in.the District, The building is’
faced with stone instead of iron. The only ironwork is ‘in the first floor columns
and the main entablature. Other.Thomas buildings £rom the same year also have this !
stone-iron combination. He shifted to complete cast-iron facades in 1869. '
The building is five stories high, six bays wide on Broome, and ten bays wide.on
Greene Street. The Broome Street facade is of stone as are the two corner end
bays on Greene, The remainder of the Greene Street facade is brick. Quoined pil-
asters flank the building on Broome Street and the corner bay section on Greene,
as well as the Greene Street entrance in the end bay section. Corinthian columns

-5~
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separate the door.and window openings on the ground floor in the stone portions of
the building. . The stonework of the upper stories is relatively. 31mp1e. The win-
dows are separated by pilasters with Doric capitals and topped by thin molded drop-
lintels over: segmental arches. Simple. cornices supported by small brackets sepa-

- Tate each story. The ground floor cornice is elaborated with mod1111ons.: The

“end bay entrance on Greene Street is crowned by a .similar cornicé. “On Greene Qtreet.;_

" The winodws' have stone drop-l1ntels and the stories are separated by stone. string
courses. The main cornice is supported by foliated brackets and is cfowned by a

broad pedrment. The Greene Street cornice. is, by contrast, simple and unobtru51ve..f'

No 476-478 Broome Street is.a. Fr1ff1th Thomas deszqn of 1372 73 executed in’

iron. Built in-an L- shape with the other Facade at 62 Uooster Street thlS bu11d1néi:

wraps around the two corner structures.

3 N : ]

. Thls Broome Street facade of No. 476 478 is six storles hlgh and six bays wlder'

- The two nrojecting middle bays emphasrze the center of the fecade. . Muoined pilas- -
ters: flank the building.  ®n the lower five stories all the bays’ are defined by
Corinthian colums. - Panels at the outer -bay sections and a balustrade at the center
bay:section underlle the second story windows:. FEach floor is separated by :a cornice
vhich has’ an added projection.across the center bay section. The sixth floor treat-
ment is-distinctive. Pilasters separate ‘the arched windows which have flat app11ed
keystones. The center section is divided into three windows, lnstead of. two. This.
center section has its, own balustrade, while the ‘outer sections have panels set wzth
a circular motif in relief. - The main cornlce with-its modillions is supported by .

- brackets which alternate w1th panels..in the frieze. A pediment over the center
section gives. final emphasis to this part of the facade. Two urns, almost Moorish
in appearance are percﬁed at’ each end of the bu11d1ng e e

486-32 N ”14é6 34

470 . #472-474 , .
{(Northwest corner of Greene)} . .. - Cormenced: 4/1/1869 ¥ v
Commenced: 1867 . . -. . -Completed: 8/10/1869 Lo
Architect: Griffith Thomas ‘. -+ ..Architect: Griffith, Thomas
Original Owner: Nickinson § Hurlbut Builder: Moore § - Pryant -
Original Function: Warehouse ,,%J;.*- ‘Original Owner: Estate- of Moses Morrlson
Facade: Stone, iron cornice and . Driginal Function: Store and. storehouse
) storefront - _ N . . Facade: Stone, .iron storefront

5 stories; 6 bays on oroome, 10 «.+ " 5 stories; 6 bays--

bays on Greene ... Comments New doors and w1ndows,

Comments: New doors and wlndows e

486-36 IR f‘.ff . 486-38 . . Lo

#476-473 ‘ e #480 o CoL s

{connected to 62 Wooster) Commenced ; 7/8/1884 _ '

Commenced: 6/24/1872 Completed: 1/30/1885 .
Completed: 2/28/1873 Architect: Richard: Berger s ooe
Architect: Griffith Thomas Original Owner: Sleurman. & Casper -
Carpenter: John Downey ‘ Or1g1nal Function: Store L ‘“;”=iy\
Mason: John Conover . Facade: Iron.. .

Original Qwner: C. H. Garden 6 stories; 3 bays '

Original Function: Store Comments: Cornice and ground floor w1ndows
Facade: Iron : replaced

"6 stories; 6. bays ¢ . : . - s e -,

" 1'Comments “New doors and w1ndows urn

missing. - Land: leased from Jane, _ . o, L‘_.;RL:T. - f; SR
- Rachel, and Charlotte Williams .. . -~ =~ S

© -62-
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486-39

452

(60 Yooster, northeast corner)

.Commenced: 6/18/1883 :

Completed: 1/31/1884 :

Architect: John McIntyre ' o

Carpenter: John H. Morse

Mason: Alexander Brown

Nriginal Function: Store

Facade:r Brick, stone, iron storefront

6 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Iron from $: R, Ferdon Iron
" Ylorksy. new door cap1ta1 ornament

missing :

-Hooster Gtreet to Wost Broadway

This block was developed early Two bu11d1ngs of a group dating from €. 1825
still remain standing. The -others were largely replaced in the 1880s and 90s by
the present structures. Consequently the block has a less harmonious appearance
. than the two blocks to the east.

i

South Side: Block 475 (west part), Mos. -483-499

No. 489-493 Broome is an early work of J. Horgan Slade, dating from.1872-73.
Yhile strongly classical in its forms, it does not exhibit the 'same refinement as
the work he did in thé early 1880s shortly before his death -Compare, for example,
his building at 119 Greene Street. ' ' '

Slade's five-story, eight- bay irén bulldlnr at 489- 493 Broome Street is very
similar in appearance to the work of Griffith Thomas from this same period. Quoined.
.. pilasters flank the ends of the building. Rows of columns with a type of Doric
. ."capital created by an egg-and-dart molding and a band of floral motifs (very

f's1m11ar ‘but not identical to Thomas capitals at 457-359 and "461 Broome Street)
separaté the windows and produce a rhythmic: pattern ‘across the facade. -The ground
floor has been completely-altered. Panels underlie the second floor windows as
well as the column bases. The simple cornice is supported by brackets whi¢h are-
decorated with a rather abstract leaf-like design. The brackets rise from a
string course below the frieze (another typical Thomas characteristic), :and. beneath’
each bracket is applied a flat incised ornament. Rising above the cornice is a
broad .pediment thCh contalns neo-Grec foliation wh1ch once flanked the numerals,
' 18?2 - :

No. 497 is a 51mp1e four—story brick bu11d1ng dat1ng from c. 1825 and originally

" owned"by Alfred S. Pell.. It may have been first used for a store with living quar-

ters above, ‘but.in 1863" it was altered into.a saloon and boarding house. . The iron
entablatures above the first floor and at the roof line were.added at this time.
The frieze of each entablature contains an elaborate ' raised swag pattern. The main
cornice is supported by brackets and ‘has an underlyxng egg-and-dart molding. One
window ‘on the second floor has an incised stone 11ntel while a11 other windows
have p1a1n stone lintels and 51115. : :

No. 499 Broome" (361 West Broadway) also dates frOm c 1825 and was also owned
by Pell. It is also brick, three stories hlgh, and retains its original roof
dormer. No. 497 must have been very similar in appearance when first built.

~ The ground floor has been altered to incorporate new windows and siding. The upper .
o story w1ndows retaxn the1r stone 51115 and Federal style 1nc1sed stone 11ntels._

~£3-
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475.16 475-15

#483-487 #489-493

{55 Mooster, southwest corner) . Commenced: 8/1/1873:
Commenced: 1903 Completed: 1/31/1874 ,
Architect: P. Gillerx Architect: Jarvis Horgan Slade

Original Cwner: Gen. Louis Seasongood [Fuilder: Richard: Shapter .. -
Original Function: Store § Warehouse Original Owner"Martln Bates ... : -

Facade: Brick, stone, iron Original Functioén: Store -
3 stories; 9 bays Facade: Iron, from Jackson Bros. Iron Works
Comments: Major alteration in 1903, of 5 :.stories: -8 bays: .

a pre-existant 1872 structure; Comments: Ground floor, altered in 1955
Iron from Atlantic Iron ‘lorks e - Do

475-14 475-13

#495 (connected to 359 . Broadway) ~C #497 - - e i

Cammenced: 2/27/1895 : Completed c 1825

Completed: 8/17/1896 Original Owner: Alfred Pell

Architect: G. F. Pelham Original Function: Dwe111ng

Original Owner: Louisa Friedline ... . .< Facade: Brick - :

Original ‘Function: Lofts i~ « - ~ .. 4 stories; 3 bays

Facade: Brick-and-irom - .. -~ - .1: Comments:-Altered in 1868 to a saloon and
~ 7 storles, 3 bays ‘- . .- - . boarding house, - Some original lintels

Comments: Iron mdy be pressed L ?? L
475-12 S U R e e
#499 E T
(Southeast corner Vest" Broadway) S - - '

' Compléted: 'c. 1825 . ‘ R A
» -Original Owner: Alfred Pell . ... . . @ .. L S

Obiginal Functlon Dwelllng
Facade: Brick ' _ . S e
3.1/2 stories; 3 bays e ;4 . I

" Comments: Orzglnal llntels dorme1 ino L L -:':SHM

bae shape, modern ground floor.;g‘ e

L
ST

Lo

In

'*North Slde Block 487 Nos 434 500 -ZL' -

‘ No 484 490 Broome Street (59. Uooster Street) deslgned by Alfred Zucker in

1890, 1s a fine example of the Romanesque -style .adapted to commercial purposes.

-Bix. stories . high, ten bays wide on Broome Street, ‘and elght bays .wide on liooster
. Street, it effectlvely utilizes brick, stone and some iron- decorat1ve work to create
- an- 1nterest1ng arch:tectural compos:tlon. : : :

The asymmetr1ca1 arrangement of the wlndow bays is the most complex element
of the’ bulldlng, especially.on the Broome.Street-facade: The-first three floors
are -handled -as. a unit: Ground-floor round- arched -openings alternate with two three-
story.triple-bay groups within a lavge arch. Above  the ground:floor windows is a

-round-archéd arcade -at..the second floor -level.. The windows above:these are square-
:-headed. The top three:floors, :also handled as a:unit, are-set off above a string

course ‘lined with carved. stone ‘heads. Hére.the outer and central bays are grouped

-vertically to create “‘towers' which rise. above. the: roof line: .and alternate with two

groups of square-headed windows of three bays each. -All sixth-floor windows are
round -archéd. On the Yooster Street side the two corner bays and the two end bays

. have the tower-like arrangement; while .the- w1ndows in between -are square-headed
"only those on the top»story have round arches o R

. T

The walls of the. bottom two stories are partlally faced w1th rustlcated stone.

. The upper’ four. stories are mostly brick. Carved blocks with the medieval motif of
- a dragon biting its own tail are set at the imposts of the large triple-bay arches

at the top of the second floor windows. The windows within-.these arches as well as
those at the fifth and sixth floors above these are formed by iron components.

The entablatures at both the roof line and on the towers that rise above it are
quite interesting. At the roof line the stone cornice, which is edged by a pellet
molding, has oversized modillions alternating with a large acanthus leaf motif,
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Running beneath this is a rope molding which also stretches across the ''tower™
elements underneath an arcade of flat brick arches. The entablatures of the towers
are formed by a combination of an elaborate brickwork frieze and architrave beneath
a stone cornice, Set at the corners of each tower are stone blocks carved with
medieval leaf ornaments twisted into convoluted S-forms.

Taken all together the varied elements of this building create a hlghly ef—

fective composition.

487-1

#484-490

(59 tlooster, northwest corner)

Commenced: 4/21/1890

Completed: 3/31/1891

Architect: Alfred Zucker

Original Owner: Simon Goldenberg

Original Function: Warehouse

Facade: Brick and stone

6 stories; 10 bays on Broome,
8 bays on llooster

437-6

#498

Commenced: 9/13/1884

Completed: 2/27/1885

Architect: Ernest Greis

Original Owner: Jacob Bleyer

Original Function: Store

Facade: Bluestone, brick and terra
cotta, iron ground floor

S stories; 3 bays

Comments: Iron from T.S. Ayers Iron
Works. New windows and doors
on ground floor

487-4

#492-494

Commenced: 4/28/1891

Completed: 2/29/1892

Architect: Alfred Zucker

Original Ownex: H.-§ S. Corn

Original Function: Store

Facade: Stone, brick and terra cotta

5 stories originally, now reduced to 2;
3 bays -

Comments: Altered in 1938, upper 3 stories
cut S

487-7 _ : i
#500 '
(Northeast corner, tlest Broadway)

Commenced: 3/6/1874 :

Completed: 12/21/1874

Architect: Charles Mettam

Carpenter: David Hepburn

Mason: Van Dolsen & Armoth

Original Owner: Geo. Marchand

Original Function: Store

Facade: Iron on Broome, brick on Nest ‘Btway

5 stories; 3 bays on BrOOme 7 bays on

M, B'way :

Comments: Iron from Aetna Iron MWorks . :
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-

The course of Canal Street, first proposed in 1796 was ‘in part determined by
an irregular ditch that ran betweer the Collect Pond: and the Hudson River: The
construction of the street was begun after Trinity ‘Church and private citizens
ceded portions of their propertles to the Cityin 1808. The one-hundred-foot wide
street, reportedly completed in 1310, was divided by an eisht-foot wide open ditch
or caral built in 1511. In 1319, work,was near completion on converting this ditch
into a covered sewer. o e '

-

%

Broadway to Mercer Streetf'g"' '

A striking contrast of arch1tectura1 styles is immediately evident when ohserving
the buildings on this block. Chronologically, the buildings range from a three-
story Federal house at No. 303 dating back to about 1808 to the two mid-20th
century taxpayers located on the eastern corner. The two remaining structures on
the block, the 1856-62 Arnold Constable store and an impressive marblée building
from 1863, fall between the two extremes stylistically as well as chronologically.
Although both ‘of the mid-19th century five-story buildings are constructed pri-
marily of stone, they both 1ncorporate cast-iron. storefronts whzch are typical of
their perlod : , -

¥} '

North Side Nnly in District: Block 231(south part), Nos. 291-311 o

No. 305, which extends through to No. 47 Howard was built around 1863 for . \
L. Brutillier. The iron storefront on this five-story bu:ldxng consists.of a ‘
cornice, terminal blocks and fluted colomnettes that are missing their capital
ornaments. The remainder of the three-bay wide facade retains its highly classical
Italianate stone facing. The fenestration on the second floor is. emphasized
by a pediment above and a balustrade below the central window and recessed panels’
below the flanking windows. These side windows' are ‘topped by simple projecting |
lintels that are repeated above each window on the third and fourth stories. The .
top of the building is strongly accented by the use of four large brackets, placed
on either side of the building and between thé window openings. - The cornice is
further enhanced by decorative modillions located between the brackets,

No, 307 311 is the main entrance to the large, 1mpre551ve Arnold Constable § Co.-
- store.that. also faces Mercer and Howard Streets.- (See the descriptions of Mercer
Street for a discussion of that facade.) City tax records indicate that the first
four floors of the six-bay wide corner section were built in 1856, while the fifth

" floor of thls section. and. the five-floor, three-bay addition were completed in 1862.
“A contemporary lithograph' of the bu11d1ng, reprlnted on page 234 of Kouwenhoven's
The Columbia Historical Portrait of MNew York, shows, however, a f:fth floor on the
corner sectlon, but wlthout the three-bay addltlon

Althouph the Canal Street facade is-faced w1th stone whxle those on Mercer and
_Howard Street are brick, the formula for bays and varying window shapes is repeated
on all three sides., None of the original iron storefront rvemains on the Canal
. Street side, but the contemporary lithograph. indicates that it was originally .
supported by columns identical to those remaining on the other two facades.
These original’ columns - are qu1te different from the columns and pllasters that
: remain on the storefront of the 1862 addition, however, which are quite wide .
© in comparlson to their height and decorated by ma591ve ornamental bands. ' i

. The upper storles ‘of the facadé are separated by pro;ectlng ‘cornices and out-
lined on the second throuzh fourth flcors by stone quozns ‘at both corners and
between the 1856 and 1862 sections. Panelled pilasters replace the Quoins on the
€ifth floor. The round-arched second-story windows are crowned by decorative
keystones and flanked by pilasters topped with Corinthian capitals. The paired
central windows of the second story of the original section are also accented by 2
common pediment that is perched above the two keystones. They are further empha-
sized by balustrades identical to the one below the second-floor, central window
of the 1862 addition. On the upper floors, the central windows are paired,

though have no pediments. On the third, fourth and fifth floors the windows are i
topped by segmental rather than round arches. Above the fifth-floor window,

_6?.—

n
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paired volutes rise up towards the. center, forming. a modified pediment. The building
is topped by a simple cast-iron cornice with paired brackets above the central. and
51de piers between whlch .are evenly spaced modlllzons.umf-b : .o

o . " ..

sz .f.'a'ﬂﬁ-éﬂ R L 0S  PUEEE P

#201-299. .. ... - #301 [ e -

(#419 Broadway, northwest corner) Completed: ¢, 1955 =

One-story MNedicks Function: Taxpayer -
' Facade: Brick™ .

LTt b i e 2 stordes: d:bay . o

231-200 LT st Coe oL

#303: | e ws0s e

xCompleted c. 1808 - Ca . (#a7, ‘Howard) . . R -

Original Owner: Thomas Duggan . . . Completed: ¢.- 1863 o

Original Function:. Dwell1ng .-+ . Original Owner: L. Brut1111er _

Facade: Brick . . -.: .- .= ;  Original Function: Store .. ,

3 stories; .3 windows - S . Facade: Stone, iron -~

Architect: Unknown 5 stories; 3 bays H ,

Architect: Unknown ' N S

T 2314 T, ‘\_,'_:,_-“‘ Lrt . o . L :
#307-311 - :

(#2-12 Mercer, northeast corvier, - -, .Y Cn e

#49-53 Howard) i O R T T
Completed #307 in 1862, T A o
. #309-311 in 1856 .+ -, . ...

Archltect “Unknownr .. ... - e
Original Owner: Aaron Arnold RO TR
Original :Fuhction: Arnold Constable store S
‘Facade: stone, iron . - -
. 5 stories; 9 bays Coee oo L
.Comments: The fifth story was added in 186¢. R

S New ground floor - . .. . ; R A

- I . . Lo e
e - ' T . - . . . L}

. Mercer to Greene Street
North- Slde Only in D1str1ct Block 230 ﬂos. 313 331

PR

: Wlth the exceptlon of the 1883 84 31x-story bu11d1ng at the northeast corner
“of. Greene. Street, all.of the buildings on the north side of. this block are brick

. Federal houses that were converted 1nto commerc1a1 bu11d1ngs during ‘the mid-19th
century.. . These: eight Federal structures, six of: which: vere developed and owned

by an Isaac ‘Lawrence, were all erected durlng the period around 1820 and originally
had a consistent helght of three stories plus .an attic with dormers. Five of the
houses, however, had their attic stories removed in the 1860s or 1870s, at which
time they were replaced by an add1t10na1 br:ck floor with a cast-iron cornice.

The J B Snook bu11d1ng on, the corner of . Greene Street No. 329 331 Canal
presents a-strong contrast to the -other elght buildings on the biock. This brlck
building.is only. six .stories high.and four bays wide, which may be considered
“small.fer a-commercial building of the 1880s.. It is its’ 'scale rather than its
size, however. that makes it dominate its Federail nelghbors. Yet, the facade
treatment is simple and direct,, incorporating smooth brick. plers stone lintels,
horizontal -stone bandings and a relatively plain. cast—lron corn1ce, SO that it is
not otherw1se too 1ncompat1b1e “

-6£8~
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230-1

#313 . .

. (Northwest corner ‘Mercer)
Completed: 1821

Architect: Unknown :
Original Owher: Isadc Lawrence o

‘Original Function: Dwelling
Facade: Brick

4 stories; 3 windows

Comment5° Iron cornice added later, as

was fourth story
230-3
c #1327 . '
~Completed: 1821 ‘
Original Owner: Isaac Lawrence

Original Function: Dwelllng
Facade: Brick

» 4 stories; 3 windows

* Comments: Altered in 1869
Architect: Unknown. o

1..230-5 .
#3210
Completed: c. 1821
“Architect: Unknown

- -Original Owner: Isaac Lawrence

+-QOriginal Function: Dwelling

2 3 1/2 stories; 3 windows
¢ Comments: Front covered with metal

230-2

#315

Completed: 1821

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: Isaac lLawrence

Original Function: Dwelllng

Facade: Brick

4 stories; 3 windows ' '

Comments: Raised one story after fire in
1877 / :

72304
#3190
'Z'Completed 1821

"Architect Unknown .
Original Nwner: Isaac Lawrence .
Original Function: Dwe111ng '
Facade: Brick .

.4 stories; 3 windows
Comments: Altered in 1869

230-6 ‘
#323 ‘
Compleéted: c. 1821
Architect: Unknown
‘Original Owner: Isaac Lawrence

re

" driginal .Function: Dwell1ng :

‘Facade: Brick

'3 1/2'stories; 3 windows

sheeting, S.F.B. Morse lived

here in 1825.

230~-7 -

. #3258,

-.Completed: prior to 1820

Architect: Unknown '

Original Owner: John Dyer

Original Function:’ Dwe111ng

Facade: Brick

4 stories: 3 windows -
Comments: Altered in 1877 -

230-9°

#329-331 <o

(#2-6 Greene, northeast corner)
Commenced: 3/7/1883 ,
Completed: 1/31/1884

Architect: J.B. Snook
- Carpenter: ¥. Gennind § Co. -
Mason: Robinson § Wallace
~Original Owner: Lorillard Spencer
- Qriginal Functlon Store
Facade: Brick, stone; iron
6 stories: 4 bays
Comments: Ground floor altered, iron

230-8

#327 : k
Completed: prior to 1820
Original Owner: Michael Quinn

© Original Function: Dwe111ng

‘Facade: Brick
3 1/2 stories: 3 windows

Comments: Altered in 1870.."
Architect: Unknown

from Lindsay, Graff § Megguier

-69~
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Greene to Wooster Street !

A strong diversity is felt on this block, characterized by a modern two-story
taxpayer and a 1927 garage poszt1oned between two ocutstanding cast-iron structures.
The incongruity is further heightened by the large vacant lot at the Greene Street
corner, the former, locat1on of a recently demolished 1868 building de51gned by J.B.

Snook ' . - : .

’

North Sidé Only in District: Block 229, Nos. 335-355

No. 343 is an Isaac F. Duckworth design that was built-in 1868 for P.R. Francis.
Although the architect superbly combined various neo-Grec and French Renaissance
elements, the composition of the cast iron is far less complex than other designs
by Duckworth within the Historic District. The strong sense of verticality conveyed
by this five-story building is due to.its narrow three-bay width, its slender
columns and pier panels and, most appreciably, its isolation. CThe building is
flanked by a parking lot on the east and a two-story taxpayer on the west., )

The ground -floor facade of the bu11d1ng is nearly 1dentlca1 to ‘the upper storles,
though it is difficult tq see much of the. original ornament due to z large modern
sign placed above the entrance. The bays on each floor are separated by columns
resting upon bases, between which are placed decorative panels. (None of the
original capital ornaments remain.) The building is flanked by pier panels that
are divided at each floor level by-a 51mp1e terminal block at the end of a projecting
cornice. Each pier is embellished.by a central rosette,. above and below which are
recessed panels. The only additional decorative motif is a rosette above the
center of each window frame.- At the top of the building, a highly ornate cornice
Tests on paired brackets above .the .two center columns and a console bracket over
the central window. The cornice pro;ects forward above these brackets to emphasize
the central bay . There.must also have originally been large brackets flanking the
building, but they have been removed. The remainder -of the entablature is composed
of frieze panels on either side of and between the brackets a scallopped corbelling
below the frieze and decoratlve modillions beneath the cornice,

No. 351-355 is a five- ~-story corner building, fronted by cast iron, that was
designed by YW.H. Gaylor and built in 1871-72. The nine bays on Canal Street,
which are identical to.the eleven bays on the Wooster Street facade, are handled in a
crisp, rhythmic manner, in’'a style closely related to the neo-Grec. The storefront
retains its original ‘smooth shafted.iron columns, set on panelled bases, which
-rise above low stoops, .The cap1tals atop these columns, identical to those used
on the upper stories, are each defined by a simple necking band and decorated with
evenly spaced rosettes, above whlch 1s an egg~and-dart moldlng

The upper facade oF the bu11d1na, which is separated from the storefront by
a modillioned cornice, repeats many of the ground floor elements, mnotably the
handling of the columns. The one outstanding elaboration is the incised neo-Grec
_ pendent type ornament which is suspended below each column base. In addition to
serving as a terminus for each column, this motif also acts as . a spandrel decoration
hetween the flat-topped, curved-corner bays. .Even this elaboration, however, is
repeated in such a manner that it merely adds to the sense of standardization
felt in the overall architectural treatment.  The only additional elements are
flanking cornmer quoins and a roof cornice which act to frame the building. The
cornice, which is handled in the same disciplined manner as the rest of the
building, is composed of closely spaced modillions and dentlls above a panelled
frieze. : -

229-1 - . S 229-3

#335-341 ' - #343
(#9-13 Greene, northwest corner) Commenced: 1868
Parking lot o "~ Architect: Isaac F. Duckworth

Original Owner: P.R. Francis

Original Function: Store

Facade: Iron -

S stories: 3 bays

Comments: Some iron ornament missing, ground
floor altered

. =70~
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1 229-4 o 229-5

#345 ' ' __ #347-349

Function: Taxpayer Commenced :- 11/11}1927
Facade: Concrete - -Completed: 3/23/1928

2 stories: 3 bays Architect: Julius Echmann
S ) Original Owner: Augustus B. Fleck
. ' Original Function:. Garaﬁe
Facade: Brick
4 stories: 2 bays
Comments’: Goes through to #6 10 Wooster

229-6 - D

#351-355 A o L
(#2-4 Yooster, northeast corner)

Commenced : 6{22/1871

Completed: 2/29/1872

Architect: UW.H, Gaylor

Builder: W. Lamb,Jr.

Original Owner: S. Middlebrook

Original Function: Stores

Facade: Iron S

S stories: 9 bays .-

Comments: ‘Some ground- floor alteratlonS»
i Iron from Bailey:§ DeBreveise:

Noostor tvfct to West Broadway

An 1nterest1ng comblnatlon of buildings from the early, ‘mid and late 19th
century are seen on this block, which is divided in the center by a vacant lot.
The buildings begin chronologically with two 1824 structures on the western corner,
both of which were converted in the mid-century from three-story dwellings to four-
story commercial buildings. (The fourth story on the corner building is a modified
mansard.) The commercial period of the Historic District is represented by a simple
five-story stone building.of 1855 (fifth floor added in 1866,) a five-story
brick store and tenement of 1871..2 cast-iron.structure of 1883, also five stories
high, and two masonry buildings datipg-from 1391 which are five and six stories
high, : - » o ' o

North Side Only in District: *B1ockfézs Nos. 357-375

No. 365-367, a predom1nant1y stone building sparsely ornamented on its four
upper floors, 1s strongly accented by an elaborate cast-iron storefront, executed
in an ornate French manner. This storefront is supported by intricate Corinthian
columns which separate the six individual bays. It is interesting that these
bays are not of equal width, the second bay in from both of thc sides being slightly
narrower than the others. Also ‘the pumber of storefront bays does not corrospond
with the five windows which'Spaﬁ each of the upper floors. The six-bay width of
the storefront is divided in the center by a pier incorporating pseudo-quoins that
are alternately ridged and vermiculated. An identical pier treatment is also .used
to flank the ground floor. Another interesting motif on the cast-iron ground
floor is the neo-Grec brackets which appear individually above each column and
palred above the central pier. Between these brackets, which support a modillioned
cornice, are placed rococo-like foliated ornaments. This extremely elaborate.
storefront is in strong contrast to the functionally.conceived upper floors which
served originally as tenements. These floors, simply separated by narrow band
courses, are faced with smooth stone around square-headed windows. The only pro-
jections are the plain window lintels and sills, with the addition of small brackets
supporting the second-floor lintels. The building, which began so elegantly on the
ground floor, is terminated by a very, plain modillioned cornice, far less elaborate
than the storefront cornlce.

Mo, 371 is a five-story building with a three-bay wide cast-iron facade that
was designed by Samuel Warrier in a modified neo-Grec manner. Nearly all of the cast-

-7~
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1

iron elements on thlS 1883 84 structure remain intact, including the unusually high -

storefront.

The storefront bays are defined by narrow pilasters in the center and

slightly wider ones on either side all of which are decorated by pro;ectlng vertical
r1dwes, 1nc1sed neo-Grec. ornaments, and rosettes.

The square-headed bay units on the upper four levels are handled in an

identical manner.

Each floor, separated from the one above and below by a high
plain frieze, is flanked by wide fluted pilasters.
¢ . modified capitals. decorated with a neo-Grec ornament that is proto-Art Nouveau in
its use of soph1st1¢ated stylized organic forms.

The -pilasters are topped by

A simildr treatment is used

on the capitals above the slender central columms which are set on high.bases

and have a double banding around their otherwise smooth shafts.

The entire facade

is crowned by a rather high entablature that includes. paired neo-Grec brackets

above the side pilasters and each column.

friezes and dentils.

228-1

#357

(#1-5 Wooster, northwest corner)
Completed: 1855

Architect: W.T. Beers

Original OQwner: ¥m. Banta
Original Function: Store and lofts
Facade: Marble, iron

5 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Iron from Architec-
' - tural Iron Yorks, ground
- floor altered, 11ntels
chipped. Common facade
- with #359, fifth story
added. in 1866
. 228-3
. #361 ..

. Commenced: 8/1/1891
.. Completed: 1/31/1892 _
Architect: J.B. Snook
Original Owner: Nancy Banta
Original Function: Store and workshop
Facade: Brick, iron
5 stories; 3 bays .
- Comments: Roof cornice.cut, for
: ' fire escape, ground floor
altered -

+

-

. 228-% 1' B f._{ L

C #365-367

Commenced?” 6/23/1871
Completed: 12/31/1871
Architect: ¥m, '?arlng -

. Original Qwner: J. Watson webb

Original Function: Store and tenement -

-- Facade: Stone and iron
5 stories:
Comments:

};uComp;eted_

L228-7
#369 L
AVacant lot k

Between‘the brackets are panelled

228-2

359 S
Completed 1855 e
- Architect: W.T. Beers

Original Owner: Asher Rosenblatt ‘

- Original Function:. Store and lofts

Facade: Marble, iron =~
5§ stories- 3 bays
Comments: Grount floor altered roof cornxce
cut for fire escape, common
- facade with #357. Fifth story
- added in 1866,

R L
k363

4/11/1891,
10/31/1891 }
Architect: Leicht § Harrell
Carpenter- Peter Roberts
Mason: Peter Roberts

Commenced:

. Original Owner: Charles Moelzch

Original Function: Store and workshop

Facade:- Brick,. iron, ashlar

6  stories: 4 bays .- -

[

5 windows, 6'BayS on ground flooF . Er :: | ?., o :L" ‘
Some 11ntels and stone bandlng mlss1ng,f' ' ' o ' :
~ ground floor bays f111ed An, '
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228-8 ' 228-9

#371 #373

Commenced: 6/15/1883 Completed: 1824

Completed: 6/31/1884 o Architect: Unknown

Architect: Samuel Warner Original Owner: John R, Murray
Mason: A.C, Walbridge Original Function: Dwelling
Original Owner: 0.J. Walbridge FAcade: Brick, iron

Original Function: Store " 4 stories; 3 windows

Facade: Iron Comments: Altered in 1877, cornice and
S stories; 3 bays lintels added then
228-10

#375

(#301-305 Yest Broadway, northeast corner)

Completed: 1824

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: John R. Murray

Original Function: Dwelling .

Facade: Brick, 'iron

-4 stories; 3 w:ndows

Comments: Mansard roof added in 18605,
Canal Street storefront new.
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CRNSBY STREET

According to an 1797 map of Lower Manhattan, the. portlon of Crosby Street that
is within the Mistoric District had already been laid out as far-as Houston Street
at-that time.” In about 1808 Crosby Street was extended north to Bleecker Street. :

Howard to Grand Street ' ' '
West Side Only in District: .Block 232, Nos. 10-18 .-

None of the four facades.on this block contain a main entrance; the two center
buildings are entered. from Broadway while the corner buildings face Howard and Grand,
respectively. The Crosby .Street facades have been handled in a stralghtforward
utilitarian mammer. -They. are all five stories high and faced with brick. The
most, d15t1nct1ve features are the decorat1ve treatment of the w1ndow 11ntels.

At the southern end of the block is a building, constructed1n 1868. Its
_eleven bays of segmental-erched windows are each topped by a drop 11nte1 w1th a
"keystone., . . - ‘ S

Next come the two bu11d1ngs at Nos. 10 12 and 14 18 wh1ch were’ built s1mu1-
=,taneously in 1876-77 and share a common facade.. Their ground floors, which arc
3ix and nine bays wide respoctlvely, are fronted by simple cast-iron pilasters-and-
connecting panels that are handled in the neo-Grec style. The stone-lintels -

above the square- -headed windows on the four upper floors are trcated 1n a 51m11ar
- manner._ ) . , : - :

The bu11d1ng at. the corner of Grand Qtreet also ut111zes a comblnatlon of
stone and cast iron.on a’ predomlnantly brick facade. 'Due partially to its early -
construction date of 1861, however, the treatment is different from its. southern
neighbors., UWhile most of the facade is handled in a utilitarian fashion with.
simple stone lintels above square¢-headed windows, the section nearest the Grand
Street corner is faced with marble-and set off by quoins. This section, which
continues the Grand Street facade for the distance of one bay, also incorporates
segmental-arched windows with projecting lintels and a cast-iron storefremt. The
only other use of cast iron on the Crosby ground fldor is on the extreme southern
bay which incorporates two Corinthian pllasters on :either - side ‘of cast -iron shutters
which protect a service-entrance. : :

232-21 S .. 232-5

(#30 Howard, northwest corner] - #10-12

Listed on Howard 11 bays on Crosby . - (#444 Broadway)

Comments: Ground floor cornice re- Commenced: 11/6/1876
moved. . Facade treatment differ- Completed: 7/30/1877

ent on Howard Street C " Architect: Schweitzer § Greve
B Oripinal Owner: Edward Mathews
Original Function: Warehouse
Facade: Iron and brick
5 stories; 6 bays
< .. Comments: {444 Broadway, #10-12 Crosby.
. . . C #452 Broadway and #14-18 .Crosby WB'I":@"
‘ < - built as one biuilding.

o+

232+9 | o 232215 ‘
#14-13 . (#129-131 Grand, southwest corner) -
-{#452 Broadway) . C . Listed on Grand. S

Commenced: 11/6/1876 7 bays on Crosby ‘

Completed: 7/30/1877 Comments: Different facade treatment on

" Architect: Schweitzer § Greve Grand Street
Original Owner: Edward HMathews :
Nriginal Function: !arehouse:

Facade: Brick and iron ’
. 5 stories; 9 bays
. Comments:  This building goes through to
#452 Broadway and has a common facade
with #10-12 Crosby.

_';'5_




" Commenced - 9/24/1879

'*gArchltect John Correja .-
-~ Builder: P, Hermann
- Orlglnax Owner: George less &

Orlﬂxnal Function: Store

 Facade: Iron C
6 stories; 6 .bays

T (1476 Broadway)
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CROSBY STREET (Cont'd)

Grand. to Broome'Stfeet'f'

flest Side Only in District: - Block. 473 (west part) Nos. 30 40 ;j

The facades on the uest 31de of thlS block a11 sexve as secondary entrances

. to buildings facing Broadway or Broome Street. With the exception of the iron

facades at the corner of Grand Street and of No. 40 Crosby Street which is the

"back of the Richard Morris Hunt bu1ldlng, the facades on this block are-executed
_ in brick and handled in a simple, functional manner. Three of the five facades
were bu11t in the 18705 whlle the. other two date from 1859 and 1902 03.

; The cast- 1ron facade -at the northwest corner’ of Grand and .Crosby is the rear of

' a building that also faces Broadway (Nos. 462-464 and 466-468) and Grand Street

(No. 120-132.} ' The French Renaissance, character of this 1879- 80 John- Correja
design, discussed in-conhe¢tion with the ‘Broadway facade, is retained, though simpli-
fied, on the Crosby side. ‘The twelve-bay expanse -is flanked and divided on each of

. Ats six stories by .three massive iron piers, As onBroadway and Grand Street,
‘these piers are sub-divided by projecting cornices above the first, third and fifth
. floors and decorated by medallions and geometr:c capital ornamcnts. The main
““distinction between the two treatments is that “the “Ionic -columns that form the bay
"divisions .on -the second through the sixth floors of. the Broadway and Grand sides are
' repIaced by simple Doric -pilasters.on Crosby.. Another simplification is the.

omission on Crosby Street_ .of the decorative friezes and sawtooth moldings between

.. .. floor levels. . But the same ground floor columns are -continued around on this 51de
”'[;of the buildlng. o _ s oo -

Trro- . et

amsys LR LT3

(#462-464 and 466-468 Broadway . e Z #30-36, - -
#120+132 Grand, northwest: -cornery ' Commenced 4/16/1878
- .+ ..., Completed: 8/27/18783
Completed: 5/31/1880 ~ .7 = vs .+ Architect: Wm. Cauvet R
_ . ‘Builder: Van Dolson § Arnott'.
. Original Owner: Levy Bros.

o OriginalgFuﬁction:-Stote
. Facade: Brick and stone,

5 stories; 12 bays . - '

Comments : Through to #472 Broadway

‘J.H. Cossitt . .

473-8 .. .. d I~_:= T T a73-1e
$53 Che 0 mo
: . (#475-482. Broadway)

Commenced : 4/16/1902 Commenced: 6/25/1873

Completed: .2/28/1903
Architect: Robert Maynicke.
Original Owner: Henry Corn
Original Function: Lofts .
Facade: Brick, stone, iron

11 stories: 3 btays

473-18 o
{(#429 Broome, southwest corner)

Listed:On Broome:;. 8 bays op Crosby

Comments: Ground-floor door blockéd up, B
some windows filled in. Different fa- .. - °
cade treatment on ‘Broome Street S

Broome to Sprlng_Street

Completed: 1/31/1874

Architect: Richard Morris Hunt
Original Owner: Roosevelt Hosp.
Original Function: Store
Facade: Iron )

" 5 stories; 3 bays

L

West Side Only in D1str1ct Block 483, Nos 44 72 -

All of the bulldlngs on thls block are handled in a simple ut111tar1an

manner, with the exception of the 1902-03 eleven 5t01y bui1d1ng at No. 68-72
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CROSBY STREET (Cont'd)

I . H ' ‘. ' st . K ’ —
that combines stone, terra cotta and brick in a rather elaborate fashion.

the other buildings combine simple cast-

brick €acade whose high loft windows are topped by plain lintels.

-iron ground floors and cornices with a
The earliest

of these bulldlngs was constructed in 1865, while the other five were built in

the early 1880s,
tic differences can be drawn among them.

Though due to their functional ‘simplicity, practically no stylis-

In addition to these bu11d1ngs, there

'1s a 1952 gas statlon at the corner of Droome and a one- story shed in the middle of

‘ the block

483-35 : -
(436, Broome, northwest corner)

R

433-32

#43

(#502-504 - Broadway]

_Completed: ¢.1830

" Architect: Unknown "

Original Owner: N.S5. Edwards

Original Function: Storage

Facade: Brick, iron, stone

6 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Common facade with #50 and
. #523 ground-floor cornice
m1ss1ng -

483-30

#52 _

(#502-504 Broadway)
Completed: c. ‘1880
‘Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: MNancy Edwards
Ariginal Function: Storage
Facade: Brick, iron, stone

6 stories: 3 bays

| 483-7..
C T #44-46 DR
T (#502- 504 Broadway)

Completed:s 1868~

*“Architect : “Utiknown

Original Nwner: C.G, Gunther

Original Function: Storage

Facade: Brick, iron, stone

5 stories: 9- bays

Comments: Ground-floor cornice gone
Iron from D.D. Badner

433-31

#50

(#502-504 Broadway)

Completed: c. 1380

Architect: Unknown

Oririnal Owner: John Jackson

Original Function: Storagpe

Facade: Brick, iron, stone

6 stories; 3 bays

Comments: Common facade with #48 and #52;
fround floor cornice m1851ng

483-29
#54
1-story shed

Comments: Common facade wlth #4383 and #50-

ground-floor cornice missing:

433-11

#56-58 .
(#512-514 Broadway)
Commenced: 8/8/1381
Completed: 8/31/13882
Architect: Lamb § Wheeler

Original Owner: DeForest § Perkins

Original Function: Store

Facade: Brick, iron, stone

6 stories: 6 bays

Comments: Ground-floor windows
bricked in, ground-floor
cornice missing

483-17
- #68-72
(#524-528 Broadway,
#80-86 Spring, northwest corner)
Listed on Broadway
4 bays, 8 windows on Crosby

433-13/23

"#60-66

(#516 Broadway)

Commenced: 8/8/1881

Completed: 8/31/1882 -

Architect: Lamb & “heeler:

Original Owner: L1V1npston, DeForest &
Perkins - =~

Driginal Function: Stores. and storaoe

Facade: Brick, stone, iron

6 stories; 12 bays

] T
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_ CROSBY STREET(Cont'd)

Spring to Prince Street -~
West Side'Only in.District'

'!hlbck-497' Nos. 78-104

- The constructlon dates of the buildings on th1s block span the four decades
£rom the- 1850s' through the 1880s, the period during which the District experienced

its greatest rate of growth,

Although the hu11d1ngs vary widely in date as well

as height (they currently range from one to six stories), they still form a

cohesive unit.

This is due in large part to the simplicity of the facades and the

fact that they combine brick upper stories with cast-iron ground-floor pilasters.
With the exception of No. 90, which has been razed to its first level leaving
only the cast-iron storefront, the buildings have simple, tall loft windows -

topped by stone lintels,

. No.. 92, however, varies the pattern by having on the

" second; floor Italianate- type round-arched windows which are separated by stone

pilasters and c¢apped by arched. lintels and keystones.

This building, completed in

1853, has however square-headed. loft windows on its upper two floors, a femestration
“treatment that would have only been used on the simplest, utilitarian Italianate

des1gns.

497- 31 : ' '
(#79-81 Spring, northwest corner)
Listed on Spring :

14 bays -on Crosby

497-9

. #80-88

. (#548 Broadway)

Commenced: 1866

Architect: John Correja

riginal Owner: Stethar Nichols
Original Function: Storerooms
Facade: Brick, stone, iron

5 stories; 13 bays

Comments: Roof cornice missing at

#86, There is also a one-

story extension to #88.

497-13

#92 o

(#554 Broadway) .-
Completed: 1853 R

- Architect:Unknown 2
Original Owner: Gardner A.. Sage :
“Original Function: Stores
Facade: Brick and stone
. 4 stories; 4 bays” ..

497-18

#98-104 _

(#560-566 Broadway, :
72-78 Prince, southwest corner)
Listed on Broadway -

12 bays on Crosby

Comments: Three separate facade treat-

ments

497-7

#73 _ :

(#540 Broadway) : B
Completed: 1886 o '
Architect: Unknown -

Original Owner: Thomas Lewis :
Original Function: Store and warehouse
Facade: Brick and iron

iS5 stories; 3 bays-

497-12

#90

{#552 Broadway) S

Comnleted: c¢. 1878

Architect: Unknown _

Original. Owner: Unknown

Original Functlon Storage

Facade: Iron )

1 story; 4 bays .

Comments This is the remaining ground
floor of a.cut down building.

497-15
#94-96
(#5538 Broadway) . -
Completed: ¢. 1870

- Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: John Lawrence
Original Function: Storage
Facade: Brick, iron

2 stories: 6_bays
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CROSBY STREET (Cont *d)

Prince to East Houston Street
West Side Only iIn District: Block 511 Mos. 106-140

When look1ng north along this block, the first four buildings strongly over-
power the remaining two. This is due both to their twelve-story height and the
fact that they occupy 84 per cent of the block frontage. A wide spread in con-
struction dates is also apparent on this block, in that these twelve-story skyscra-
pers were all built between 1895 and 1898 while the six-story office building at
No. 134-136 was constructed in 1883-84 and the one-story garage at No. 138-140 dates
from 1964.

Disregarding this modern garage, architectural comparisons and contrasts
can be drawn among the other structures. The three southernmost buildings, Nos.
106-110, 112-122 and 124-130, all incorporate the system of horizontal and vert1ca1l
d1V1sxons typical of early skyscrapers This involves the use of flat brick piers,
often extending the total height of the building, that separate either single
or multiple sets of windows. The horizontal divisions are achieved by the use of
projecting cornices placed above the first, third and ninth floors on all of these.
buildings, with Nos. 112-122 and 124-130 havxng an additional division above the
- second floor. All of the windows and bays on these buildings are square-headed
with the exception of the three central double-bays on No. 112-122 which are arched.
These structures are relatively complex in contrast to the 1897-93 twelve-story
building at No. 132 and the 1883-84 six-story structure at No. 134-136, both of
which have simple window divisions similar to the ~ther utilitarian structures
characteristic of those on the other blocks on Crosby Street. '

511-6/8/10

511-1
#106-110 #112-122 .
{#568-578 Broadway, - _ (#580-590 Broadway)
69-33 Prince, northwest corner) Commenced: 7/28/1397
Listed On Broadway Completed: 6/17/1898
6 bays, 12 windows on Crosby Architect: Buchman § Deisler

511-12

#124-130 .

(#594-596 Broadway)

Commenced: 5/5/1897

Completed: 5/4/1898

Architect: Buchman § Deisler
Original Owner: Jexemiah Lyons .
Original Function: Store,. office
Facade: Brick and iron

12 stories; 10 bays .

511-16

#134-136

(#600-602 Broadway)
Commenced: 3/14/1883
Completed: 1/31/18384
Architect: Samuel Warner
Carpenter: McGuire § Sloan
Mason: John Masterton
Original OQwner: Elizabeth Aldrich
Nriginal Function: Store

- Facade: Iron, brick, stone
"6 stories: 6 bays

Original Qwner: John Ames
Original Function: Stores
Facade: Brick, iron, stone
12 stories; 16 bays

511-1§
#132
Commenced : 4/19{1897
Completed: 2/27/1898
 Architect: Robert Maynicke
Original Owner: Henry Corn :
Original Function: Mercantile Building
Facade: Brick
12 stories; 3 bays :
Comments: Roof cornice missing

511-19

#138-140

{Southwest corner, East Houston)
Completed: 10/7/1964

Architect: Jacob and Donald Fisher
Original Owner: Clara Golden
Original Function: Garagpe

Facade: Metal

1 story; 2 bays

~79~



SH-CI 'HD

GRAND STREET -

frand Street, previociisly known as Road to Crouwn Point, ' was laid out prior to
1766. Although the name of the original portion of ‘the street was officially
changed to Grand in 1767, the section west of Broadway was frequently referred to
as Meadow Street up to 1799 ‘In 1804 the Common Council of New" York gave the1r
approval to have the street regulated and developed.

. Unlike the other cross -town streets of the District, the bu11d1ng numbers on
. Grand Street Un from west to east rather than from east to west.

oA

Mest Broadway to Wooster Street

The construction dates for buildings on thi block span nearly three-fourths
of the nineteenth century, ranging chronoloplcaliy from the two Federal houses at
Nos. 57 and 59 (later altered for commercial purposes to four stories), ‘to the
seven-story neo-Classic office building complex at Nos. 60, 62 and 64 that dates
from 1895-96. Although this latter building is not unusually 'tall for its date,
it is the highest on the block. The remaining structures, which range from two to,
five stories, were all built in the 1880s in-the neo-Grec style.

_ South Side: Block.228; Nos. 53-69 °

228-22 : _ 228-23

#53 : #55
. "{#331-335 Y. B'way, southeast corner)_’ Commenced: 6/26/1882
Listed on ‘est Broadway -+ ‘Completed: “10/28/1882
‘2 bays on Grand ' o “Architect: Um. Jose '

Carpenter: J. Daly .-
' Mason: Mathew Powers
Nriginal Nuner Grant’ Levy
‘Original Function: Store
‘ Facade: Brick, iron, stone
Coe . . 3 stories; 3 wlndows

. 228-24 | 228-25 | B

#57 . _#59

Commenced: 1825 S “Commenced: ‘1825 o

Completed: 1826 ' o Completed: 1826

Architect: Unknown . ' Architect: ‘Unknown _

Original Owner: Ferris Pell . '~ - | Original Owner: Ferris Pell '

Original Function: Dwelling ~ . .- , Oripinal Function- Dwelling

Facade: Brick and iron ", “'Facade- "irick and iron N

4 stories; 3 windows ‘ - 4 stories; 3 windows L

Comments: This building was raised Comments This building was raised to 4
to 4 stories in 1891 - o storles by, 1892 A

228-30 C

#61-69

(#27 Yooster, southwest corner)
PARKING LOT '

Horth Side: Block 475 (west part) Nos. 54- 70 .

Nos. 60, 62 and 64 form’ an 1mpressxve threenbu11d1ng unit that was designed
by Cleverdon & Putzel and erected in 1895-96. ‘These thrée structures, which are
each seven stories high and four bays wide, are constructed of brick with iron and
terra-cotta orhamentation in a manner typical of the neo-Tlassical commercial towers:
of the 1890s. The facades of the two outer buildings, Nos. 60 and 64, are identical,
while the central building is different in detailing though not in feeling. This
diversity is handled in a completely symmetrical manner and in no way detracts
from the cohesivehess of the three-building unit.
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GRAND STREET (Cont'd)’

The storefronts, which. afe idéntlcal on all three bu11d1nos ore"suoported by
extremely narrow thouah deep cast-iron pilasters. These pilasters are topped by

., -an iron frieze out11ned by..an ‘egg-and-dart molding and decorated with rosettes and .
leaf ornaments. ‘Similar cast-iron p1lasters are used to separate the upper window .. - .

bays except on the seventh’ floor.

The two identical facades, at Nos. 60 and 64 are .each flanked by pseudo qu01ned
piérs that are interrupted only below the seventh floors.by cornices projecting
above terra-cotta plaques. The remaining floors are. separated horizontally by
elaborate floriated terra-cotta friezes that extend between the side piers. - The ..
seventh stories are composed of round-arched w1ndows and stone columns rather.than
square-headed w1ndows and iron pilasters, as found on the lower floors. The tops
.of these two upper floors are embellished by terra-cotta friezes incorporating a .
;epeated mask wotif, above’ which are set deep iron corn1ces supported on modllllon _

locks. . ' - ; _ L BT

_ The lower floors of the central bu11d1ng are handled in a sxnpler manner. .
The s1de piers are completely smooth and the second through fifth floors are topped .
by simple narrow terra-cotta bandings. The upper three floors are separated by
simple friezes formed by an ornamental brick pattern. The top floor of No. 62,
‘however, provides a strong central emphasis for the three-building group with a
pediment perched on two capped brackets above projecting brick pilasters.  On either
side of the pilasters, which flank paired windows, are similar pilaster-and-bracket
units that form the two outside bays. :

No. 68~ ?0 is an impressive neo Grec cast-iron bu11d1ng located at ‘the .north-
east corner of Grand and.Wonster. . This 1886-87 structure is the work of George - _
DaCunha who was also- the architect for the buildings at Mos. 72 and 74 Grand Street .
and 31 Greene Street. O0Of the four works. by DaCunha remaining in .the District, only
No. 68-70 has a unique design. ..{The other three buildings were nearly identlcal to
one another.) This lack of originality may well be. explained by the fact that
DaCunha was a builder as well as an architect. .(He was listed in the Building
Department Dockets of . 1877 as, bexnp the builder of No. 89 Grand Street, designed
by Milliam Hume. The previous yeéar he had been listed as architect of No. 3I.

Greene Street,) Such a builder-architect would have tended to rely on stock cast-
iron pieces and concentrated his efforts on bu11d1ng techniques rather than or1g1-
nality in design. .._:?;. e

Yet, even if DaCunha s de51gns are frequently repetitive, they are all attrac-'
tive examples of the neo-Grec, style. No. 68-70 is a five-story. bu11d1ng with a '
width of six bays on its Grand ‘Street: cast-iron facade. (The Wooster facade has
only two bays fronted by cast. 1ron,,the remainder being brick.) The storefront,
though greatly altered, still retains.its original pilasters which have stylized
capitals and are partially fluted on .their upper section.. Although incorporating .
the same elements, the end and center pilasters are slightly wider than the 1nter-
_ mediates. .The, same formula, with minor modifications, is also carried out on.
the four upper floors The floors are separated by cornices.vwhich are given added
emphasis by the use of styllzed terminal blocks above each of the three major
pilasters. The building is capped by a high cornice line which rests upon pa1red
concave brackets placed above the three wide pilasters.

Lot
]

475-1 o S 475-33

#54-58. - C #60.

(#337 W, B'way, northeast corner) -,Commonced 4/20/1895

Listed. on West Broadway - . Completed: ‘4/29/1896 -

6 bays on Grand ... - . . . .7 ;. Architect: Cleverdon § Putzel"

.Comments: Ground floor f111ed 1n '~ .. Original OQwner: John Clark.
. . ) . . S Orlglnal Funct1on Store.
e . o . ..Pacade: Iron, brick, terra cotta, stone
Co e o .. ... . . 7.stories; 4 bays . -
oL ... ... . . Comments:-Joint: facade Wlth #62 and #64
Lol L 1dent1ca1 to #64 . L
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475-32 . 475-31 S L

#62 - ‘ - ficd e L
Commenced: 4/20/1895 ‘ ' © © Commenced: 4/20/1895 S
~Completed: 4/29/1896 _ "~ -Completed: 4/29/1896 . SR
Architect: Cleverdon § Putzel = =~ . "Architect: Cleverdon & Putzel
Original Owner: John Clark = - - Original Owner: John Clark ..
- Original Function: Store R Original Function: Store -
Facade: Iron, brick, terra cotta, stone Facade: Iron, br1ck terra cotta, stone
-7 stories; 4 bays 7 stories; 4 bays

Cowments Joint facade w1th #60 and #64 Comments: Joint facade with #60 and #62,
: . identlcal to #60 ) R ' i

475-3'0 “ ' R © 47528

#66 , #68-70 ' ' !
Commenced: 6/4/1884 a (#29 tfooster, northwest corner)

Completed: 1/30/1885 ' ‘ - Commenced: 4/29/1886 Lt N

Architect: V. U, Hume - - ' Completed: 1/24/1887. ~ : ‘
Original Owner: Helina Asinare ° ' Architect: George DaCunha A,

Original Function: 'Business purposes Original . Owner: Morris S, Hermann

Facade: Iron - Original Function: Store '

5 stor1es, 3 bays - -. Facade: Iron from Llndsay & Grafe Ironworks
Comments ' Some ornament m1551ng, C S stories; 6 bays '

ground floor altered : Comments Ground floor f111ed in

Wooster to Greene Street ' ) r Y |

The buildings which line the two sides-of this block date primerily from the
1870s and 1880s, the period during which the area was at its peak of development.
The only other structures are the 1907 building at No. 75-77 and a mid-20th century’
taxpayer at No. 76. Although three large buildings on the south side of the.block
have masonry facades, cast-iron 15 st111 the predomlnant bu11d1ng matexial to be
seen in this block. .~ . :

South Side: Block . 229 Nos. 71-87 . X | B,

No. 71-73 Grand Street in conjunction with HNo, 28 30 Iboster Street, -form an
impressive and powerful corner. facade interpreted in a neo-Grec manner. Although
the three-bay section of the building, which is numbered-No. 73 Grand, was.built in
1879, the cormer section was not added until 1888. It appears from alteration
records that Mortimer C. Merritt, who was the architect for both the original con-
struction and the 1888 addition, added a completely new iron facade to the. ex1st1nh
portion at the time that he extended the building.

The ground floor of this four-story building is divided'by evenly spaced
fluted Corinthian columns that rest on panelled bases. Between these columns are
large plate glass show windows above molded spandrel panels. The ground floor is
separated from the second level by a projecting cornice, as are -all of the remaining
floors. Each of these cornices is partitioned by decorat:ve blocks which orlglnally
appeared at the end of the building, between the third and fourth bays. and in paired
groups on either side of the corner diagonal bay. (Today, several of these blocks
are missing.) The bays on each of the floors are framed by smooth pilasters that
are topped by stylized neo-Grec capitals that incorporate a paired stemmed motif
in relief. An incised floral pattern also appears above each column., A final
accent is achieved by the use of relief panels placed above the fourth floor. They
serve as a transition to the crowning cornice that incorporates paired, elongated
brackets above each column and similarly elongated modillions.

No. 83-87 is the Grand Street side of the 1872 building at the southwest corncr
of Greene Street that was designed by William Hume for James Fisher. The nine-
bay cast-iron facade on Grand Street of this five-story building is handled in a
modified neo-Grec manner, identical to that on the Greene Street facade. The four
lower floors of the building are outlined- by quoins which are repeated as a demar-
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cation between the westerly three .bay unit,an addition added in 1883, and the re-
maining six bays. On the fifth floor, these quoins are replaced by panelled piers,
topped by brackets. :The bays on the, ground floor are separated by cast-iron
Corlnthlan columns, ‘fluted on their lower section, above which is.a modillioned
cornice, " ‘The rema1n1ng four. floors, each separated by a pro;ectlng cornice, repeat
a uniform bay. treatment consisting of smooth shafted columns with capitals that are
~ decorated by three small evenly .spaced rosettes. The cohesive unity of this facade
--is-appropriately accénted .at.the roof line by a curved pediment, enframing the build-
ing date "'1872", over.the:central two bays of the orisinal part of the bulldlng and
"brackets above the. remalnlng columns. -Between the brackets .are frieze panels and

modillions. T -
229-20 ' o 229-22
#TL-T3000 = 0 v #75-77 ;
(#23-30 Yooéster, southeast corner) B Completed: 1907 SR
Commenced: 3/17/1879 .-: :.x .. .  Architect: Unknown ' ..
Completed: 7/29/1879 .- © - . Original Owner: F.. Schlrcharth
Architect: Mortimer:C. Merritt . . : . Original Funtion: Store and loft’
Nriginal Owner: .M: Eisemamm = - Facade: Stone and iron e -
o - Original 'Function: Store and loft 6 stories; $ triple windows: .. N
Facade: Iron sEA »  Comments: Roof cornice missing, ground floor
4 storeis; 6 bays P ' ' ornament missing, window ornament mis-

Comments: The above dates are for the sing. Iron from George H. Toop Iron
'#73 section. In 1888, the building YWorks ST
was extended to the corner, the
#71 section. The alt. archltect

Jhe Y wase also Merritt, °
R AL PO LI R . ’ . * e
35?"'229 24 R T T o 2292250 0 oL e
as L #79 o e o \"ﬁa_“lﬁ*.,#Sl . SRR .
+u «{(Commenced :: 6/24/1889 Sor <" Commenced: 1/7/1885 :.
Completed: 1/31/1890 ~ . ~- . . Completed: 7/9/1885 -
Architect: Oswald Wirz Architect: Schwazmann § Buchanan
Builder: J. G. Wallace Carpenter: John F. Moore
Original Owner: S, F. § T. 8. Shortland Mason: J. § L. Weber - o
_ Original Function: Store Original Owner: George Theiss ~
e Facade ‘Brick, iterra cotta, stone = - ‘Original Function: Store ' .~
' ‘5 -stories;-4 bays-- - . i .. .. - Facade: Brick, stone, iron - o .
g 'CommentS"Ground -£loor- partlally . 5 stories; 3 bays " S
: brlcked ‘in” v o .
nncf e _ T
© 229-26 7 coT L . L e T
#83-87 | S e L N
(Southwest corner Greene) ' ' . ' :

. Comménced: 6/3/1872 B AT S A ST
“Completed: 10/30/1872 T st cotar
' _‘i f~Arch1tect: Wi Hume:: T T . T i Coa
B 3'”Bu11der Lodis Scudder” ™ . - AR
' ‘Origindl Owner: James Fisher. e Lo
~Original’ Functlon Store :
= »Facade Iron “from Llndsay, Grafe
SRR Meguler S
o “5 stor1es '9 bays T T e
~: "Comménts::-The ‘section’ at #83 is.an 1883 eoor
é“ﬁ% . .“t7iextension to the 1872 building. T
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North Side: Block 475 (east part), Nos. 72-88

475-61 o I 475-60, ;

#72 : 474

(#36-38 wboster northeast corner) Commenced: 6/29/1885

Commenced: 8/27/1885 _ , Completed: 1/28/1806

Completed: 5/22/1886 ' Architect: George DaCunha

Architect: George DaCunha ' ‘Original Owner: Ambrose Kingsland
Original Owner: Wm. W. Winans ‘ - Original Function: Store

Original Function: Store L .. Facade: Iron

Facade: Iron . 5. stories; 3 bays

1 story; 3 bays . Comments: This facade is identical to #31

" Comments: Building cut from S stories Greene Street.
in 1938. Originally, it must | -

have been very similar to Mo. 74 Lo
" and No. 31 Greene Street in style. .. .

475-59 - | ' 475-58

#76 | 178

Completed: 1955 . - Commenced: 8/26/1881
Function: Taxpayer Completed: 12/30/1832
Facade: Brick o Architect: Robert Mook

1 story; 2 bays . . DOriginal Nwner: F, A. Xursheedt

S ' S Aripinal Function: Stoye

. Facade: Iron, from Lindsay, Grafe § Meguier
5 stories' 3 bays

475-56 -

#30-88 .

(#33-35 Greene, northwest corner)

Commenced: 4/25/1873

Comnleted: 12/23/1873

Architect: B. . Warner

Builder: Weeks Bros.

Original Owner: Alexander J. Cotherl

Original Function: Store

Facade: Iron and stone

5 stories; 12 bays

Comments: Ground floor partlally
bricked in.

Greene to Mercer Street

Six of the nine buildings on this block date from the 1860s, which is an un-
"usually high percentage for that decade on Grand Street., Two of these early build-
ings, Nos. 91 and 93 which were desisned jointly by J. B. Snook in 1869, have the
only fully cast-iron facades on the block. All others, however, incorporate small

amounts of cast iron. Wos. 95 and 104, dating from the early luBOs, are Roman-
esque in character, while the bu11d1nps from the 1860s reflect a French Renaissance
. flavor and the building from 1377 located at No. 89 echoes the neo-Grec mode .,

. South Side: Block 230, Nos. 89-105

i . 91 and 93 thounh two separate bulldlngs, share the same four-story

cast- 1ron facade d1v1ded merely by a break in the roof cornice. They were both
designed in 1869 by J. B. Snook. An unusually simple treatment was employed in
fabricating this facade which has a total width of forty feet (twenty feet per
building,)} upon which there are spaced six windows on each floor of the two-building
unit. The storefront is divided into bays by slender panelled pilasters that are
capped by stylized Doric capitals. The openings between these pilasters allow for
doors which are placed within the central bay of each of the three-bay units and a
large show window in each of the side bays. The three upper stories, which are
separated from the storefront by a projecting cornice, are handled in a manner
very unusual for cast iron, especially during this perlod Rather than imitating
an intricate Italianate or French Second Empire marble facade, Snook used cast iron
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GRAMD STREET (Cont 'd)

on this huildine to copy a far simmler vernacular structure with ashlar walls,
rierced by.segmental-arched wlndows and topped by a sinmple cornice. Since a mason-
ry bearing wall was necessary in any case to, support such a cast-iren facade, it
would seem that the use of simple stone blocks and stone lintels and sills would
have been as qu:ck and as cheap to build as this cast 1ron s1mu1ation. o

.230“é5" Do T aanlae

.}'#89 T L IR #o1 |
' (#36 G“eene, southeast_corner) ' yr00nmenced 7/12/1869
“Commenced':5/21/1877 o Completed: 11/30/1869 '
Completed: 10/25/1877 J-Architect: J. B. Snook
. Architect: Wm, Huine Original Owner: S. Childs
“'Builder: G. Y. DaCunha x Or1g1na1 ‘Function: Store’ )
Original Owner: Rosalie Steinhardt . - Facade: Iron from J. L. Jackson Iron 'brks
Original Function: Store . ‘ ;;'4 stories; 3 bays
'Facade: Iron, brick, stone . «Comments: Joint facade with #93 !
5 stories; 3 bays LT : B
230-27. - . 230-28
#93 C ‘ T #95 .
Commenced : ?/12/1869 ': T Completed: 1882
Coripleted: 1173071868 - Architect: Unknown
.. Architect! J. B. Snook Original Owner: ¥. Boyd
"~ Original Owneér:John D. Wendel Original Function: Store ,
Original Function:: Store . ' Facade: Brick and iron
Facade: Iron from J. L. Jackson S stories; 4 windows
Iron Yorks ‘ T
4 stories; 3 bays o
Comments: Joint facade with #91 . - T .
230-30
#97-105 '

(#35 Mercer, southwest corner)
Completed: 1867

Archaitect: Unknown

Original dwner: Amos Eno . -
Nriginal Function: Store
Facade: Stone and iron

5 stories; 11 bays

Ndrtﬁ S{dé: Blde 4?4 (&eéi part), 'ﬁos.‘903104

1

o No 90-94 is a handsome fivé-story stome structure located on ‘the northeast

. corner of Grand and Greene Street. This 1867 bulldlng, 'which incorporates a cast-

iron storefront supported by Corinthian ‘columns, is an outstanding example of the
‘transitional style from the Italianaté to Frénch modes that was typical of the period
"as a whole and spec1fically of Griffith Thomas, the architect for this building.

In this design Thomas used a broad character1stica11y Italianate pediment atop the
bracketed roof cornice and recessed panels below the second story windows that sim-
ulate balustrades. The segmental-arched windows on each of the nine bays of the
upper . floor, are, however, a distinctively French feature. Other stylistic elements
.of the bu11d1ng are the 51mp1e Doric pilasters separatxng ‘each bay, cornices sepa-

' ratlng ‘each floor lewel and qu01n 11nes flank1ng the Grand Street facade.

Ly . e
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474-26 L
' #90-94 - P

(#38-40 Greene, northeast corner)

Commenced: 1867 o

Architect: Griffith Thomas RN

Original Owner: Ann Howard, leased to
D. ‘Appleton §& Co N

Original Function Store and ware- ;j

house

Facade: Stone and iron-

5 stories; 9 bays

Comments: Iron from Michol G
Billerwell Iron orks

474-22

- #100-102

Commenced: 1368
Architect B. ¥, Warner
Original Owner: Elliot Cowdin

“Original Function:- Store and loft -
..Facade: Marble, ashlar, iron ‘
-6 stories; 6 bays -

Comments: Ground floor filled in.
Joint facade with #96-98 except

. - for addition of one story and

back of an attic

Mercer Street to Braodw_y

474-22

#9698
- Commenced :. 1868

Architect: 8. W Warner

.. Original Owner: Elliot Cowdin: " N
“*Original Function: Store and loft '
" Facade Marble, ashlar, iron T

5 stories with attic; 6 bays

: ~ Comments: Ground' £loor partially. filled in

Joint facade with #100-102 except for
height and ‘attic treatment: o

474521 . Al :,‘i;uﬂf

w108 .

(#37 Mercer, northwest corner)
Commenced: 8/22/1883
Completed: 1/31/1984

* " ..Architect: Julius Kashner °
'“‘Original Owner . James ‘Bearns .
" Original Function Store -

Facade: Brick, iron, store
S stories; 3 bays

]
N i

‘ Currently, the only two build:ngs on this block of Grand Street are those which
occupy the ertire south side; the north side is a gigantic’ parking lot with a ..
depth of over one hundred feet The block still commands ones attention, however,
through the power of the facades .on the ‘south.” The '1881-82 building-at the corner

" of Mercer, executed in a modified French classical style, covers 87 feet, while the

remaining 113 feet  of the ‘block are occupied by the Grand Street facade of a five-
story corner building executed in 1360 =61, o ) o

. . ol . [T B A . .
.' Do [N . . ' . e

'South Side Block 231 (north part) Nos. 107 119

No.. 115 119 the Grand Street’ 51de of a building which also faces No. 459-461

:Broadway, 1s an- impressive late Italianate stone structure which.was. designed by
" Thomds Suffein‘and erected in 1860-61.

'With the excéption'of the ground floor

storefront, which has been completely altered: within Tecent’ years, the thirteen
bays on éach of the four upper floors are treated with a ‘repetition of round-arched -
windows framed by smooth shafted engaged columns with stylized Composite capitals..
Only the windows of the end and center bays are emphasized by means of a frame of
rusticated masonry. - These bays are further accented by the use of pilasters’ .
rather than columns, which are flanked on the fifth floor in a distinctive manner
by panelled stoneé piers " Other facade élaborations include modified brackets below
‘each  column at .the third and fourth:floor levels and 'a row of dentils at the fifth.
The building is terminated by a handsome sténe cornice sqpported on szmple paired
brackets w1th frieze panels and closely spaced dentils B P oo

[ LAY}
LA
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" 8 stories;’ 13 ba?s:r“;: :
Comments: The ‘thrée bays sectlon

Broadway to Crosby Street - . . ;':g G,

“"use, of Roman. brlck and terra cotta on .the.. turn-of the century commerclal tower, |

' in 1861 located at. .the southwest corner of" Grand and- Crosby ‘that was designed by
Daroan unknown archltect The six-bay-width, of . the Grand Street. facade utilizes-cast
‘iron for the storefront and stone faclng for: the four upper ‘floors, while, the

SH-CI 1D

GRAND STREET (Cont'd) _ N
231-26 : S .l .¥n 231230 RS .
#107-113 w0 #115-119 .
(#32 Mercer, southeast corner) oo (#4592461- B'way, southwest corner)
Commenced : 6/21/1881 S S0 Commenced: 1860 o - -
Completed: S/32f1882 Sty oL Completed: 1861. _ g SO
~Architect’ Thomhs Stentii- -:* o+ - .- Architect: Unknown »ﬁ' i
Builder: Mare’ Eidlttz ?*f‘" K . Original Owner: Thomas: Suffeln
Original Owner:’ %m. Astof: - S Original. Function:- Store ,;,- T
* . Original’ Function:.Store ~." -)... . Facade: Stone and iron e
i Facadés Irom, brick, .$toné- “&‘- 5 stories; 13 bays- . - - A

nearest Mercer was added in 1899: [ T
the top 2 floors were added in ' o :
1906. Iron from Heurelmann & - ' ' o
Co. Iron Works : .';' _ ' _ Sl it

North Side Block 474 (east part) Nos 106118 o _:;;-v.,

The vacant, lot wh1ch fllls the»north side:. of th1s block .is the prev1ou5 loca-
tion of the. elegant 1853-59 -Lord: & Taylor store designed by Griffith Thomas. which
rema1ned standlng unt11 November 19 1960 when it was destroyed by f1re.

) .: ‘_.‘:. . ] - E .\--“ REETE PR
474-38 to 45 . Shoh L e
#106-118 , Ce
(Northeast corner HMercer, :
northwest corner Broadway)
PARKING LOT

e . e »—» e r\ ':.r- e £ . , :"1“ :' - ., ] " o R i Jl

- o e |
Th1s block is characterlzed by d1versxty.-lts oldest bu11d1ng, No. 125 :
'dates from' the Federal. ‘period, while its immediate netghbor, No. 123, was completed

.in 1896, Another -early structure No.. 127, was built: in 1835-36 in a modified

Greek Rev1va1 manner and is one of only two Greek Revival structures left within the
Historic District. The remaining bu11d1ngs_on the block date from 1861 and 1879-80.

In addition to this spread -of dates, there is variety in building sizes and

- facade materials, None of the buildings are the same height, even though Nos. 125

tand 127 both have four stories. (The floor heights of No..127.are proportionately
‘Kigher. ] The. others are five, $ix and.nine stories tall.. Only one of. the five
*.buildings on the block is fronted ‘entirely. by cast iron, while’ the four masonry
~structures range from the .simple brick. treatment of. the two early bu11d1ngs to ‘the’

’.“_ - epe . - . B . R .- . _‘_

T _"-, PR . ' '.l».
i

South Szde Block 232, Nos 123- 131 ,_.;";J_ .}.“,5; i

No 129 131 1s .a stately f1ve story French Renalssance structure completed |

seven bays on the Crosby Street side is 51mp1y executed in brick except for the first
bay from the corner which is a continuation of the main facade, The panelled
pilasters of the cast-iron storefront each have a Corinthian capital and three
applled medallions, a formula very common for the perlod The stone upper facade

is effective though simple in its use of flanking quoins and evenly spaced seg-
mental-arched windows -with plain lintels and-sills. The cast-iron cornice rests
upon floriated brackets that are pa1red at the side and the center and single above
the intermediate piers. The cornice is further ornamented by simple block modillionf
and frieze panels between the brackets '
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232-12

#123

(#458 B'way, southeast corner)
Listed on B'way

21 bays on Grand

232-14

#127

Commenced: 1334

Completed: 1835

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: James Vincent
Original Function: Dwelling
Facade: Brick and iron

-4 stories; 3 windews

232-13

#125

Commenced: 1825

Completed: 1826 -

Architect: Unknown :
Original Owner: Thomas T. Woodruff
Original Function: Dwelling
Facade: Brick and iron

4 stories; 4 windows

232-15

#129-131

(#20 Crosby, southwest corner)

Completed: 1861

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: Henry Cruger

Original Function: Store

Facade: Stone and iron

5 stories; 6 bays - /

Comments: Ground floor cornice covered
with sign

North Side: Block 473, (west part) Nos. 120-132

473-1
#120-132

(#462-468 B'way, northeast corner,-

northwest corner Crosby)
Listed on B'way and Crosby
24 bays on Grand
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GREENE_STREET

Greene Street, originalily surveyed in 1787, was named after the Revolution~ ..

ary War hero, General Nathaniel Greene. !t begins in what was originally the
Adthony Rutgers and Abi jah Hammond Farms and continues through the Nicholas
Bayard West Farm and then out of the District, [t was opened for development
in the first decade of the nineteenth century. '

Cangf to_Grand Street

in all but a few instances, the buildings on'both sides of the block have
cast-iron facades and, without exception; there are cast-iron details on every
building, The dominant influences seen in these buijdings originate in various
French.styles. Ailmost half of the structures were erected in the early 1870s;
most of the rest in the late 1870s and earily 1880s. Owe building is as early as

1869 and one as late as 1894-95,

West Side: Block 229, Nos, |5-31

No, 23-2§: is-a striking five-story building, execu+ed'iﬁ,a der ivative
French Renaissance manner crowned by a pediment set directly over the two

central bays, The various cast=iron moldings are executed with degree of boid- -

ness, giving a strong, aimost regal character to the:building, The, bays are
separated by partially fluted projecting columns, each topped by a stylized
Gorinthian capital. The perfect symmetry of the cornice line and pediment
accent the uniform character of the building without destroying its formality.
Although the brackets and modillions are ralatively heavy, their designs. are
simple and do not overpower the rosettes in the center of the. frieze panels,

The architect, |, F. Duckworth, was responsible for two other buildings
{(Nos, 28-30 and 32) across the street. ‘He created for each building an atmos~
phere worthy of a great commercial palace, but in this specific case. it was

~ achieved with fewer elaborations,

No. 3| is a building that is of interest not only-for:fts fine detailing in
the neo-Grec manner, but also for its documentation, -The February 24, 1877
issue of American Architect and Building News carried two plates showing the

etevation and detaiis for this cast-iron facade, These i}lustrations, published -

four.months after the completion of the building, are exact.in every detail.
An interesting discrepancy arises concerning the architect.. Although George W,

. DaCunha was listed as the architect in the City Dockets, G, W. Romeyn was
~credited with the design'in Amerjcan Architect and Building News. The DaCunha

attribution 'is supported, however,by the fact that he designed a twin facade at

" No, 74 Grand Street in 1885-86,

Regardless of its designer, this iron facade is both pleasing and impress-

ive, The three square-topped bays on each of the five floors are separated by
slender free-standing coliumns with Corinthian capitals and modified entablature
blocks, The building is flanked by pilasters accented by neo-Grec torminal
blocks at the cornice level between each fiocor, A striking effect is created
on the entablature by the repeated motif of a.rosette alternating with a narrow:
concave bracket, . o

The future of No, 3| Greene STree?bappears to be endangered, The building,

~which is in a sad state of disrepair, is currently for sale or rent,
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"GREENE STREET (cont'd,)

229-1 e e f‘ 229436 ¢

#7113 - & ‘ L RIS T e
- Orlglnal bun!ﬁlng demolished o+ Commenced: -9/5/1894 © [
‘ﬁnow & parknng {ot.- RS . ‘Completed: 7/25/1895 =
_ S e s Abchitects Samuel A, Warner.
Carpenter: Samuel| McGuire .

' : Mason: Richard. Dervas & Son
‘ ' Original Owner: Presbytery of New York,
o Warren Van~Nordéh Ireasurer
R L T . Original Function: Waiehousg;, i -
T i e 0 e Facade: ron, from Corneil tron Works
- R 6 stories; 6 bays-
fCommenTs- Good- qondlfroq, doors and

et kL T e ground floor”wlndows replaced
- . . = . . N
229-34 ' \ 229 32 .
#19-21 . #23-25 X ' :
Commenced: 10/20/1871 . Commenced: 7/10/1872 -
Completed: 4/29/1872 ‘ Completed: 2/28/1873 -

' - Archifect::Henry Fefnbach' -~ - . " Architect: {. F. Duckworth . _
Builder: Joséph Thompson ' " - " Original’ Owner- J. E, Hyams e
Original Owner: Simon Strahlheim - -Original ‘Function: Store and warehouse,
Original Func*lon' STore & warehousa * Facade: |ron; . from Aefna*!ron Works

. Facade: [ron-: L - 5 stories; 6 bays ;.

6 storjes; 6 bays o '”7 T "..Commen?5° Good- condl?lon, doors replaced,
Commerntsy Good condnflon, bu+ some - " Bases of pilasters on ground floor

rusticetion elements on end piers - ~ ‘laltered when stoop was added.
“are missing,  stoop added. ST T T R

S1229=3Y s "o e - - 229430 _

w27 BRI N 7 01 A
Commenceds: 2/3/487¢ - . - 7 Commenced: 12710/1877
Comp leted: 4/8/1871 Completed: 3/23/1878 -

. Architect: William Jose ~ Architect: J, Webb & Son
~ _-Original Owner: N..Grari " ‘Carpenter: J. Webb & Son.. .
« “Original Function: Store - - - . 'Mason: J, Webb & Son =~
Facade: Brick with:iron" columns Ul Original ‘Owners -Mrs, Gibbons:
and Pt!asfers R : .7 7. Function: Store

4 sTor195° 3bays . e © 7 Facade: Iron with brick above and behind

" Comménts: ‘Good: condition, ground = ~* remaining ‘tacade, :

' floor al?era?ions C - 74 stories origqnally, now reduced +o
S L T . .23 3 bays

LI

Commen+s- Remaining: lronwork in fair
- condition, but whole building suffers
greaTIy from alferaflons.

$229-20 0 .4 . iV vt o 229206 - SRy
CH3L T e T e e T (483487 Grand = souThwesT corner)
- Commenced: 4/10/1876 .~ - - = . ' Listed on.Grand
¢ Completed: 10/12/1876 . . - "-'12-bays on Greene
Architect: Géorde W. 'DaCunha : ' = . 0iv Lo
Original Qwner: A, C. Kingsland & Sons = T e e e

Original Function: Store and warehouse : :
' 'Facade: -lron "> - . - , o et ST
5 stories; 3vbays i v ,"_ . ‘ T
Comments: Ornament missing, ground-

floor alterations but iron intact,

ldentical building at 74 Grand, - '

East Side: Block 230, Nos, 8-34

No, 28-30, also by Duckworth, and the most powerfui"building on the hlock.
derives its force from the projecting central bays and mansard roof, The
columns which separate the bays and the (ree-sianding. columns of the prajecting
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central bays give the facade a three
which crowns the central bays is ech
windows of the dominant middie dorme
single-windowed dormers with pedimen
with the mansard roof,. an. ex+ravagan
style, create a unique feature, in th

No., 32, which is also in The Fr
on the block, complemen+s its southe
emphasized ?he dormers on’ the mansar

~dimensional quality. The broken pediment
oed by fthe broken pediment of the paired

r above it, This dormer .is flanked by

ts and finials, These elements combined

+ derivation of the French Second Empire

e Dnsfrlcf and the ley.

ench manner and the third Duckworfh design
rn . neighbor, Although at No..28-30 he
d, roof with engaged columns and elaborate

pediments,  here much of The emphasis is on the cornice and its under lying

frieze and architrave, The curved ¥
bays emphasizes the vertical dimensi

230~9

#2-6

(#329-33 Canal = northeast corner)
Listed on Canal o
9 bays on Greene

230-13/14

#10~12-14

Commenced: 6/27/1869
Campleted; 12/20/1869

. Architect: J. B. Snock .

. Builder: Moon & Bryant .
:Original Owner: T. Lewis & B, -H. Day

: . 0Original Function:. STore & warehouse .Originat Function: Store

Facade: lron
5 stories; 8 bays

erminal pediment over the projecting central
ons of the building.

- 230-12

#8
Commenced: 10/17/1883
. Completed: 4/30/1884.
“Architect: J, B. Snook
Mason: John Demarest
Original Qwner: Trustees of Louis
Lorillard -
Original Function: Store _
Facade: |ron with brick corner plers.
fron from A, J. Campbell lron Works.
& stories; 3 bays
Comments: Good condition, door replaced
but original shutters remain.

230-15
#16
Commenced: 5/23/1882

. Completad: 4/30/1883

. Architect: Samue! Warner
Builder: John Masterton
Original Owner: Henry Adams’

Facadey Iron
6 stories; 3 bays

i

Comments: Good condition, stoop added Comments: Sound structurally, but rus?ung,
and some iron cut away from 'ground . doors replaced, stoop added,

~floor piers,

230-16 . .. . - ;
#1868 . o .
Commenced:; 5/23/1882 Coe g
Completed: 4/30/!883 _
Architect: Samue! A, Warner
Carpenter: John Masterton
Builder: John Masterton
Original Qwner: William Gill
Original Function: warehouse
Facade: |[ron

6 s+or|es, 3 bays . X
Comments: Sound sTrucTurally bu?

230-17/19 . ..
#2026 . P

- Commenced: 5/19/1880

. Completed:-12/31/1880
Architect: Samuel Warner .
Carpenter: John Sniffen
Mason: Richard Deeves o
Original Owner: Samuei Inslee
Original Function: Warehouse
Facade: lron:

. 6.stories; |Q bays

. Comments: Good condition, but & few iron

rusting, openings cut through iron - pieces warped or broken, stoop added

on ground floor, doors replaced
stoop added.

... shortening bases of ground-floor .
- piers,
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'230-20 o
#28-30 e 2
Commenced: 11/25/1872
Completed; 8/29/1873

" Architéct: I, F. Duckworfh

B -7

© © Commenced: 4/14/1873 B

, . .-Completed: 9/29/1873 oo
" Architect: i, F, Duckworth - - -

230-22

‘Builder:-J. Conover - IR

_ Original Owner: Picaut, Simon & Capel

Original Function: Narehouse :

Facade: [ron

6 stories;. 6 bays ~ -

Commentss Good condition, doors
" replaced,

Builder: John Masterton

Original Owner: }saac'W. How
" Original Function: Sfore & warehouse
».Facade: jron . C .
- . S'stories; 3 bays - ' e

- Comménts: Good condition, doors

stodp added. replaced, 'stoop added .
S e "shortening .bases of - -
ground-floor columns, '

230-23 LT 230-25

#34 .
Commenced; 3/20/1873 °
Comp leted: 8/29/1873 -
Architect: Charles Wright

#36.

" (#89 Grand ~ soufhwes? corner)

Listed on Grand i e

7 Bays on Greena - -’
Carpenter: J, J."Riceman - -
Mason: J.-C. Springsted - :
Original Owner: Julius Leopold
- Original Function: Store
Facades |ron - '
" 5 stories; 4 bays - .
Commenfs' Good condn?ton, doors 1
- replaced, stoop added,
shortening bases of. ground-
ficor pters = :

Grand to Broome Street - IR o -,;::_ RS

One can vnsualnze The chronologtcal developmenf of varlous early commercsal
architectural 'styles found-.in the Historic District by looking down this block

- with its twelve ‘stores and warehouses;- seven "of which were built durlng the

i860s or before, ° E;ghT ot the bulldungs Have masonry facades- wnTh 1ron detail- |

ing, while the remalnlng four have complete iron facades.

Wesf Slde° Block 475 (easT parf), Nos. 33-55

No, 45 combines neo~Grec defails in ?he repe+a*sve manner typicai of the
cast~iron arch1+eqjure of the District, With minor exceptions on the first
and second floors, all of the three~bay units on each of the six floors are
identical, This type of architectural solution reduced fhe'f|me and effort
expended by the architect, enabding him to utilize stock pieces and.extend his
buildings to nearly any length:without deS|gn1ng them around a focus, This

practice not only saved time bu? also money -~ Two maJor advan?ages of The cast-
tron Technique._f v .-

; .

The facade |s flanked by prOJec+|ng pllas+ers *ha? are separaTed befween
each floor by a fuil entablature extending across the building, Both the
. pilasters and columns are topged by |onic capitals, Andother. repeafed motif is
.the egg-and-dart molding found above each-window, The only unique features of
~the facade are the .deep column base blocks and commecting panels and a scrolled
gritl-work s+rip that serves as an architrave above the first floor, The
buiiding is topped by a very simpie cornlce iine with regularly spaced mnd:l!;nnJ
and end brackets, .
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GREENE STREET (Cont'd.)

475-56 . o o - + +475-53/54 -
#33-35 - - L H37-43 ‘ .
(#80-88 Grand, norfhwesf corner), . Commenced: 8/23/1883 - -
Listed on Grand . Completed: 2/28/1884 ‘
Architect: Richard Berger .
QOriginal Owner: Nathan, ‘Schwab & Kayser
Original Function: Store
- Facade: lron -
6 stories; |0 bays' :
Cbmmenfs Orlglnal cornlce removed

4?5"52 ' T ,.."u_ L 475 50 L. PR

#45 . S #47-49

Completed: 1866 -

-Architects. Unknown :
Originat Owner: H, J, Howard
Original Function: Store & Ioffs
Facade: Brick & iron: :

. 6 stories; 6 bays: : S
Comments: Ground=-fliocor aliterations

Commenced: 10/1/1882 - -
Completed: 12/30/1882 .. -
Architect: J. Morgan Slade
Original Qwner: Edward W, Taiter
Original Function: Store ' :
Facade: [ron

6 stories; 3 bays

475-49 , ’ 475-48
#51 _ Lo T #53
Commenced:; 1853 : Commenced: |867

Comp leted: 1854 . Completed: 1867
Architect: Unknown : Architect: Louis Burger

Original Owner: Homer Bos+wsck
Original Function: Store & Ioffs
Facade: Brick & iron

Original Owner: Wm. H, Gunther -
Original Function: Store & s#orehouse
Facade: Brick & tron

6 stories; 4 bays

6 stories; 4 -bays .
- Comments: Orlginal condition excepf
for attic addition,

475-47 C

#55 ' o

(#469-475 Broame, sou?hwesT corner)

Listed on Broome L e o
6 bays on Greene ' - T

T

East Slde' Block 474(wes? parT), Nos. 38—54

No. 42 44 built in. I868-69 for H J Howard ‘is @ stone building wi+h
restrained French Renaissance detailing., The iron storefront, somewhat more
ornate than the upper floors, has fluted columns:and pane!led ‘pilasters, all ~
which are topped by Corinthian capitals, Both the column and pilaster shafts
are decorated by a medallion motif, This ground floor facade continues onto the
next building, No, 46-50, which had been built by.the Howard family nearily a '
decade earlier, Although no alteration applicetion exists that indicates when
the common facade was added, it must have been af The Tume No. 42-44 was built
or shortly after, ‘ - :

The strong cornice lines and reliative flatness of the upper stories give
No, 42-44 a horizontality, siightiy relieved by the verticality of the low
projecting central bays that are topped at the roof Iine by a pediment, The
bays are defined by plain pilasters that are terminated by simple capitals
below the top window line. Upon these capitals rest the side members of the
curved, drop lintels,  The building is flanked by simple paneiled piers. The

,pednmen*ed en#ab!a?ure, with its heavy brackets and bold prOJecfion, provides

a sfrong termination,

No. 46-50, unlike its southern neighbor with whom it shares a common
ground fiocor facade, emerges flamboyantly with complex detailing that borders
on the baroque, The second floor; the most involved architecturally, possesses
a strong horizontality, This is achieved not only by the iron entablature
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4?4 ? :;::‘”E.
. #54 i

-

above the ground fldor and the stone cornice that divides the brick second and
third floors, but also by horizontal bands between the bays connecting the
panelled pllasTer bases and piain capitéls. : The outstanding characteristic on
the second floor’ is:the small: stone pediment that rests upon a bracket formation,

,PT:.also of stone, abové' each ‘wiridow. Although this unit forms a strong silhouette,

its onty non—archtfecTonlc eleménts are two small volutes on either side of the
pediment bracket. 'Similar window units executed in cast iron rather than stone,
were published five years:later ‘in Danie! Badger's catalogue, i{lustrations of

.t

Lron &rchl?ecfure Made Qz_fhe Architectural }ron works of The Ctti.o* NBW York

The handllng of The fenesfra?uon on the third and fourfh floors i$ more
ornamental but less powerful than that on the second, ‘Each’ window,: framed by
a simple square-headed stone arcthrave with a sllghf inSe? on..eithér’ s;de, is
topped by a stone:pediment in The neo-Grec manner that® is‘composed of: fwo

volutes with an antefix at the peak,

These upper floors. are also -separated by

pro jecting sfone cornices, conflnulng the horizontality of fhe lower floors,
As in No,; 42-44, the.horizontal movement is.somewhat.contradicted by a sl ight
projection of, The central bays,  On the fifth- fioor the windows, are. sumply out-
lined- by-a molded- enframemen? +The -building must have orlginally been- capped

- by.an |nferesT|ng cornsce, but |+ is mISStng today.

S [
P 3

47426 - 3vffiﬂ
#38-40 L ‘

(#90-94 Grand, northeas* corner)  ~

Listed on: Grand coi ey
Il bays on Greene_ S

4741

#46-50

Complieted; 1860

Architect: Unknown
Original -Owner: Ann Howard

Facade: Brick, |ron sforefronf 1
5 stories; 6 bays NP

,Commen?s- Shares ground—floor facade

—.with #42-44 bu1ld1ngs ia+er,
' JOlned Cee ooy T

d “_-.’ T

(#465-46? Brocme, souTheasf corner)
Listed on Brooma

9 bays on Greene . .- $-“ R

" Broome to Spring. Strests ,; -

474~
#42-44 . e
Comp leted: 7/19/1869

Architects Gritfith Thomas

Builder: Marc Eidlitz .

Original Owner: H, J. Howard

Original Function: S+preA& warehouse

Facade: Stone, -iron storefront '
& cornice

5 stories; 6 bays

Comments: Originally Ieased by D
Appieton & Co. Shares’ ground-fioor
facade wifh #46-50. 7 -

Bt St

474 6 ‘ - PR

#52 C
Completed: 1867

. Architect: Unknown S
... Original Owner: H, 3, Howard - -~
Original Funcflon- Store-& warehouse ' ’

Original Function: Warehouse

i -Facade: Brick.& -iren ground floor - ‘
2.6 sTarnes orlglnally, 3 currenT- 3" bays

.-

The height-of fhe developmenT of cast-iron arch|+ec+ure is represenred in

i

. this . block by the large number. of buildings dating: from the 1870s as well as
~the frequent. appearance of the, work:of Henry Fernbach, one of. the leading
;architects.working,in:cast iron at-this tine, - Out-of ‘lhe twenly-one. individual

{
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facades on the block, thirteen .are compleTely of iron, and all but one of the
remalnlng masonry facades have some iron’detatling, » .. i -

o

West Side: Block 486, Nosi'S?-BS
Nos. 65 and 67 presen? a phenomenon. found occas;onally in the District,
The two buildings form a cohesive unit; they are identical except for their:
cornices, . They were also commenced and completed on exactly the same dates.
Yet, they are attributed to two different architects, J, B. Snook and Henry
'Fernbach, both of whom were well known and highly, respec+ed This degree of
coincidence may be explained by the fact that iton works had stock pieces which
could be combined at williby the archnfecTs as Well as pieces which were made
specifically for one building, in ?hls instance Snook and Fernbach may have
mutual ly agreed on the stock pieces ThaT were to bé used and the manner in
which they would be organized. The quesfion stil! remains, however, as o who
designed the. iron units composing the facade, Although it is impossible to
make a definite attribution considering the lack of documented evidence, it
seems most probable that the designs came from the pen of an architect or
draftsman employed by the iron works rather than either of the. two arnchitects
. whose names are associated with the specific projects.” Not only does it seem
unusual that one of these two prominent architects would.bow to the wishes of
the other, there.is some proof that one of them.used stock pieces at times.
Although there are no extant buildings in the District that incorporate the
.caplital used for Nos, 65 and 67, there are cases where an iron member on'a '
facade by one architect is found on the work of another. 'Foriexample, the: .
ornamental abacus of the capitals on F C. Graef's 1870-71 build:ng at No,. 9-I3
Mercer Street is identical to the onés used by Ferbach at No, 69-71 Greene
Street in 1876=77 and No, I02 Greene STreeT |n IBSO-BI I

The +wo-building unit is organlzed on a repetitive bay plan which Is
typical of cast-iron buildings in the District. The columns on the ground and
upper floors, forming the vertical separations of the bays, have smooth shatts
with capitals decorated by vertical rectangular relief forms on the necking, 2
characteristic seen frequently 'on cast-iron bulldings executed in the neo-Grec
mode, .The enly variation of this column form is the greater length of the shaf+
on the: ground floor. The horizontal separations are.created by projecting
cornices between each floor,. The two-buitding unit.is: flanked by stylized iron
quoins with decorative terminal.blocks at the cornice |ine between each floor
and double brackets at the top, [t isiinteresting tornote that there.is no
quoin tine or other division between No. 65 and No, 67,.stronglty confirming that
the ‘two buildlngs were designed as a -pair, Although today there . is no' antefix
above the double brackets on The‘nor+h side as there is on the. south, there
must have been one origlinally., The -only other variation between the defails on

the two facades is that No, 67 has modillions and- brackefs along The en*abla?ure

while No, 65 has_ not,

1
[

No. 79 was built by Alexander McBurney as a. dweliling house in 1838, a
period when this was a residential district. As the area began to change
character in the i1860s and 1870s, however, many former residences were altered
to satisty the needs of a commercial cenTer -~ a process that is being reversed
today when many former commercial buildings are being converted into artists!
studio-residences. When No, 79 was altered in 1874, not only was &n'additional
brick fronted floor added but also an iron cornice and ground fioor facade,

The addition at the street level is comprised.of square columns with panelied
shafts and capitals with rosettes and an egg-and-dart molding, Upon the columns
" rests.an iron entablature with decorative terminal blocks., " The brick wall of
the upper three.stories is relieved by simple storie lintels and sills, The
building is capped by an iron entablature with a panelled frieze, sumple C
modillions and large side bra ﬁke?s .
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486-32 T :
(#470 Broome, northwest, corner)
Listed 6n Broome N
10 bays on Greene ..ol

486=27 T Tt LT

FO5 o Lelen vl s
IS8T T
“Completeds 2/28/1873 .« v = il
Architect: J37B:.Snook . -5 -

.. Original -Owner:-George. L. onalds

. Original. Func+|on:,STore R

v,

", n486""22 _'1‘ . . .'..‘ L'.

-, Completeds.1/31/1877:;

~Qriginal. Function:.Store. - R

;{Orlgina! Owner: M. & S.
.original, Functidiis . Storia Tt

. Facade: lron' -
"5 stories;.3:bays. . s - .
Commentsy jdentical facade and dafes

~., as ¥67, but different-architect.

74é6¥és
#6971 o '
‘Commenceds 6/12/1876

+ Architect: Henry- Fernbach I ,‘f
BU|Ider Amos Woodruf f- & Sons
Orlginal Owner? Ro+hchtld

. Facade: ‘lron,-from Cornel |

.5 stories; .5 bays . :

Comments: This: building or;glnally had
not only an :sidentical -facade toi

lron WOrks

o Viits neighbor #73, but was buift -

.. at exactly theisame +ime by +he .
same architect for the same owner.
They however were and are still

. :,,con5|dered 1o .be, separafe bunld- -

":n"_: lngS. . . - ,-_‘. Pe . 1
- R R

#75 T P . I U
.-Commenced; 6/22/I8?6 Lo
Complefed 173171877 .. Co
'Arch{tect: Henry Fernbach

,Builder: Amos Woodruff . SRR
Stetnbeagel

Facade: |ron - ;

5 stories; 3 bays

Comments: This building has ?he same
compietion dates and architect as
No. 69-~71 and No, 73, yet it had
a ditferent owner and its facade
is slightly different.

' Commenced!

- Architect:

- Commenceﬂ:'
“Completeds”
. Architect:.

- Completed:

- 486-28 -

#57-63 -

5/23/!876

i/31/1877.°

Edwerd H, Kende)l -
‘triginal Owner: E, Oelbermann & Co.

Completed:

-~ @riginal: Functions Store -7 "
fFacade:_Brick,

stona' and iron

{iron from Cornetl Iron works)

It sfor:es' 9 bays ..
Comments: Occupied by E.: Oelbermann

& Co,, dry- goods c0mm|ssion -merchants
f¥ (discussed on p.. 819 of King's
~ - Handbook of 1892.,) The building
"'stands on the siteiof the old

';=¥:.Greene Sfreef Mefhodusf Church

'486-26 h ,rt .
o1 . o
7/15/J872]' -
2728/1873 ¢ ..
Henry Fernbach .
George Springsfead

Carpenter.:.

-Mason: Amos Woodruff

Original Owner: Archer & Penobscor Co.

. Original Function: STore
- Facade:

lron
5 sTorles- 3 bays.

KT

- .Comméhts: ldentical facade. and dates
as #65, but different architect.
486—23 _
: .T:Commenced 6/|2/I876 - R
Complated:. I/31/1872 - v

- Ar'chitectsy Henry Fefnbach'
" [Bulider: Amos Woodruff & Sohs .
~ .Ofiginal Qwner: Rothchild:
‘ 0riginal- Function: Store

'lron Works

Facade: 'Iron, from: Cbrnelr
-5 sfories; 5 bays’
Comments; -1dentical *o #69-7I Original

“iron cornice replaced by brick,

"

' "f486—2|
C#17.

Commenced 6/13/!878
|I/30/I878

Architect: Houry Fernbach -

'- Buijlder: Amos Noodruff T

Originat: Owners -H, & S, Melnhald-

- Originat Funcllon- Store

Facadey fron : S
5 storles; 3 bays e
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486-20 . . :‘;‘» P . - 486-19 . . .
#e - C i et oo #8h.
Comple?ed*=1838 T I L Commenced° 6/6/1877
Architect: Unknown. .« ., . L. - Completed: 11/21/1877
Original Owner: Alexander McBurney Architect: Henry Fernbach
Qriginal Function: Dwelling house, , Carpenter: McGuire & Sloan

- altered later for store. . Mason: -Amos Woodruff & Sons
Facade: Brick and iron Original Owner: D, L. Einstein
3+ stories originalily, 4: currenf; 4 -, Original Function: Store

3 bays, |, . - .Facade: [ron

Commen?s:'Alfered in I874 (alf #I25I) S stories; .3 bays |,
. for -use as store, peaked roof . ‘ T
tlattened, story added, .iron S , .

. storefront added. : . RS
486~17 o o BT
#8385 ’ '
(#128-132 Spring, southwest corner)

Listed on Spring
No bay division
Comments: Stephen C. Foster Iived ¥
with his family in an eariier
buitding at No.-83 in 1860.

East Sude- Block 485, Nos. 56-86 : .

No, 62- 64, one of nine. bu:ldings by Fernbach on *hss block, is one of his
finest in the en*lre District, The facade combines several impressive classical
French elements intdo a very stately, open composition, Atthough the size of the
bays is relatively constant, variety and emphasis Is achieved through the use of
paneis, balustrades, projecting side bays and a curved pediment, The ground
floor is composed of square and circular engaged columns that are fluted on
their lower sections and topped by lonic capitals., "The remaining flocrs, each
separated by a fuil entablature, incorporate Tuscan columns that separate the
four central. bays, The two flanking bays are emphasized by their siight pro-
jection and framing pilasters, fiuted at thé top. Even though these elements
are repeated on each level; the second floor -is distinguished by high column
bases connected by decorative panels under the central bays and balusters below
the projecting tlanking bays. . The roof entablature adds an impressive accent
to the ‘building with .its ornamen+al double brackets above the supporting col-
umns, The roof line is further elaborated by modillions and frieze paneis with
recessed molding .and central rosettes, The cornice is crowned by a restrained
curved pediment encomp395|ng the da?e nig72."

When considering this buiiding if is also interesting +o note the east-lron
goose-neck street |ight directly in front of it, This is one of the few such
lights |ns1alled in the. Iafe 19th century that are'lef? in the City.

No,72, one of Duckwor?h's masterful iron "commercual palaces," has
affectionately been referreds to in recent.times as the "the king of Greene
Streat." The archi?ecf combined French Second Empire motifs and conventions to
create the most complex, three~dimensional buiiding remaining today in the
- -District,. The expansive: ten-bay width of the building is broken by the strong

- . emphasis of the projecting central paired bays and the.side bays that are set

off by flankung rusticated piers, Simple pilasters with lonic capitals are used
to separate the bays on the upper stories as are similar engaged columns on the
ground floor.. The free-standing columns that support the cornices of the pro-
jecting bays are much more elaborate, being fluted at their bases and Topped

'by Composite capitals. The centrai projection is further emphasized by broken
pediments with urn finials both over .the ground floor entrance and at the roof
line, "Within the roof pediment is a large "bird-like" relief ornament, topped
by a fleur-deg~lis, Two other distinguishing characteristics of the building
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. are found on the second floor. - These are the raised column bases and. connecting

molded panels, as well as a slab projecting from the cornice between the second

and third floors that forms a- ‘canopy over the third bay on either side,
Beneath each canopy, suppor?ed by ornamental brackets)is an ‘interesting convex
rosette, The bu:lding is crowned by & sfa?ety entablature, composed of cfoselv
spaced modillions Separafed by smail frieze panels; Larger brackets are also
used over The rusf;cated plers and corner columns of fhe:pro;ec+|ng bay.
A curious’ d;screpancy conierns. Thqs roof - line; in fhaT The orlglnai buiid-
ing appliication for No, 72 Greene Street, whuch is still on fite in the Build-
ings Department of the. Borough of Manha?fan “ealts for a ‘séven-story. buiiding,
ninety-five feet high. "The two upper stories were to’ be placed behind a slight-
ly pitched mansard roof, A silhouette drawing’ showing, this. mansard aiso. exists
in. the City files, Yet, if this two~story mansard was‘ever bu¥lt, it was soon
removed, for the first existing alteration on.the buutd;ng da+|ng from 1884
lists it as being five s+or|es high, . .

| 485-39/40 , 485-1 Pt

#56 ‘ #5860 AT
(#464-468 Broome, northeast corner) Commenceds 7/5/187\ :
Listed on Broome . “.Compteted: 12/31/1871

8 bays on Greene Architect: Henry Fernbach - ?; -

Builder: Samuel Cochran :
Original Owner: L. & S, Seasongood
:Qriginat’ Functions: Warehouse ’
Facade: lron

" l'S.stor'ies; 6 bays. :

- Commen+5° Retains orlginal ‘iron shutters,

485-3 v o it ugses

#e2-64 - ), S e #Bﬁff‘?*‘ S

" Commenced: 6/29/1872° - i . Commenced: 5/12/1873 . -

Completed: 2/28/1873 - .7 ¢ 1 Comg leted: 11/22/1873 ~

Architect: Henry Fernbach' - o -Aechitéct: J, Bi Snook

Carpenter John-J, Rlceman' c 0 ‘Builder:”J. Pemerest ot i

Mason:. Samugl Cochran 7 WA 0rigingl Owner: Loriiiard Es+a+e
Originai Dwner: John Henderson LJJJR%.Original Fuhctions STore :
Original Functiony STore T W't iFacader ‘lron W

Facade: lron” * . . itnn oo oo ol stories; 3 bays St
5 stories; 6 bays’ -:“"~”" AR v Commentss Al?hough This buildlng shares
Comments: An early eiectrié cast<iron . - a'facade with #68, it was built

. -street lamp.is loCated if; fron+ “t 7 slightly’ later than its neighbor and
- of this bualding. b ot owned separately, v -
485- ', AR *‘ S “1‘485- ) . S o
#68 . _ . .,'._ I PR "_ ' .‘ B ‘.‘ : mo _--, : .ot , [ ‘..‘..'_-.
. -Commenced: 8/9/1872 % 5> "+ Completed:” I860 R
Completed: 2/28/1873 . Architect: Unknown L
HrchiTecf:VJ.'B. Snook- et Orlglnal Owner's Ca*herlne M Jones
- Original Owner: George Ronalds. - ) Orlgunal Func+|on- Sfore & +enemenT

Original Function: Sfore- <"t Facade: Brick EA

Facade: lron® .= v R T-L”"-~v-l4 ‘stories; 3'bays- e

5 storiesi.4 bays Htir wt . {Comments: Altered.in 1872 6 near :
.Comments: Common: facade with #66 © - current:. condlfnon. BRLEE .

- retains original shuttersy @~ . . s bt o

o

L a
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485~8/10

#12=76

Commenced: 8/8/1872
Completed: 4/30/1873
Architect: |, F, Duckworth
Builder: John T. Conover

Original Function: Warehouses ,
Facade: lron C

5 stories (possubly 7 orngnnally),,

' 10: bays )

485-11

“e . _
Commenced: 3/10/1901
Compteted: 8/31/190I
Architect: George H. VanAuken
Originat Owner: Sol Cohen

. Original Function: Lofts
. Facade:. BFle & s+one, iron cornice

6 stories; 4 bays
Comments: A porflon of the cornice has
been removed .

‘Architect: Griffith Thomas’

"Original Owner: C. Henry Gardiner

“block.

“two end bays of No, 93«85 .are set off by incised pilasters,
- separate the other two buildings as well.

qumenf5° The #inest. example of ‘the L e
Frerich, Second Empire sfyle left
in +he Dqs?rlcf. .

485-12 :

] : o , 485-14.-
#80-82 o #84-86 :
Commenced: B/23/1872 Commenced: 6/6/1883
Completed: 2/28/1873 Completed: 12/3/1883

; Architect: Henry Fernbach
Original Owner: W, Blackston
,Original Function: Store

Original Function: Store & storehouse Facade: Brick & iron

Facade: Iron e . 6 sTorles, 6 bays

5 stories; 6 bays - .

Builders John T, Conover

¢

Spring to Prince Sireet

Two handsome brick buildings at the corners.of Spring Street by J. B,
Snocok immediately set a high-quality tone to the general -appearance of this '
‘Most of the buildings date from approximately the same period, the
late 1870s and early 1880s, However, severa! low buildings of more recent
date disrupt the continuity of the west side of the block, The east side is
more harmonious with only two gaps at vacant lots. Certainly much of this
general continuity can be attributed to Henry Fernbach, the architect who de-
signed all but one of the cast-iron buildings. There are more brick-facade
The dominant stvle
in the cast-iron buildings is derived from French Renaissance and neo=-Grec
sources, -The brick buildings tend to be simpler;. although their. ornamental
detailis are predominant!y neo-Grec, '

West Side: Block 500, Nos., 87-~117

‘Nos, 93-95, 97, and 99 are three attached buildings handsomely done in
the neo-Grec manner, all utilizing the same facade, designed by Henry Fernbach
for David Einstein In 188!, No, 93~95 differs from the other two buildings
in having five bays instead of four, On close inspection one sees that the
Similar pilasters
Stylized lonic columns separate the
other bays. A molded cornice which is continuous across the three buildings
separates each .floor, The cornices above the first and fifth floors are ac~
conted by rows of dentils, A curious element at the base of the second story
windows is @ row of vertically incised panels employing & neo-Grec motif which,
from a distance, simulates a balcony. The cornices over the; ‘second and fourth
stories are accented by scrolled brackets above each.ptlas+er Similar brack-

- “ets above these pilasters and smaller ones above each column support the main
S -cornice,

A block incised with 8 neo~Grec motif set at ?he ;cornice . Ilne caps

: each of these Iarge brackets, .

~101<
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No. 103-105 is a handsome five-story buiiding, five bays Nlde,-lﬂCDFPOFa'

' Ting neo-Grec elements, which was built in conjunction with No, 101 in. 1879,

(No, 10 was- rebunl? aftef a fire in the 1950s,) The owner of’ these bulldlngs
was Davnd Elns+esn who also owned Nos. 93-99 Fernbach was aiso +he archt*&cf

The symmefrlca! facade of No, |03~105 is set off by prOJecflng end bays
outlined by panelled: Corinthianesque, pilasters, - The thrée central bays are
outiined by columns Topped with stylized Corinthian capitals. These capitals
above the columns. and- pllas+ers provide most of the building's ornamental

“detail with the exception-of the rosettes above the pilaster capitais (perhaps

used to conceal building tie rods) and a row of small rosettes under the
first-floor cornice, Each floor is separafed by a simple molded cornjce. The
main cornice is heavy .in appearance but uses’ ssmple moflfs in +he en?abla?ure
-- molded brackets separated by iarge rosettes. :

This building was obviously designed to match No. 101, §f the original®
building at No. 101 were stiii standing, the projecting south end ‘bay .on No, _
103-105 would form a central double bay with it, Cerfa;nly +he two buildings

.1
500~34 e o
#87-89 : e
(#127 Spring, norfhwesf corner)
Listed on Spring
9 bays on Greene

500-31]

¥93-95

Commenced: 4/(8/188|

Comp leted: 12/20/1881
‘Architect: Henry Fernbach

-Original Owner: David Einstein -

Original Function: Sfore
Facade: lron -

-6 stories; 5 bays ST
Commenfs--Jonnf facade wt?h #97

-~ and #99--,

500~29 -

#99

Completed: 12/20/188|
Architect:s Heénry Fernbach
Original Owner; David Einstein
Original Function: Store
Facade: lron

6 stories; 4 bays

Comments: -Joint facade wnTh #93*95:'”

and #a7.

- r
eaTE s '

' 500-26" --,' I -jf;_-;- B

#103-105"

Commenced: 4/24/!8?9
Compietéd: 9/24/18}9
Architect: Hehry'Ferﬁbacﬁ'
Builder: Frank Lowden:

Original Qwner: David’ Etns+etn

" Original Function: Store

Facade: {ron

‘5 stories; 5 bays' : L s
Comments: This building ortgqnally

formed a unit with #1011,

. 500~32

. Facade:" Irqn
. 6 stories; 4 bays °

Commenced: 4/18/1881 . == .t i

together would create a more. homogeneous appearance |n mass, propor?lon, and
comp05111on, Than fhe one sTandlng alone does Today. o e

Nt B

9 3 |
Original-building demollshed, now a
parking lot,
500-30 - - | I
#97 Lo .

Commencéd: 4/18/1681 -«
Comp leted: 12/20/188\
Architect: Henry Fernbach
Original Qwner: David E;nsfeln
Original Function: Store -~

Comments: Joint facade wlTh #93-95
- and #99. :

-;500-28

- #1011

_'Garage - Buil1 in I95? o
‘Comments: Although filed as an "alfera- !

tion" the changes were so extensive

that they practically constitute a
“new building. The original buitding

was built exactly at the same time.
. as its northern-.neighbor, #103*I05,
i~ the two" ‘shared a common facade, . N

Y

- 500-25/24/23
COENT-A
* A¥teration: I923 .
',Ai?erafion Architect: Lewis C, Paf?on
tQuwners in 1923:. Greenwlch SaVlngs Bank

Facades" Brick’

2 stories S
. Comments: This greafly alTered tacade

completely masks the ‘original 1879
" brick store; five: stories tall, thal
;was"désfgﬁé& by €. C, Haight. ‘

-172-
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“somewhat Corinthian- im character, separate the bays.,
-the curved corners of the lintels is-a raised flower-iike motif, .
.cornjces separate the stories,

. the stores %in this building.
-, columns topped by lonic-type capitals.,

o 499-43
" #90.

- #96

500-22 ) 500-21

#H3 ! L #115<017 o

Commenced: 9/2871882 - IR (#1110 Prince, soufhwesf corner) _
Completed: 3/31/1883 « . ..~ Original buiiding demolished, one-story
Architect: Henry . Fernbach bu:ld:ng erecfed in: I966

Original Owner: Lippman & Toplufz ' CoLd T,
‘Original- Function: Store . =~ - _ o T T
Facade: Brick & iron o . Tt
5 stories; 3 bays . ’ A
Comments: This building essenftally R

- «/ retains its originat appearance, :

East Side: Block 499, Nos, 90-122

Nos. 98 and 100 are two buildings, each five stories high, anhd each
three bays wide, done in a classical manner with very sfylized details which
are neo-Grec in character,' The architect, Charles Mettam, designed these
identical buildings for two different owners, Michael Byrne and. H, 'Wilson,
They:were, begun and completed at the same .time,. and both.were used as stores,
Narrow mo!ded pilasters flank.the two-building unit, and another .pilaster
separates the two buildings.' Slender coltumns topped by very-stylized capitals,
Above each column between
Simple molded
A molded' bandwork gives emphasis to the base of
the second floor, windows, The main cornice is accented. by a $eries of small
moeditlions,” These two buildings by Mettam are set between two designed by
Fernbach at approximately the-same time and are stylistically very similar to
Fernbach's work, particuiarly in their massing and fepestration,. But Mettam's
detail is more- |mag|na?1ve and lighter in its overall quallfy. s

‘No. 114- 120 is an |mpreSS|ve double=-front, bulldlng, Six, s?orues high and
ten bays wide, designed in a.stylized classical manner-by Henry Fernbach in 1881,
The model led; pllasTers which join the two fronts give the building.a central
emphasis, and ‘similar pllas*ers accent,the: ends,: The intricate detailing of the
ground~floor piers enhances what would have :been the original show windows of
The square wihddw bays are separated by fluted
The top-story windows, however, are
treated differentiy; elaborately mo{ded keystones-accent the segmentalty-arched
lintels, and the capitals of the separating columns are -formed by a simple egg-
and-dart molding. Once again Fernbach shows his preditection for an elaborate
cornice and entablature treatment. Between the brackets supporting the cornice
are melided fanlight-|ike motifs set under the dentils, Giving final emphasis
to the cornice are the stylized acanthus’ leaf anfef;xae, rising above the pil-
asfers at the ends and in +he center.,

L

x . T A

(#1201 Sﬁr:ng, nor+heas+ corner)
Listed on Spring
9 bays on Greene

499-3
Commenced-

COmpleTed-
- Architect;

5/16/1879
12/22/1879 _
Henry Fernbach |

.-, Buiider: Marc Eidlitz . _ -
Orlginal Owner: Chichester E,?a?en

Orlginal Function: Store
'Facade: Iron .

. 5 stories; 3 bays

£499 heto§

#92-94 . - ., o
Orlglnal building demolashed,
now a parking tot,

499-4

#98 .
-Commenced 9/!6/I880

©. Completeds 2/25/188) - .
. Architect:
. .0riginal Owner: Michael Byrne -

Char les Mettam

Original Function: Store ..

Facade:. lron ) oo

5 storjes; 3 bays ° ’

Comments: ldentical!, common facade with
#100, but different owners.,

-103-
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499-5 e 499-6 L T .
#100 - SR #102 et :
Commenced: 9/16/t880 .~ Commenced: 1-1/1/1880 E ,

: Compietéeds 2/25/188) © . Completed: 2/25/188%1 - = = .
Architect: Charles Mettam - . | Architect: Henry Fernbach
Original Qwner: H. Wilson - Builder: Amos Woodruff & Sons
Original Function: Store .. . Origingi Owner: lsaac Guggenheim
Facade: lron . _Original Function:. s+ore

- 5 stories; 3 bays _ ' Facade: Iron '
. Comments: Common facade with #98. - ' 5'stories originally, 3 curren*, 3 bays

Comments: - 1941 alteration removed two
o stories and grea?ly alfered appear-
e ance of buildlng. o

469-7 - [ [' e 499-;1

104110 Gl e FNRe e T
(#123~125 Mercer) ... .7 - Commenced: S/17/1883 "
Comp leted:. 3/3!{!908 T r o Ut Completed: 1/431/1684
Architect: Witliam J, Dilthey =~ Architect: Henry Fernbach

L Orlginal ‘Owner:-C. B, Rouss Estate .- 'Builder: VanBolsen & Arnott.

’Orlglnol ‘Function: Store- & Offlcesif _Original- Qwner:. Stiltwel] & Goldonberg

-Facade: ‘Brick & iron - - -Original function; Sfore & loffs
. V3 stories;. 8 bays. - . . Facade: Jron
”Commen?s- This is the second Rouss - .6 storles; 5 bays
- Building to havo been buil? in Comments: Notice use of same facade
+he Dlsfrlc* LT e _ elemenfs on ﬁlSZﬁ#l#O
. ‘499~I2 - :V: '.;*“ oL o7 499-!5'
CEVIG=I20 o e 22 '
Commenced: 8/8/i88Y ~ .~ - | - . . (#l106-108 Pr;nce, soufheasf corner)
Comp teted: 5/3!/!882 ¢l . Commenceds 1B66 -
“;Architect: Henry Fernbach: - Completed: 1868
‘Carpenter; McGuire & Sloan” 7 . Architect: W, E. Waring _
Mason: “Amos Woodruff & Sons “ - 'Origina) Owner: G, H. Eckhoft .
‘Original.Owher:’ Frederick Loeser:- - .° Original Function: Store & Tenement . -
Original Function:. S?oros RRSHPEER ﬁ!' Facade: -Brick & -iren” -
Facade: .Iron . - - x5 stories; 3 bays
.6-stories; 10 bays = Trioee L -Commentss Greone facade re+ains most of
Comments: Original. condition | - - original appearance, while Prince

oxcep+ for new doors.,” - S|de has been al+ered
L CrEr i, N el ;
T \.-I EERS R PO L. :

' '-Erince to NesT Housfon S+roet Coo

B . ' . R |
. - - ’

The buildlngs on ThIS b!ock are. of 2 goneral!y uniform, harmonious
character dating from the 1880s, Most have cast=iron fronts., - Exceptions are. '
the. late (1910) post office on the northeast corner of Greene and Prince, and f
the two very early buildings (1825) which remain on the west side of Gréene
near Houston, Once again the. dominant style is der|ved from French Renaissance
and néo-Grec sources. SRR

- West Side: Block 514, NOS- "9"45

No, 119 Greene (No. iOB—llI Pr:nce S+ree+), designed by J. Morgan Slade.
~for C, H, Woodbury" in a-very: e!egan+ French Renaissance style, takes powerful
-advan+age of its corner site. '{Slade died at the age of 30, about two months g
atter the buiiding was begun;)" Five sfories high, ten bays wide on the Greene
Street side and five bays wide on the Prince Street side, 1he bU|ld|ng emphas
sizes its corner, site with:a diagonal bay on the corner_whsch ohce con?alned
the main store entrance,.r While simple in Its design, the bullding ga:ns it
power -from its-overall size and Slade's skillful handling 6f detail., "Simpie
banded pilasfers separafe The irreguiar bay groupings" there are five on the

- -104-
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Prince 5+ree+ side; on Greene Street, the leISlOﬂ i5 3, 3 .3, 1. Simple
pilasters with lonic-type capitals and an.egg-and-dar+ moldlng separate the
" windows,.. Projecting cornices separate the individual floors. The main cornice
is also simple; the entablature contains a:paneled frieze with a central cir-
cular motif, and brackets above each pilaster. A pediment projects above the
central 1hree bays on the Greene STreeT side which may -have emphasized a
secondary entrance. .
No. 121-123 is aiso @ Henry Fernbach design, and visually the most ornate
building on the block. Six stories high and six bays wide, its continuous
cast-iron facade catches the eye with its elaborate detailing.. Pilasters,
fluted .and topped by a stylized acanthus leaf detail, are at both ends of the
buiiding, .The bays are separated by fiuted columns with very.elaborate capitals,
Corun?hnaneSQUe in, general appearance but topped with an lonic scroll, Molided
~ cornices . separa*e the stories. The windows on the lower storiés are all square
-t’headed but the .linteis over the windows of the top story are rounded and
topped by molded keystones, However, it is the cornice which is the most
notable alement of this building, and once again we find Fernbach's inclination
for emphasizing.this element on his buildings. Molded stylized acenthus leaves
set into the frieze alternate with the brackets on the entabiature, Once again
antefixae project above the cornice line at each end,. and smal.ler vertical
elements pro ject across and above the cornice line, '

Nos. 125 and 127 are identical buildings employing.a stylized ciassicism
with neo-Grec motifs, five stories high and three bays wide (although now
painted different colors) executed under the supervision of two different
architects for two different owners., No. {25 was designed by Henry Farnbach,
and its commencement and completion dates are the same as No, 121-123, No, 127
was designed by William Baker one year later {1883-84) than No. 125, Howsever,
the explanation for this dupluca+|on seems somewhat simpier than that for Nos,
65 and 67 Greene Street, Henry Fernbach died in November, 1883; it seems
likely that Baker was an associate of his, The client may have asked for this
design, or Fernbach may have decided before his death to build No. 127 with a
facade identical to No. 125, In any case the buqldlng was carried ouf under
Baker 5 superv|3|on ' . : ,

: Bo+h buuld|ngs are fyplcal of Fernbach's desugn. ‘Molded pilasters with
tluting, egg-and~dart, acanthus leaf and.peliet details divide the two build-
ings and separate them from the adjoining ones, Columns with stylized Doric
capitals define the window bays, Cornices separate the stories. The one
above the first story is the most elaborate;. it is ornamented with an egg-and-
dart molding and is supported by brackets, "Under the main cornice, brackets
alternate with a rosette-Iike motif sef.in the frieze, . Above the centrai
pl!as?ers and at the ends of the corn:ce, terminat blocks are set at the
cornice. line, ' ‘

Nos. 139 and 141 .are notable for their early date of 1825, One would
assume that the entire block once was lined with similar houses before the

street was’ developed w|+h commercnal buildings in the- Ia?e 18705 and early
1880s, : :

N .
o

No 139 was buulf for Anfhony ﬁrnoux. It is @ simple brick two-story
house in the Federal style with. fwo dormers in the attic story,. One can-still
see the outlines of the original. stone doorway on the ground floor, now bricked
in. Block-paneled stohe lintels cap the second-story windows. Wooden'pilas-
ters and a broken pediment outline the round~arched windows of the dormers,

The bunldnng is now used for conmercial purposes,- but it must have remained as
a dwelling well past the’ Time of other commercial- developments on this block,
That it survives with its early exterior details intact is quite amazing,

[
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HQ;.EEL, buut+ in 1825 for D “HY Schmldf st have orig|nally looked
tike-No, 139, .{n 1886 the building was aftered for use as a’‘store ‘@nd lofts,
- The third story and the iron ornamental detaiis were ‘added: at that +ime, None
of the ground floor is original,  ‘An‘iron .cormice now separates the -first and
second story, The lintels of +he second and third-story windows’ have been
“covered, over with metal: .Underneath the third=story windows:is & unique saw-
tooth brick detaii, The main cornice is made of pressed, fiot molded, gatvanlzed
tron sn a very s;mple dessgn.

e Ty

. -5!4"'35 I T R T ":5|4"‘33 M ,_:' i - ‘ L g
oEle T T T e 2123 e "g R
- (#109=11 1 Prince, nor?hwes+ corner) Commenced"6/28/|882 -
Commenced: IO/I/I882 L " “Compteted: "3/31/1883
© Compteteds 1/3171883 o - Architect: Henry Fernbach :
- Architect: J, Morgan Slade- = - Original Owner: Lewlshone Brofhers
'Orlgunal Owner: C,” H. WOodbury ‘et al.' Or:gunal ‘Function: Warehouse '
Original Function: Store - - ¢ - . .'Facade: trom = - :”‘;' ;‘1‘]"
Facade:- jron, “from Cheney-HewlefT - & .storijes; 6 Qays R

Architecturat Iron Works -~ -
-5 stories; 10 bays plus l daagonal
bay :
Comments: This bulld:ng w|+h excep—- » .
tional diagona{ -bay is: lin excel= " T T e e
len# condeflon. o Tl e e e e

i

514-32 : . - o “:{“rl.;55r4-3]...‘%. N I

125 ¢ T gy B e n
- Commenced: 6/28/1882- T Commencéd: 5/21/1883 "
~ Completéd: 3/31/1883 .. Compiefed; 2/28/1884 . -

Architect: Henry Fermbach - "i'* “  .Architect: William Baker | 1
" Builder: Christie & Dyhes = " Original Owner'y  Patrick Dickie Esfa+e

Original ‘Owners Sylvesfer Bench "~ Originat- Funcfuon._STore o :

Estate = & - ~ - " Facade: Iron _

Originat: Func?1on° Sfora ' 5 stories; 3 bays !

Facade: iron o R .Commen?s' Identical facade To #125,

5 stories;"3 bays - " "7 7 7 - though different da+es and dlfferenff-
‘Commenfs' The dates’ and- architect’ for ' archifecf '

this building are the same as -° ,’ o

© those for ¥i21-123, “thoughithe- - ' % "+ K -
facades are different. ‘However, = " =+ 7 0 7
this facadé is identical 1o Théf B "
on #127 which was a-yéar later & -

" by a different architect, -

51429 U sia-28

YOp29-1310 S T #3313 0 - L.
Commenced: 6/4/1860 e " Commenced: 6/19/1882 .
. Completeds 2/26/1881. . 7 -Completed: 37/31/1883 'ﬂ i,un Y
Architect: Detief Llenau e Architect: Henry Fernbach'
Carpenter: H, M, Smith & Son Buiider; Terence J, Duffy '
Builder: Freeman Bloodgood L Original Owner: Henry & fsaac Meinhard
- Originat -Owner;: John C, Barrow - " Orlginal Function: Warehouse .
~Original Function: Store "+ Facade: lron
‘Facade: Brick, stone & sron .“ : <] s?orles, 5 bays L
5 stories; 6 bays ‘ o . Commenfs. {dentical +o #137, Cowplefed
Comments: This is the only bu;ldlng on the same day as’ #137, and also

~.

by this promlnenf archuTecf in ) as,#l21-123 and #125,
the District, e - R
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514-26 : : 514-25

#137 ' #139
Commenced: 6/19/1882 L Completed: 1825
Completed: 3/31/1883 PR "~ Architect: Unknown :
Architect: Henry Fernbach. Original Owner: Anthony Arnoux
Builder: Terence J. Duffy ¢ ' Original "Function: Dwel | ing -House
Original Owner: Henry 4. lsaac Meln- Facade: Brick

hard . 2 stories and attic with original
Original Function: Warehouse _ dormers
Facadé: Iron = Comments: This Federal style house retains

© 6 stories; 5 bays . its original door and window lin~
Comments: {dentical to #I33—|35. tels, although the doorway has
' ‘ . . been bricked in, .

5i4-24 514~23 . |
#lal ST P R ¥ - B
Completed: 1825 '« .~ " '~ " Commenced: 8/8/1887..
Architect: Unknown ' Comp leted: /29/I888 e o
Original Owner: D, H. Schmndf “Architect: DelLemos & Cordes e
Original Function: Dwelling House Original Owner; Llppman Topllsz
Facadé: Brick & iron additions .. Original Function: Store
3 stories; 3 bays . = . - Facade: Brick, iron & sfone
'CommenTs- An 1886 alteration flat- "5 stories; 3 bays :

tened the peaked roof, added one = Comments: lron- from ATIan?:c fron Works,

"story, added iron cornice and - . 706 East 12th Street, New York.

removed internal partitions to
form lofts for commercial purpos-

es. . _ ‘ ;
514-14" S TP
#145 Co S . | ‘
(Southwest corner of W, HOus?On)

Gas Station -

Comments: This lot which today is
only 20 feet long 6n the Greene
side was originally 95 feet, be=~
fore Houston was widened.,

gast Side: Block 513, Nos, 124-152 P\
No. 130, desngned by Richard Berger for L, Sachs and Brofhers in 1888, is
six stories h1gh and three bays wide, It |n:+ially appears modes? in compari-
son fo its more -imposing ‘neighbor on the north, But,one-is, struck by the pre-
cise and careful usa of neo-Grec detail which charac?erlzes Thls buntdnng.
Solid end piers, Ilghfened by pilaster details, separafe the bu:ldlng from the
adjoining ones, The pier capitals are of an lonic type wi+h an egg-and~dart
molding under the scrol’ling,  The capitals of the upper=-story pilasters are
composed of & stylized. scrol! and plant design., Thé colonnettes defining the
‘central bay, however, capture one's attention., They are very slender, almost
fragile in appearance, and are topped by an oversized lonic capital with an
egg-and-dart detail, They are attached to the wall of the building by means
of a screen-like element, pierced with a stylized flower and. lea¥ design. These
colonnettes emphasize the verticality of the building and are an imaginative
demonstration of the decorative possibilities of cast Iron., The stories are
" separated by very simple cornices, and the main cornice is also' simple, sup-
ported by curved brackets above the cotonnettes and pilasters with a row of
dentils undér its molding. -

-—1-0 :7.';:.
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513~39

#124-128 -
(#103-107 Prlnce, norfheas? corner)
Listed on Prince.

_IO bays on, Greene

I P P
‘lu "'-"':

"'5|3-3

#I32-i34 DTS

Commenced: “¢119/I885 o
Completed:. 1/30/1886 o
Architect: Atfred Zucker = -

Original Owner' Simon Goldenberg & L.
Schoolhers " . '

Originai FuncT|0n' warehouse

Facade- lron - B

6" s+or:es- 5: bays v

Commen#5° “Common facade w|+h #136 and

P

-

’ Archtfec?‘
_ Or:gunal ‘Owner: L. Sachs & Brothers
“ Orlgtnai ‘Function; Store

5{3:2 T e
#1130

 Gommenced: 6/11/1888 H ;; *

1/26/1889
Richard Berger

Comp leted:

Facade: lron
6 stories; 3 bays

5I3-5 : .o .] U
#I36 ' . . v - § ‘,-_il‘ :,
Commenced: 4/I9/I885
Compteted: 1/39/1886
Architect: Alfred Zucker o
Original Owner: Slmon Goldenberg ¢ L.
Schoothers - ,
Original Function: warehouse IQ
: Facade. fron -

6 stories; 5 bays

Comments: Common facads wnfh #i32-134

#138-140, Uses same facade elemen?s _and #138-140, Usss same facade ele-
gs #;12 ‘ i JR menfs as #IIZ :
k L | B
#138-140 #142-|44 P
Commenced: 4/!9/I885 Commenced° 1/6/1871

Compieted: 1/30/1886
Architect: Alfrad Zucker

Completed: 4/29/187|
Architect: Henry Fernbach

Original Owner: Goldenberg & Schoolhers Builder: John Conover

‘Original Function: Warehouse
'Facade: [ron
6 stories; 5 bays

“Comments: Common facade with #132-134
Uses same facade ele~j

and #136,
ments as #1112,

513-9
#146
Commenced: 3/i3/1877
Completed: 7/21/1877

4

- Architedt:s W, E; Worthen: *

-Carpenter:'W, 'C. Mliler Ay
" MasonsJoseph Smith ™ -t
: Orlginal Quner’s “John Alfhouse o
' Original Funcfron-*STore
"Facade; Brick & iron

4 s?or:es' 4 bays S T e

' 513-12 'f“':; ”:;=;+f . ”*3"? o
U520 et e o e o
-2t {Southeast corner of w Housfon]

L Vacan? Lo? S

~ Facade:

.Original Quner: James, Kenf :
“Original: Function:: Sfore '
lron

3. sfor:es, 6 bays

1

SR R
Lo :

513~10

 #148-150 -
Commenced: ‘8/24/1883

~ Completed: 7/31/1884. _
"Architect: William Worthen
0r|g|nal Owner~ John Althouse
Orlglnal Func?|on' S?ores
Facade- Brick & iron

6 s+or}es, 6 bays

)

TR

--------
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Houston Street was named either after Nicholas Bayard's son-in-law, or the
name is derived from the NDutch ‘huis tuijn,“which means house garden. It was laid
cut prior to 1797, and the section from Broadway west to Hancock was regulated in
1617-13. The street was extended and regulated from Broadway to the Bowery in
1325. Only the south side of the street lies within the District. The buildings
on the south side of the street were demolished in 1963 ,when Houston Street was
widened. Houston Street is divided at Broadway into East Houston and tlest llouston.

" Uouse numbers run to the east on East Houston Street and to the west on West Houston
Street. : '

EAST HOUSTON STREET

Broadway to Crosby Street
South Side Only in District: Block 511, Nos., 1-17

511-19
#1-17
Parking lot and Gas station

WEST HAUSTON STREET

Broadway to Mercer Street
South Side Only in District:  Elock $12, Nos. 1-17

512-10
#1-17
Vacant lot

Mercer to Greene Street
Bouth Side Only in District: Block 513, Hos. 19-35

513.12 ' '
#19-35 : !
"Vacant. lot *

Greene to 'ooster Street '
South Side “mly in District: Block 514, Nos. 37-59

. 514-14
#37-59
Gas station

Mooster Street to !est Broadway
South Side Only in District: Block 515, HMos. 65-83

515-16 515-15

#55-77 . #79-83
Vacant lot , " Yacant lot

All street numbers on Houston Street are transposed from Bromley's Atlas of the
City of New York, 1899,
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HOWARD STREET

The section of ﬁqward Street which ties within the Historic District was
known as.Clermont Stréet prior to ¢, 1767, at which-time its name was, changed

: . i

to Hester Street: :The section of the street between Broadway and Mercer Street

was regulated in 1809, facilitating its development, |n 1825 the risme was
changed to Howard Street. v

Crosby Street ?o.BFdéani,

The buiidings on the north side of this block, present a’ visual record of
the progressiorn of Freneh stylistic influences upon commercial architecture im -
New York City. This progréssion-is represented by three buildings which include
the 1868 structure at No. 30-32, executed in a classic .French Renaissance manner,
No, 34, also from 1868, which.projects an early though definite neo-Grec aura
and No, 3842, the Howard Street side of the 1895-96 building at No, 434 Broad-
way, which reflects the influence from the Ecole des Beaux-Arts of Paris upon
architectural styles of the 1890s., Though none of these buildings have full
cast-iron facades, the two 1868 structures, each five stories high, incorporate
jron storefronts, typical of the period., The one remaining building is a simple’
four-story brick structure built-in 1876,

North Side Only in District: Block 232, Nos. 30-42.-..

No. 30-32 is the Howard Street facade of a five-story corner building, loca~
ted at the northwest corner of Crosby Street, that was designed by J. B, Snook and
erected in 1868, The Howard Street facade, which has a width of six bays,
exemplifies the stylistic reliance upon simple, classic French forms that was
frequently followed on contemporary buildings in the Historic District. The
cast-iron storefront on this otherwise stone building is treated in a very dir-
ect manner with smooth pilasters; topped by Doric capitals, on the corner and
end of the building as well as in the center, These pilasters are continued up
onto the masonry portion of the building in the form.of quoins, with the central
shaft visually dividing the facade into itwo triple-~bay units. "These bays are
divided on the ground floor by simple cast-iron columns, similar to the pilasters,
and on the four upper ficors by equally plain stone pilasters, These stone ’
pilasters, also topped by Doric capitals on all but the top ficor terminate
below the heads of the segmental-arched windows, a fenestration treatment de~
rived from France, The facade is defined horizontally by projecting cornices at
each floor level and a roof-ievel cornice supported by -scrolled neo-Grec brackets,
Three simple modilliions and a plain frieze panel are between each pair of brackets,

No. 34 is an unusually distinguished structure to have been erected .on such
a short side street as this, The effectiveness of this 1868 five-story facade,
onty three bays wide, is explained by the fact that it was designed by the
renowned architect James Renwick and his associate Joseph Sands, Although
nothing but the cast-iron pilasters remain on what was the ground floor entrance,
the building stili catches one's eye by its effective use of neo-Grec detailing
on both its cast-iron second-floor facade and the marble facade of the remaining
three floors,

'The use of & two-story cast-iron storafront such as the one on This build-
ing is unusual, especially considering its early date,. ,(Badger only listed fwo
two-story storefronts in New York in his 1865 catalog, neighbor of which were in
+he Historic District.) This. cast-iron second fioor seems even odder when it is
considered that the detailing of the marble. facade above is nearly as elaborate
as the cast-iron section., In most instances cast iron was used for an inexpen-~
sive imitation of intricate stonework, ‘ !

The *hreefbays on the second floor of the iron front are'separafed by smooth

pilasters that rise from the ground level, The bay heads are flat on. top with
rounded corners and two round-arched windows are set within each bay.
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HOWARD STREET (Cont'd.)

Abova each of these window groups is 3 roseTfe and a s+yl:zed fwo-dimensuonal :

frieze |m|?a+|ng a balusfrade.

For its upper three floors The wundows have segmenta!-arched ?ops and orna-

mental keystones, They are bordered by

-and “flanked by pitasters encased with various neo-Grec designs,

‘floor the pilaster caplfals |ncorporafe
-neo-Grec motif, \
. a relafsvely snmple cornlce.

5:232-2I T ﬁ_' :
" #30 L. . . P [
- {#2-8 Crosby, northwest corner) )

‘Commenced: 1868
Architect: J, B. -Snook -
Carpenter: Blackstone & Ryerson

Mason: John Demdrest-. o
~ - Original Qwners Trustees of M, Barbey
Original Function: Store
- Facade: Brownstone, stone, iron
‘5stories; 3 bays :
- Comments: Common facade with #32.,

' ' lrou from Excelsuor lron works.

232-23
- Commenced: I868 ' '
Architect: James Renwick & Joseph Sands

"Original Qwnér: Edward Mathews
Original Function S+ore and sfore-.f
_ house L .
Facade: Marble and iron- ' -~ %
5 Sstories; 3 bays. 0 ¢ AN

varjations of a bead-and-ree | molding
On the #ifth

acroteria or "ears", & characTer:sfic

Above These capitals rise smatl palred brackefs fhaf supporf

- 232=22 .

- #32 : '

- _Commenced: 1868 -~

- 'Architect: J, 8. Snook
' Carpenter; Blackstone & Ryerson
‘Mason: John Demarest’

‘Original Owher: Trustees of P, Lorillard
Original Function: ‘Store
"“-Facade: Brownstone, sfone,

;rOn

5 stories; 3 bays

Comments; Shares a common facade with #30,
" [ron from Excelsior lron Works,

| 232-4
Y

(ﬁ%dZ.Bfan)'
Listed on Broadway -

3 bays on Howard

Commenfs~ Thas |s an “L" shaped bUIldlng

Iy

‘ 'Oommen+s- lron ground floor alfered -:j St

232-1 .

#38~42 ‘
{#434:'B'way, nor+heas? corner}

‘Listed on Broadway :
10 bays on Howard

'Broadwav fo Mercer STreef '

“With fhe excepfion of the neo-Geodrgian garden bank built in 1967, all of the

. buuldings on this block 'date from the 18605 and 1870s,.

All of them have cast-

sron ground floor facades, ?hough oniy No. 43-45 has cas*—lron upper sfories.

. 'Norfh Slde. Block 23I(north parf), Nos.

No.*48 Howard Sfreef dating from 1860

46-54

is buiit pr:marily of stone and

utilizes the same round-arched ltalianate defailnng that appears on early cast-

“iron facades,

i+ was masonry buildings such a3 this,
-many of *he fars+ prefabr|ca+ed casf—:ron facades.

in fact, that inSpired

Alfhough The upper floors and roof cornice of this bu1ld|ng are stone, the

storefront was constructed of cast iron,

allowing for large window display areas.

it is difficutt to determine the exact character of the original entrance,
though it is obvious that the side piers and the ‘one remeining ceniral coiumn

i
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HOWARD STREET (Cont'd,)

shaft are original, as are the.panels below the wesferly window and the cornice
with its simple modllltons and bracke?s.

1

The four upper sfortes are handled in a very cr;sp,.dtrecf manner. All of
the windows.are: fully arched ‘at the top and are embellished.with prominent
keysfones, being ‘@ithér plain, scrolled or in the form of a stylized acanthus

:f,leaf .Pilesters.. separate the bays and flank the building on the second, third
~and fourth floors, though not on the fifth, The facade is ferminated by a heavy

entablature with brackets, modiliions and frieze panels of carved stone, and

‘ The cornlce of motded |ron.

No, 20— , also completed in 1860, combines snmple classical stong and iron

members with a d;reu+ness similar tc that of its con+enporary eastern’ neighbor,

Uniike No. 48 however, this facade incorporates French segmental=arched Windows
rather than round-arched Italianaté ones, |t aiso has fewér. elaborations on ifs
upper floors, and retains its original cast-iron storefront-intact. The

" Corinthian columns and flanking pilasters of this ground flcor. entrance are

evenly spaced, allowing enough room for iarge double .doors and windows, All of
the paneiling and, window and door frames. appear to'be original, although the

glass areas are currently covered over

by metal sheeting, Above the storefront

is a typical iron cornice with small modillions, denfnls, and palred side

brackefs.

The upper four floors of the buildung, wh:chlare |den+lcal +o one anofher,

are each delineated by a simple cornice,

With the exceptions of these cornices

and the quoins, the upper facade is two~dimensional.,  Both the segmental-arched
lintels over.the windows and the stone piers that separate the bays are flush
with the .rest of the wall surface, The only ornaments are small recessed
colonnettes that flank the windows, Above this simple yet stately facade is a

stone -cornice that adds an appropriste

but not overpowering terminating note,

The cornice includes simple scroiled modillions, every other one being em-

beliished by an acanthus leaf cluster,
corner console brackets,

This foliated motif is echoed in The

It is ihTeres?ing Yo note that a color |ithograph of this facade appears

opposite page 164 in D. T, Valentine's

1864 Manual of the Corporation of the

City of New York, - Although the building was built for commercial purposes,
Valentine indicates that during the Civii War it was utilized by the State
government as a temporary home fer furloughed and discharged soldiers, The
portion of the building that extends to No, 16 Mercer in an 'L'-shaped forma-
tion was also utilized by the State at that time, ' '

< 231-14

#46

(#431-439 B'way, Northwest corner)
Comp leted: 1/4/1967

Architect: Eggers & Higgins

Builder: Koren-DiResta Construction Co.
Function: Bank {Franklin National)
Facade: Brick with wood trim-

| story

231-16

#50~52

(¥16 Mercer)

Comp leted: - 1860

Original Owner: AW, Spies.

Original Function: Store and lofts

Facade: Stone and iron

5 stories; 6 bays

Comments: Used during Civil War as
temporary homemfor soldiers,

231~15

¥8

Comp leted: 1860

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: Aaron Arnold

Original Function: Store and loft
Facade: Stone, iron

5 stories; 3 bays

Comments: lron from Nichol & Billerwell

23|1-18

#54

(#14 Mercer, northeast corner)

Completed: 1860

Original Owner: Amos Eno

Original Function: Store and warehouse

Facade: Stone and iron

5 stories; 4 bays

Comments: |ron from Architectural lron
works,
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HOWARD STREET (Cont'd,)

South Side: Block 231 (south part), Nos,

23=8.5 - v T

#43-45 ' '

(#427-429 B'way, Soufhwes+ corner)
Listed onrBroadway - e

I2. bays..on Howard .-, 0 o .. p-

vy A

43~53

D% % Y [ ST
R Ny A R S UL

Compieteds c, 1863

- Architect: ‘Unknown
© Original Owner: L, Bru?nli|er

Original -Function: Store. and ‘lofts

- .. Facade: Stone and- irOni-

5 stories; 3 bays- - * i,
Commentst jron from Nichol & Billerwell
tron Works - . ,i .

ol 231-4 R METEE - DA
| . ‘ L L #49_53 Y . PO . P ! 5 +‘
I  {2=12 Mercer, . southeast corner) ‘ RES N S
Complefed #49 in 1862 S R RS
D #S51=53 1n 1856 ’«:j‘: el s e
- ' Archn?ecf- unknown s - Teom s Lo ATl ;
; Original QOwner:- ‘Aaron ﬁrnold g R el s
Original  Function: Arnoid Consfable R S
Store L i ; Ceeer T tiat T
Facade: Brick, sfone, iron e Y o X "
j 5 stories; 9 bays .
Commenfs* 5th story added 10#5l-53
in' 1862, New- doorsiand wlndows IR O o
s on ground floor. T yenen
; e : R A TL L et et ) : -
N l‘ ,‘f_:'- Al I .‘- : :-'
) i I .:" 3 r Lo
] i ' ' P o0 v
Il +l v i
PRV
. o - > Y
f L * Ty d -
1 L . ! L] te . - .o
i T R SR
Yoo ¥ S H E
- v a\ K - NILEY
. .;. e et . R 1
i 1 f"; ; s a : ‘ i e 2
I AN i Yy g
L. - b ] ol - - H
. | \ [E. 4
' d “f 7 . RN v,
: . . Vet Rt 0
i o acL o o ;
- '_ lvj . ) *
- [ L4 - 'i:i [ ’
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MERCER STREET:

Mercer Street, known originally as First Street or Clermont Street, was
laid out prior to I797 In 1799, its name was permanently changed to Mercer
Street. The section of the s+reef which lies within the Historic: Dusfr;cf was
Opened for deveiopmen+ in 1809,

Canal to Grand Street

- "This block contains the largest concentration of early buildings in the

Districh, With the exceptions of No. 32 built in 1881-82 and No, 15-17 dating

[

from 1885-86, no bullding on this block dates later than 1870-71., Eleven qf
the seventeen separate facades, in fact, date from 1861 or before. Due largely
to these eariy dates, only three facades are executed completely in cast iron,
yet almost all originally had cast-iron storefronts and cornices.

West Side: Block 230, Nos. .1-35

"No. 9-13, a five-story commercial buulduné by F.C. Graef, was built in
1870-71 for use by the India Rubber Company, Its fufl iron.facade, one of
three on the block, is composed of French and ttalian elements from the Cornel)

“lron Works., The storefront, which retains most of its original character, is

divided by columns into six bays. These ground floor columns are differentiated
from those directly above by their greater hsight and horizontal banding.
Immediately above and below this column banding are widely spaces pellet-shaped
ornaments which are repea*ed on the bands of the ground.-floor side piers, The
storefront is separated from the upper floors by a prpjecting cornice, The -
columns on the upper stories have smooth shafts and simple capitals. The .rne-
mental abaci on these capitals are identical to those used by Fernbach at No,
69-7| Greene Street in 1876-77 and No, (02 Greene Street in 1880-8)., The sec-
ond, third and fourth floors of the facade al! have square-headed bays and are
flanked by rusticated piers. The only unique elements on any -of these stories
are the raised paneited column bases and connecting balustrades on the second
floor. The fifth floor is distinguished from those below by panelled rather than

-rusticated piers and curved rather than square~headed bays. Final emphasis is

given to the building by its restrained yet impressive entablature and curved
pediment, An :n?eresfing'con+ras+ is achieved by the play between the complete
void of the pediment openlng and the large brackets above all but The center
column,

No, 19, designed by an unknown architect and built in 1860-61,is an un-
usually impressive and sophisticated building for Mercer Street. Although
simifar stone buildings were erected in the city, they were primarily jocated on
more notapje and prosperous streets, The iron storefront seems relatively
simple when compared to the stone facade above. |t is composed of Corinthian
columns flanked by fluted pilasters (which are missing their capitals) and a
simple modillioned cornice. Such a combination is very typlcal for iron ground
floors of the early {860s,

Although the stone members used on the upper floors are in themselves quite
simple, the manner in which they are combined is almost monumental for a build-
ing only three bays wide. - A strong verticality is created by heavy rusticated
piers that continue up for two stories between each bay and on either side of
the building, thus creating two double-story units of three bays each, as in the
“sperm candle" style, The break between the second and third stories and the
fourth and fifth is minimized by the use of simpie spandre! panels, Each bay
unit is topped-by an arched linte! with a keystone, The lower double-story unit
has a .scrolled keystone on the central 1inte)l with panelled keystones above the

- flanking windows; there are elaborately foliated keystones on all three windows

of the upper level, Above this impressive facade rests a simple iron modillion-
ed cornice which serves to terminate the vertical movement of +he buiiding, yet
in no way competes with its force.
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MERCER STREET (Cont'd,)

250-1 o et p30ea

(#313 Canal," northwest corner) : o #Fi=3 .
Listed on: Canal ., . . . : © Comptleted: c. 1821

72,2 feet on Mercer ’ Architect: Unknown -
' ' " Original Owner: |, Lawrence
‘Original Function: Dwelling and/or Store
Facade: Brick '
3 stories; 6 w:ndows
Commen?s: ‘Probably two houses originally,
‘altered for commercial purposes.
durlng the lafe Gr Rev, per:od

230-42- " - . o 23p-s0-

#5=7 o : L L #9-13 0

"Comp leted: 1861 ) . -Cbmmenced- 7/|/1870

Architect: J. B, Snook Completed: 1/2/1871

Original Owner; J. J, Phelps . 'Architect: F, C, Graef -

Original Function; Warehouse Buiider: James Hume

*Facade: |lron and. Stone. - . s . Original Qwner: Adolph Poppenhusen
5 stories; 6 bays - -~ "7 Original Functiony Sfore for india
"~ Comments: Storefront |isted in Badger's . Rubber Co, . '

‘catalog of 1865, capitals missing, ‘Facade: Iron from Cornell lron Works
' S v : S 5 sTorles, 6 bays

230538, . . - . .. 0 o3g3g

- #¥5-17 " L ' o KIS _ '

Commenced: 4/20/1886 . - -+ - - Commenced; 1860

Completeds 11/20/1886 . -+ . .. . Comp leted:; 1861
.~ Architect: Samue! A, Warner " Architect: -Unknown |

Original Owner: Samuel laslee L Original Owner; S, B. Althaus
"Original Function: Store BN . Original.Function: Store
" Facade: lron . ... .. - Facade: Sfone and:iron

‘B stories; 5 bays - L . 5.stories; 3 bays

CommenTs' Boors -and wnndows al+ered ' . Commentss New doors and wrndows, 1ron

: : ' from Nichol & Bllterwell Iron Works,

. PR _ . Althaus owned an iron wOrks on this
e - - - s:+e in 1852

230-36 L 230-34 f'-

#21-23 _ - o . #25 - -

Completed: . 186) -~ - = - 1 . © Commeticed: 1861 -

Architect: Unknown S e © Afchitect: Unknown .

Original Qwners-Amos Eno and Wi, B © . .original Owner: Amos'Eno

Lawrence - - b .8 - Original Function: Sfore and fachry

“Qriginal Function:. Sfore and facfory 2.7 i Facade: Stohe.’

Facade: Stone - + .7 5 stories: 4 bays

S stories; 4 bays

P " Comments:-Groind floor replaced
Comments: All ground floor replaced e B e

230-33 - STl Tt L 230=32
¥27 - - T <
~Commenced: 1867 .- . - e ' Commenced: 1868 _
- Architects Ritch & Grlffrfhs ' . .. AFchitect: Louis Burger
Orngunal Ownery William :Desendorf, Qriginal Qwner: Henry Cardoza
~Trustee for Esfafe of CharloTTe < Qriginatl Function: Store - -
Gomez : - S . '+ .. Facade: Marble and iron ground f1oor
“+'0riginal -Function: STore e 5-stories; 3 bays. .
Facade; Stone - S e T COmmenTS‘ Ground floor wlndows replaced.

o3 stories; 3 .bays & ° : -
' Commenfs‘ New wtndows and ground floor
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MERCER STREET (Cont'd,)

e LA Al I L [

230-31 o 230-30
#231~33 . ' ' #35 - DR
Completed: 1867 ST (#97-105 Grand, southwest corner).
Architect: Unknown PR Comp leted: 1867 R
Original Owner: Amos Eno @ Architect: Unknown
Original function: Store and workshoP . Original Owner: Amos Eno
' Facade: Stone, ,.iren ground floor . Original Function: Store and workshOp
5 stories; ‘7 bays. . s Facade: Stone,- iron sTorefron+
Comments: .Ground floor.cornice massing. 5 stories; 4 bays

Common facade .with ﬂ35. New win-= .. Comments: New windows and doors, ccmmon

dows and doors: : , A . facade with #31=33,

East Side (Conal fo Howard): Block 231, No, 2-12

No., 2-12 .is the longesf of +he three sides of the Arnold Constable sTore.
Afthough sections of the Canal Sfreef and Howard Street facades were added in
1862, The first four floors of the section facing Mercer were built in 1856, (The
fifth floor was added at the thz time of the 1862 construction,) The main facade
on Mercer is brick with stone lintels, as is the Howard facade, while the main
en+raﬁce on Canal S?reeT is enTTré1y of stone. - ‘

, - The iron and masonry ground floor appears 1o, have largelv retained ifs ;
orlg:nai character when comparing it fo the contemporary lithograph of Charles
Parson's“drawing of the store, A reprint of this |ithograph is seen on page 234 -
of John A, Kouwenhoven's The Columbja Historical Portrait of New York. Today, as
originaily, the ground floor is divided by simple iron pilasters with Corinthian
capitals. A foundry plaque indicates that these iron members came from the
Merkiee and Nichol |ron Foundry on Hammersiey S$treet, Although one would think
that the -iron barred windows and flat masonry areas between the columns were .
modern additions, they are. depicted in the I9th~century drawing. . In fact, the.
only appreciable differences between the drawing and the present ‘condition of. The
facade are the doors. that -have beeri cut through i the third bay from both fhe o
north and south corners on the ground floor and fthe .cornice *that currently
separates tThe cen?raj_window from the second floor. . This window, which 5T|}l
retains its balustrade, originally extended through two stories and nncorpora?ed
a Venetian window frame with double arches topped by a roundel. The remaining
thirteen windows on the second floor are capped by simple stone arched lintfels,
The fourth through sixth windows from the right and third through fif+h in from
the Howard Street side are connected by triple-arches on this level. The twelve
“windows on each of the remaining.floors are capped by equally simple- segmenfal-
arched lintels., The corners of the' ‘original brick facade are accented by stone
quoins Tthat are separated by terminal blocks at each floor fevel, The fifth ,
floor, which was added in the SIXTIGS is flanked by panelled plers The buiiding
is fTopped by a° very simple :iron corn;ce with moditlions and palred brackefs above
+he side.piers, .

2314
F2-12 ) oo
(#307-311 Canal #49-53 Howard)
Commenced: 1856 S o T
Completed: 1857 = R
Architect: Unknown.
Original Owner: Aaron Arnold
Original Function: Arnold Constable store
Facade: Brick, iron
5 stories; 12 bays
Comments: |ron from Merklee & Nichol

iron Foundry,
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- Commenced: coLT
" Architect: Johri Kellum S

L 231-35

' Architect:

SH-C! HD

MERCER STREET (Cont'd.)

East Side (Howard to Grand): Block 23!,

231-18 -

#l4 ' '

{northeast corner Howard)

Compieteds 1860 - - v

Architecty Unknown: -

Original Owner: Amos Eno.

Oruganal Functiont: Store-

‘. Facade: Brick with stone frim on Mercer
5 s+ories, 6 windows ground floor

3 windows upper floors

Comments: Howard Street s?orefron? ||s+- _

ed in Badger caTang

F231~19

neer

Origina!l Qwner: A. T. Stewart ..
Original Function: Store and toft

Facade: Iron - S .
6. stories; 3 bays

Commenfs- Originatly 5 sforled; wrndows-’-

f:lled ‘in, capitals.and ornament

f" mISSIng. Listed in Badger Cafalog.-4
23137 , o |
¥4 (Through To Broadway)
- . Completed: -1860 - - |

. Archafecf- Unknown '

Orrglnal Owner: w:lllah & Edward lechell

Or|g|nal Function: Store

Facade: Stone and iron

-5 s+or|es, 4 bays . - I :

-- Comments: Some ortglnai iron shu++ers
cornice mtSSINQ, new wundows and

doors S , -

ot

T #28-30 (fhrough +o Broadway)
e Commenced° 6/1/1869 .- -
" Comp leted: 12/I0/1869_:", I

J. B, Snook - -

Bu:lder-'w £. Lambert ;

Orsglnal Owner: Lorillard Esfate

Original Function: Store

Facade: lron and brick

6 stories; 6 bays

Commenis: Originally. 5 stories, ground-
floor cornice missing, new windows
and doors, iron ornament missing,
Iron froin Excelsior tron Works,

=118

Nos.

L 93a36,

-1'Facade° Brick, stone,
. - 5. stories; 3 bays - -
‘1'Commen*s. New doors and wlndows

. .231-26

1432

231-16 oo
#16 L Co
{(#50~52 Howard) "

‘Completed: 1860 - -

Architect: Unknown - ,
Original Qwner: Adam W.- Spres

';Orsgnnal Function:. Store.and lofts’

Facadei lroni‘lst: floor, s+one above
5 sfories; 3 bays’ :
Commentss New windows and doors, orna-~
" ment missing from.storefront.
" Served as. Soldier's Depof during
Clvll War,

;23I 38 AN
o #20-22 (Through To Broadway)
_,Complefed- 1860 .
. Arehitect: Griffith Thomas -
- Original Owher:
. Original Function: Store and 1of+s
.. ! :Facade: Brick, stone and 1ron
R 5+or|es, 6. bays - -
. Comments:.

M., Lud]um

lron from Nichol & Bllierwell
" " lron Works, new-.windows and doors.

L

#26 (through tfo Broadway)

i Completeds 1855 -
Architect:s Unknown

Orrgnnal Owner - Matthew Morgan
Original Function: Stores and- Iof?s
|ron

-

w32 - e

CFIOT- 1S Grand soufheasf corner)
! Comm&nced (899 . i
e Compie*ed- IO/2f5900

Architect: Wil liam’ Napier.

. .Originat Owner: Est, of James R, Roose-

velt - :

Original Function: Store and lofts

facade: Brick and iron

8 stories; 'l bays -

Comments: This portion-of the building

. was a major addition to the origi-

nal section at #i09-113 Grand that
was designed by Thomas:Stent and

"o bujlt for Wm.. Astor in 1881-82,
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Qrand-fo Broome Street

A full spectrum of ?he developmen* of commercial architecture in the Historic
District can be observed ‘oh this block, with buildings dafing from 1855 10 the '
mid-20th century, This hundred year span is.even more significant because the
block contains at least one building built in each decade from the {850s To the
1890s, Because so many of .the buildings were erected at a time when cast iron
was not in vogue, onty four of the fifteen facades are -entirely metal, though
six others have some cast-iron ornament, Another interesting characferlS?lC of
the block, also related to the wide span of construction dates, is the variation
of buuldnng heights,- In addition to the normal range of three; four, five and
six-story buildings, this block also includes examples’ ‘of buildings with one and
two stories as well as eight. and twelve stories.

West Side: Block 474 (west part), Nos., 37~59

No. 47-49 is an iron building, six stories high and §ix bays wide, that
combines stylized classical elements in @ basically French-manner.’ With the
excepfion of the central pediment at the roof line, the facade is composed of
nearly identical units, The only variations are the grea*er height. of the ground
floor cotumns and the modillions below the ground floor cornice. The neo-Grec
terminal block on the north end of this cornice is repeated at the north end of
each projecting cornice dividing the upper floors. (The terminal blocks on the
south end of the bullding are missing, as are nearly all of the rusticated piers,)

The columns are handled in @ very singular manner, The only ornaments on the

smooth. shafts are a lozenge-like banding serving as a capital necking, an apron-

Type bandlng below it and a base moldlng. 1 there were. or1qnna|!y capitail decora-

. .tions,. none remain today. These simple engaged columns are ¥he only distinguishing
division between the bays, The buuldlng is topped by a full enfablature andg

ped;men+ supported on paired brackets above the side piers and console brackets

above all but the centrai column.  Between thesé brackets are simple frieze -

panels, 'A final crowning note is achieved by the ornamental ‘use of the construc~

tion date, I872 wnfhln the pedumenf area, ..

No. 55, a Gr;ff:*h Thomas buuldlng completed in I872 is an interesting
example of how a single cast~iron facade can coherently combine |talianate bal~
ustrades, neo-Grec capitals and a French Second Empire broken pediment atop an
elaborate cornice., The three bays of +he ground floor are delineated by two
‘central columns and flanking piers, The column and pilaster capitais are orna-
mented with rosettes below egg-and-dart molding, This basic formula is repeated
on the four remaining floors, although the upper columns are shorter than those
below., Also the ground floor columns are fluted on the lower shafts, while the
. ofhers are not, The upper four floors are separated by projecting cornices,
Their details are identical, except for a panelled column base and connecting
balustrade below the second floor windows, The roof entablature with its broken
pediment is +the most powerful aspect of the buiiding. Heavy brackets suppor?
the slightly projecting central section of the cornice on which the broken pedi-
ment rests, Flanking these brackets are somewhat larger ones that rise above the
: sude'ptlasTers. Since they act.as ?ermlnal:elemqnfs for the entablature,. tThey
~ continue through and above:the cornice,. Placed between these four brackets are
frieze panels-and scrolled moditlions, These -same modillions are repeated under
the pedimenf cornice ‘and 'a large urn frnlal r;ses w|Th|n the break of the pedl-
ment, S

4Ta=2) e E74-20

#37 L

(#104 Grand, norThwes* corner) —_— GARAGE :
Listed on Grand o S
4 wundowg,on Merqer e

S~ i9-
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474-19

#43

Completed: 1868 -

Architect: Henry Fernbach

Original Owner: Arthur Levy

Original Function: Store and sforehouse
Facade: Brick and iron :

-4 stories; 4 bays

- Comp {eted:

47418

#45

1868
Architect: Unknown

-Qriginal Owner: lra Campbel | Estate

Original Funcflon- Store.and loft

‘Facade: Brick.

5 stories; 3 bays -

_Commen+s' Entire new facade in. I920

- Original ‘Function:

" .gix bays wide,

- Comments: New ground: floor, SOme window E

: sulls broken . ~when- altered. into factory.
'f474-16 S L 474—I5
#47-49 : - #51 -
Commenced: 7/1/1872 . : Compiefed- I940
Completed: 2/28/1873 Function: Garage
Architect: Joseph M, Dunn 2:stories .~
Carpenter: W, B, Pettit

‘Mason: W. B, Pettit . :

‘Original Owner: Alexander Roux

‘ Store - LT S

Facade: Iron, from Aetna; Iron Works = - - - B

- 6 stories;. & bays T e s s

“Comménts: New doors '

ATasis ' 474-13

#53 . . #55- , A .
: Complefed--1868 - Commenced:” 11/16/1871
- Architect: Unknown . Completed: 3/27/1872

Architect: Griftith Thomas
Builders William Pettit

- QOriginal Owner: Alexander. Roux
" Original Function: Store and loft

- Facade; Brick,. iron sforefronf & cornlce - Original Owner: Wildiam Mosotf
.3 stories; 3 windows- Original -Function: Store’
. Facade: Iron

" “Comments: Building €ither . buul? in I868
or dras?:caiiy alfered - 5 :stories; '3 bays
Commen+s- Some capnfal elements missing
A74~42 0 L e Ce
- #57=-59~ . - " . <.
(#453%-455 Broome, soufhwesf corner)
" listed on Broome” . r
R N bays on Mercer ..+ - R

EasT S:de' Block 474 (easf par+), Nos. 34 60 ‘ < L

-No. 50—52 bu;lf between !869 and 1870, is a five-story iron building thet is
. ‘Although the building extends through to No, 477-479 Broadway, tke
“Merceér Street facade is different from that on Broadway.: It is very common for
‘buildings on *this side .of Mercer 1o extend.through-to Broadway, and in nearly
every':nsfanoe'The Broadway facade. is mich more elaborate than that.on Mercer,

" This ‘comparison holds-true in this case,. +hough the. Mercer Sfreef facade is finer

e fhan mos? of ;fs neighbors on 1he block

The ground floor is davcded by columns on elfher sqde of The *wo doors,
located in the second and fifth bays, and simpie panelled pilasters in the center -
of the building and on either end. The smooth columns have two narrow bands, two-
thirds of the way down the -shaft, with a single peilet ornament betfween them,

The onty indication of a capital on either the columns or the pilasters is a
simpfe necking band., The.same capital division is utilized on the pilasters that -
divide the bays on the upper four floors. The only other decoration on these
.pilasters is a doubie banding, again two-thirds of the way down-from the capital.
Atop the building is an entablature that echoes the strong regularity of the
tacade, yet offers a terminating emphasis. The actual cornice appears to rest
upon identical scrolied brackets that are spaced above each bay division. Between
these brackets are frieze panels with dramond-shaped moldings and small modiliions
suspended from the cornice,

=120~
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474-42/43/44 /45
#34-42

- . (northeast corner Grand)

PARK%NG LOT

t

474-36 :

#46 (through to Broadway)
Commenced;  4/15/1894 -
Comp leted: 2/29/1895 . -
Architect: Raiph Townsend

" Qriginat-Owner: J,. J, .Little,

Originat Function: Store:
Facade: Brick, iron storefront
8 stories; 4 bays

.~ Comments: Common facade wlfh #48

474-33/34

#50-52 (through to Broadway) -

Commencad: 7/12/1869.

. Completed: 3/31/1870 ;
- Architect: H., W, Smith &.Sons

Original Owner: Wm, Rhinelander

_ Original Function: Store and storehouse

Facade: fron
5 stories; © bays

. Commen+5° This is the rear of #4?7—429

R'way but with different facade
-Treafmenf. Some elements missing,

474-30

#56-58 (through to Broadway)
Commenced: 9/1/1869

Comp leted: 3/31/1870

Architect: Robert Mook °
Builder: Tucker

Original Owner: Heien Langdon“

.Original Function: Store.and . toft

Facade: Brick, iron storefront:

5 stories; 6 bays:

Comments: This is the rear of 483—485
B'way.

Broome to Sprrnq S?ree+

474-37

#44

C(#ATL Broadway) L
.Completed: 1855 .,
Architect: Unknown .
“-Original, Owner: Margaref Duffie
2 0riginal Function: Store
Facade: Brick, lron storefront
“-2-stories; 3 bays

: Commenfs This is the rear of #47i

" B'way, was cuf down from 5 storles,
©original iron shufTers. B'way
" storefront I|s+ed in Badger's 1865
--caTalog.,, .

47435 ,

- #48- (through to Broadway)
Commenced: .4/13/1894
Completed: 2/25/1895 . l
Architect: Ralph Townsend .

. Original Owner: Harvey Chaffee

- Original Functiong’ Sfore e

Facade: Brick, iron. s+orefronf
.8 stories; 4 bays oo
Comments: Common facade wafh #46 '

474 32

#54 (through fo Broadway) SR
~ Commenced: .6/11/1868

Comp lated: "10/24/ 1868
Architect: Willjem T, Beer .-
Buildér: David Carpenter
Original Owner: C. J. Oppenheim
Original Function: Store
Facade: Brick with s?one trim

4 s+oraes, 4 bays

P,

474~29

#60 -

(#487 Broadway, #ﬂd3~449 Broome, south-
east corner) .

Listed on Broome °

3 bays on Mercer

A vast maJorl?y of the bunldlngs on +has block dafe either. from The 1870s or
the period between 1892 and 1900, The nearly equal distribution between the two
periods ‘provides a contrast between the:restrained symmetry of the 1870 facades
and the sumptuous buildings of the latter period. Although one of the buildings
from the 90s .is nine stories high and two are eight, most of the other buildings
on the block range between five and six stories, This relative consistency is
broken only by two vacant lots and a small one~story shop at No, 8] that dates

from- 1940,

121~
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West Side: Block 485, Nos. 65-99

No, 85-87, designed by Robert Mook in a free .classical manner, combining
Italianate and neo-Grec elements, is one of four buildings on the block that has
a complete cast-iron facade. The storefront retains much of its original charac-
ter as does the rest of the 1872-73 facade, |t is broken into eight bays by
Corinthian columns, each fluted on the lower portion of their shaft, and a
panelled pilaster in the center of the facade., The ground floor is also flanked
by similar pilasters, above which rest blocks which serve as terminal elements
for the projecting cornice, This combination of pilasters, terminal blocks and
cornice is repeated on each of the remaining four floors, except that the greund
floor cornice is embellished by small modiliions, while the others are not, The
eight second-floor bays are divided by columns with smooth shafts and Doric
capitals, These columns rest on high paneiled bases, separated by balustrades,
On the upper floors the column bases and balustrades are omitted and the smooth
column shafts are decorated with deep, molded lattice-work on their Jower portion.
A simple entablature, |ncorpora+|ng a panellied frieze and smalil modiilions, is
used at the fop-of the: bunldlng. The only additional elements found at the roof
line are resfra:ned brackefs above the central and flank:ng p:ers.-

- No., 95-99 "focated qn'The southwest corner of Mercer and Spring Streets,
was designed by G. A. Schellinger and built between 1895 and 1896, Although the
building is ohly six stories high, it assumés the stature of a much taller build-
ing, This effect is achiéved by the strong verticality of the three triple-bay
units (a2 formula repeated on the Spring $treet facade, ) and the monumentality of
the ornament on the upper portion of the building. The first two floors are
handled in a reiatively simple manner in comparison to the rest of the building.
On the ground floor massive stone piers separate the three triple-bay units. The
main entrance for the Mercer Street facade, located in the central opening, is
composed of narrow ifon door and window framings which incorporate decorative
pilasters, capitals and brackets. .The second floor, separated from the first by
a8 projecting dentilled cornjce, has alfernafing horizontal bands of brick and
stone .on the 0?herwuse plain piers, "Between each pair of main piers, +wo smaller

recessed piers are used to creafe the Trlpie~bay effect.

The nexT major division of the building is a-strongly cohesive triple~story
unit, incorporating the third through fifth-floors, 1t is set off from the sec-
ond floor by a cornice with an egg-and-dart molding. Both the major and mincyr
brick piers of this upper section continue uninterrupted for the entire three
floors, The window units are accented by decorative iron spandrel panels betwesn
each floor and a curved terra-coita egg-and-dart molding with a keystone above
each rounded fifth floor window, The most powerful ornaments on the entire
building are the -massive Barogue terra-cotta cartouche forms that hang from the
four large piers, extending through the entire height of the fifth floor, Another
projecting cornice is used to separate the fifth floor from the sixth, which is
treated as an aftic story, The same bay formula is carried through, however,
with ferra-cotta panels lining up with the main piers and brick lonic columns
defining the minor divisions, Above this final:sfory, the building is crowned
by & high iron entablature with a classac ornamenfal frleze, den+|ls and modil-
lions, .

o

485-34 485-33

#65-67 #69

(#454 Broome, northwest corner) Commenced: 3/21/1876

Listed on Broome ' : , © . “Completed: 9/11/1876 _

10 bays on Mercer '+ - o . Architect: Theo., A. Tribet

Comments:. Ground floor capufals m1551ng. - Builder: Robinson & Wallace
Wooster - facade is.-of brick trimmed Qriginal Owner: Edward C. Eliot
with-stone above an 1ron sTore- ' Original Functiony Store

~ front, : Facade: 1ron
o - T ' 5 stories; 3 bays
Comments: New doors and wlndows

2)22-

i
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485-32
#71

" Commenceds -8/23/1900.

Compieted:: 1/30/1901% ' v i

. Architect; Geo. F, Pelham -
=Original.Qwners. Robert.Smith -
».Original .Function: Light Manufac+ur|ng

Facade: Brick
6 stoi-les; 2 bays. -

+.Comments; Cornice replaced} T
R I‘I T . | .
oAB5-29 1 i e
#19 R A R
Commenced: 2/27/I892 \

“.. Completed:s 1/31/1893 .
‘“Architect: Cleverdon & Putzel
“ Carpenter: Eu Fi Haight

. Builder: P; Gallagher "
2.0riginal Owner: Louis. Friédman
Original Function: Store and loft

Facade: Brick, 2-story iron s?orefronf
6 stories; 3 bays

CommenTs~ New door and wnndows

e o .. e B 1 B

#83 ‘ SR
Commenced: 5/24/1872
Completed: 11/29/1872
Architects J.- B. Snook:

. Builder: George' Springsted .

Original Ownér: George Lorillard
Original Function: Sfore and s?orehouse
Facader iron:  ': . w

5 stories’ 3. bays...

“Comments:. One tay: brncked in, ornamznts

m:ssang, new doors and -windows,

AT e

485-24 _ R

#89
PARKING LOT

485-2) ¢ s»""

#95-99
{(#106-112 Sprrng, southwest ‘corner)

. Commenced-ﬂ3fl4f|895 o

Completeds [/30/1896°
Architect: 'G, A, Schellinger
Original Owners: Boehlm & Coon

- Original. Functioni.Store and .warshouse

Facade: L.imestone, 'brick, terra cotta
6 stories; 9:bays on Mercer, : 9 bays on
+1Spring - T

. Comments: Cornice cut for fire escape

-}23-

“435—36
¥73-77 o
" Commenced: Y\ /1 /1875

Completed: 5/20/1876 ,

Architect: "Jesse W. Powers

Buitder: Joseph W, Smith .

Original- Owner:  John Ruszits

Original Functionr;Stone o

Facade: lron .

6 stories; 6 bays .- -

Comments: Cornice missrng, ‘some orna-
ment m155|ng. : ;

485-28 fﬁ
#1 -

Completed: 8/8/1940

Architect: R. Reppaport
Engineer: R, Rappaport
Owner: Philomena Pasquale .

- Function: Small business
" -Facade: Concrete, brick, cement block

‘metal shee+|ng
I s?ory : -

485-25/26

#85-87. "

Commenced: 6/I0/IB72
Completed; 2/28/1873
Architect: Robert Mook
Mason: Amos. Woodruff
Original Owner: Amos Eno
Original Function: Store
Facade: l|ron

5 stories; B bays

485-22

#91-93 S
Commenced: 6/19/1900
Comp leted: 1/30/.1901

. Architact: Hill and Turner

Original Owner: Jacob Bartscherer

"~ Original Function: Lofts

Facade: Limestone,. brlck jron store-
front

6 stiries; 6 bays:

Comments: Cornice cut for fire escape

ot
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East Side: Block 484, NOS 62-98

' M
tn

No, 66=-68 combines resfralned and simplified Romanésque characteristics in
a classic, symmetrical manner, similar to that used in the early skyscrapers.
The lack of elaborate ornament on this building is:unusual considering:that it
was built in 1892-93 ~= a time when massive teria-cotia embelljshments were pop-
ular. and this par+|cular arch1+ecf Alfred Zucker, normally worked in amore

ornamental:style,. -

. Fl
P -

The iron ground-floor facade is divided by four nar}ow pilésfers, panel led

“on: their upper sections.and topped by modified brackets, These pilasters are

flanked by panelled corner piers that have flat, linear capitals composed of
fanned foliation, a motif similar to those used by Louis Sullivan, These side
piers are con+|nued up through seven of the eight floors, divided only by simple
horizontal bands below +he third, fourth and seventh fIOOrs. . .

The snmple TreaTmenf.of the six windows on each of The upper br;ck floors

is constant, except. for the attic story,

Other than the.plain stong linteis,

the only disfinguishjng characteristics on this portion:of the brick .facade are
the stepped corbelling above the second and seventh floors, theipanelling above

.the third, .and the string course that divides the remaining floors, A very

interesting ornamentation occurs, however, on the cornice. frieze That separates

the seventh floor from the attic story,

This is the repeated terra~cotta motif

of a stemmed inverted heart or turnip flanked by circular forms, Although this
motif is freely adapted, it closely relates to British Arts and Crattsuforms of
the turn of the century, The final element of the building is the brick attic
story which is composed of twelve small arched-windows, topped by a s?r:ng COUr se

and recessed corbell:ng,
4B84~31 N :.-*

#e2-64. D
{(#250-452 Broome norTheas+ corner)
Listed -on Broome. ] S

6 bays on Mercer -, . ..

484-23 :

#70 (through- to Broadway)

Commenced: 1868 .- -+ -+

Architect: Wm., T. Beer.

Original Owner: C, & A; Oppenhelm

Original Function: Store.and warehouse

Facade: Stone and iron:

4 stories; 3 bays

Ccmments: Roof cornice- mnssung, new
doors and windows

484-20 .
#74~76 (through to Broadway)
Commenced: 6/20/1878
Comp leted: 2/26/1879
Architect: J. B, Snhook
Carpenter: William Yanderhof
Mason: Richard Deeves . s
Original Qwner: Joseph Loubat
Original Function: Store and loft .
Facade: Brick, Iron storefront
5 stories; 6 bays S
Comments: Common facade with #78-80
and 82, .

- 124~

.:.'”.‘..‘\1, P oL vt
484-24 ..o oo R
#66~68 (ThrOUQh fo Broadway)
Commenced:” 5/2/ 1892 - o -;ﬂ

- Completed: 3/30/1893.
Architect; Alfred Zucker-:

Original Owner: Augustus D.. Juillard
Original Function: Store. [ .

‘Facader Brick;, stone, iron, terra cotta
8 stories; ‘6 bays ,. ...~ ;

Comments: New ground floor windows and
doors, ' RN

484-22
#72
PARKING LOT

484-18

#18-80 iy ov o e
Commenced-‘?/22/I8?8 . et
Comp ieted:: 2/26/1879 -
Architect: J. B. Snook
Original Owner: Joseph Louba+

Original. Function:. Jtore ‘and lofts

Facade: - Brick,. iron. sTorefronT
5 stories; 6.bays . ..
Comments: Common facade wlfh #74 76

e and #82 . - A
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484-17 ' : ' i - 486-16/45/13/1/2
. #82 (through to Broadway) #684-94 (through to Broadway)
~ Commenced: 7/29/1878 o - Commenced: 6/14/1884
Completed: 2/26/1879 . Comp leted: 2/28/1885.
Architect: J,. B." Snook. ' Architect: Samuel A, Warner
Original Owner: Joseph ‘Loubat Carpenter;: John Sniffin:
Original Function: Store and Loft Mason: Masterton & Harrison
Facade: Brick, iron s?orefron? Original Owner: Estate of D. H, Haight
5 stories; 3 bays T - - Original Functiont. Store and warehouse
Comments: Common facade with #74 76 . Facade: Brick, stone Trlm iron sfore-

#78-80, " o fronf
" 6 stories;. |6 bays :
Comments: Slaghf a]feraflon on ground
) tloor, :
A84-3
#96-98
{(#96~104 Spring, sou+heasT corner)
Listed on Spring .
3 double bays on Mercer:

- Spring +03Prihceis+ree+

A full century of growth and development.tan be witnessed in a single glance
when looking down this one block of Mercer Street, The ear)iest extant building
on the block, as wel! as in the District, is No. 10}, built ¢, 1806-08 on the
corner of Spring and Mercer Streets, Jumping exact!y a century, one' finds that
the most recent building of any importance is the "new" Rouss Bullding at No,
123-125, buil+t between 1906 and 1908, Between these two extremes, there are both
iron and masonry buildings dating from each decade between the 1850s and 1900s,

as, well as one Federa] house ‘tegun in 1819,

West Side: Block 499, Nos, 10i-137

No. 105 was buiit in [8i19~20 as a residence for Mary Boddy, a seamstress.
Although this Federal brick house has had its pitched roof and dormers removed
and its ground floor window replaced, it is amazing that soimany of ifs original
elements remain, considering the commercial character of fthe Disfrict for over
one hundred years,

The fnnesf ‘details on the building are the slender, wooden lonlc columns
flanking the door and the intricately worked, spoked leading of the fanlight,
which is completely intact, Framing the fanlight is an arched stoné lintel with
a vermiculated keystone and voussoirs that alternate with simple curved panels,
The same combination of smooth and vermiculated paneis is repeated on the stone

_IinTé{s above the three windows on bo+h The second and third: floor,

No. 11], built between September 1878 and-January 1879, is one of only fwo
buildings .designed by Henry Fernbach on the portion of Mercer Street that |tes
within the District., |t is interesting that Fernbach, who dominated the devel-~
opment of Greene Street, is hardly represented on this street, just one block away,

The iron facade, of No. [l with its five stories and t+hree bay width,
incorporates the modified neo-Grec characteristics frequentiy found in designs
by Fernbach, The two ground floor-columns, with their capitals that are simply
embellished by an ornamental.abacus, are identical! To those used on the four
remaining floors, with the exception of the fluting on their lower shafts, Each
of the five stories is flanked by a panelled pier that is decorated by an antheg-

‘mion motif on-its .upper section, These piers are divided by large blocks that

act as terminal elements forr the projecting cornices between each floor., The
building is crowned by a massive entablature thet utilizes not only large brackets
on either end, but also smailer ones that substitute for moditlions. Between the

-125-.

{
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seven closely spaced brackets are placed molded frieze paneis and denfils.

No. 113-115 is a buiiding by Julius Boekel!l that was constructéd in 1872,
Although the use of two broken pediments above the roof line and a heavy rustica-
ted central pier give the impression of two matching facades, each three bays
wide, the .new bu1id:ng appl|ca+|on filed by Boekel| indicates one buuld:ng and

one owner

The :ron sforefron? is supported by smooth columns with fonic capnfals that

‘haﬁe an egg-and-dart. molding. below ftheir volutes, -

~These are the only iron ele~

ments remaining on the ground fioor, though it must have originally incorporated

pier decora*qons and a prOJec+|ng cornice,

The four upper floors are separated by cornices and flanked by rusticated

piers identical to the orne in the center,

The facade is constructed of smooth

.stone that is interrupted only by the 5|mple pier capitals between fhe segmenfal-

arched windows.

The most powerful aspect of the facade is the double roof entablature.

&
1

Al-

though the two broken pediments make i+ appear that there are two roof lines, the

cornjce continues across the entire six bay unit,
This same bracket motif is repeated above the two side
piers, while smaller brackets are placed over the four window piers,-

- above the central pier,

separated only by a bracket

1n addition

to the frieze panels found between the brackets, decorative modillions are used

both here and.under the pediment cornice,

- 499-36 .

-5 £ 0] IR

(#IO? Spring, norThwesf corner)

Listed on Spring

30 feet on Mercer

Comments: There are two windows on the
2nd floor, 3 on the 3rd fiogor

499-35
#105
Comp leted: 1820
Architect:. Unknown -
. Original Owner: Mary Boddy
"Original Function: Dwe[llng
Facade: Brick ,
3 stories; 3 wlndows o o
Comments:.-Ofiginal door frame. and 1in=
tel, original fan light, ground-
- floor windows made jnto one

© 499-33
#109
PARKING LOT -

A corner house,

* Facade: Philadelphia brick, rstone,

499-36

#103 o .
Completed: ¢,i810 .
Architect: Unknown

" Original Owner: Conrad Brooks

Original Function: Store and dwelling
Facade: Brick and stucco .

2 stories; 2 windows

Comments: This is an extension of the
I+ may have been
builit. when the brick. froniwas
added to #1011,

499-37 R .

#107 !

Commenced; 6/3/1878

Completed: |1/30/1878 .

Architect: J. B, Snook.

Original Owner: C. L., Wolfe

Original Function: Store and loft

iron

5 s+ornes- 3 bays

Comments: Ground-floor windows and
doors filled in, _fron from Jack~
son & Sons Iron Works,

499-32

¥ S
- Commenced: 9/18/1878
Compieted; 1/22/1879

Architect: Henry Fernbach-

- Builder: Charles Eberspacher
. Original Owner: M, &S, Sternberger
« Original Function: Store and storehouse

- Facade:

fron, from Corneli jron Works

5 stories; & bays -

. Comments: Ground-floor doors and win-

C =126~

dows replaced.
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. 499-30/31 -

#113-115 -

Commenced: «7/10/1872
Completeds 11/25/1872
Architects Julius Boekell
Original Owner: C. F, Richards

- Original Function: Store and sfore- -

" house-
Facades S+one, iron s?orefron? &
cornice
5 stories; 6 bays T
Comments: Ground=floor doors and win=
dows replaced, Some ornament-
mtssang., e

499-27
#1210
- Commenced: 7/1/1879
. . Completed: 11/28/1879
. Architect: D. & J. Jardine. T
Original Owner: N, Y, Eye and Ear:
infirmary -
Original Function: Stores

Facade: lron from Althaus Iron WOrks '

5 s?ornes, 3 bays

499 23 :

#127~131

Comp leted: 1869

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner: Gustave Her?er
Original Function:  Store
Facade: Brick, iron and s?one

- 6 stories; 5 bays

. Comments: Altered in 1881, one story
- added; iron from Geo. Toop iron
Works, This building was appar-
ently built for and occupied by
the cabinetmaking firm.of Gustave
Herter, . The German-born Gustave,

along with his younger halfbrother

Christian, established the promi~

nent decorating firm of Herter Bro-
~thers, Ouring the same period the

Herter Brothers also occupied a
building at 547 B'way, which has
since been replaced,

499-21 - Ce

#135 e

Commenced: 1853

Completed: 1854

Architect: Unknown

Original Owner; Herman Gerkan .
Original Function: Store

Facade: Brick, iron corniice

5 stories:; 3 windows

Comments: Ground floor bricked in

-127-

499-28/29

#17-119

Commenced: 2/5/1891 :
Completed: .12/31/1891

Architect: George Provot

Original Qwner: Annie Romel Lecout
Original Function:.Store.and lofts
Facade;. lron, brick, stone .-

% stories; 7 bays :
Comments: New doors and windows,

. 499-7

#123-125

(#104-110 Greene)

Completed: -3/31/1908 . .

Architect: William J, Dilthy

Original Owner: Charles: B Rouss Es-
tate

Original Function: Sfores

Facade: Brick, stone, iron
|4 stories; B bays

. 499-22

#1335 Lo
Commenced: 5/29/1900

Comp leted: 9/28/1901
Architect: Harry A, Jacobs
Mason: Rogers Organ

Original Owner: Charles Smith

Original Function: Store and lofts

Facade: Brick and stone

8 stories; | bay, 3 windows

Comment s: New ground-floor door and
windows,

499-20

#I137

(#94 Prince, soufhwes+ corner)
Listed on Prince :

4 windows on Mercer
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Fast Side: Block 498, Nos.-rooélsz

Nos.,

108~110- and 112 were ‘both designed by Charies MeTTam ‘and- bu;lf wlTh
iron facades, combining French and ltalian elements, betwéen 1868 and |869,

Al-

though these buildings, which continue through to Broadway, have always been -

corisidered to be two separaté structures, they were commenced and comp teted on
- exactly the same dates and were |isted: together on one building application, =
More importantly, the two bunld:ngs share +he same facade on Mercer Sfreef as

weII as on Broadway.

The two ground floor sections, divided by a simple. rusflca?ed pier,

incor por=

ate both an entrance level with Corinthian columns and & basement’ tevel -that is

distinguished by its extended panelled column bases,
must have originally been approached by high stoops, only one is left,

Although - all: of the entrances
The ground

floor facade is flanked by rusticated iron piers identical to the one in the

center,

Although the cerntral pier only extends up through the first filoor, those
on the side originally flanked the entire building,

Some of these members are

now missing, -however, ‘as are some of the terminal blocks dividing the piers at:

each floor level,

- The.remainder-of the facade is organized in'a very direct

fashion with’ Cornn?haan columns of equal height between each'bay and a prOJec?:ng

" cornice between each floor.

(The corncces are missing on No. 112 )

The entire. +wo—buildnng unuT is surmoun+ed by an |n+eresf|ng enTablaTure

that is unusual for cast~iron. facades iof: this.period,
by a series of ftrigiyphs: that are set above each column.

The. frieze area is sectioned
Within each of the

frieze divisions are placed two projecting panels that are rounded at the ends,

The cornice above the friezé is embellished by simple modillions. - -

498~27 I o B 498-20 : ’

#100-106 o . ' S #108=-110 (*hrough +o Broadwav)

(#101 Spring, nor*heasf corner) Commenced; 9/1/1868

Listed on Spring . Comp leted;.- -4/30/1869
Architect: Charles Mettam

10 bays ion Mercer .

498-18

#1112 (through to Broadway)

Commenced: 9/1/1868

Completed: 4/30/1869

Architect: Charles Mettam

Original Qwner: Gilsey & Beekman

Origina! Function: Store’ -

Facade: Iron

5 stories; 5 bays . -

Conments: Common facade w1+h #IIO all
floor cornices missing, ground
fioor altered, iron ornament miss-

ing.

- - Tiie28-

- Facade:

- Comp leted:

Loriginal Owner:. Gi‘lsey & Beekman

Original Function: S+ore
Iron _ X
5 sforaes, 5. bays
CommenTs- -Ground floor: greafly attered,
" some ornament missing, common
' facade wlfh #IIZ

498-17 '

#1'14 (fhrough to Broadway)

Commenced: 5/15/1902- .°

6/15/1903 .

Architect: John W, Stevens

Mason: John W. Stevens -

Original Owner: John W, S*evens Bu:Id-
ing Co, o

Original Function: Warehouse

Facade: Brick and Stone

10 stories; 4 bhays, : :

Comments: Ground=f{oor wlndow and doors
al+ered :
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1 498-16 - - S 498~15 ‘
#116 (through to Broadway) " #118 (through’ fo Broadwayl
Commenceds 2/13/1885 . " Commenced: 5/2)/1888
Completed: 12/13/1885 , Completed: 12/28/1888
Architect: Samuel A, Warner Architect: 0, P, Hatfield
Original Owner:; Samuel Insice B Carpenter: McGuire & Sloan.
Original Function: Store - Mason; Amos Woodruff's Sons
Facade: iron . . Originat Owner: LucreT:a F, Post’
6 stories; 3 bays Original Function: Warehouse’
Commentss Original shutters |n+acf Facade: Brick trimmed with Béerea stone,

orlglnal storefront: missing. iron cornice

5 stories; 3 bavs
Comments: Ground floor largely altered.

498-11 ‘ S ' - 498-93

#120-i26 (through to Broadway) ¥i28
Commenced: 3/11/1889 GARAGE

Completed: 5/3/1890

Architect: Alfred Zucker

Original Owner: Charles B, Broadway :

Original Function: Store ;

Facade: Brick, térra cotta, iron

10 stories; - 12 bays '

Comments: There is a parlnal aTTuc,
soms closed-in upper windows, new
ground-fioor doors and wlndows

Back of Rouss Bldg.

498~
#132

(southeast corner Prlnce)
PARKING LOT

Prince to West Hodsldn Street

This block lS lined . by bunldungs that range in date from a late Federal
house built in 1826-27 to a twelve-story commercial tower erected rn 19l7 The
other buildings on the block for the most part, represent typical iron and
masonry mercanflle sTyles from the 1860s to 1880s, There are also two 20+h -gen-
tury garages and an 1867 building with a modern facade, as well as the 1854
Fireman's Hall, erected by the New York Volunteer fire Deparlmenf This birown~
stone building was originally decorated with free-standing and relief sculpture
{see page 261 of Kenneth Holcomb Dunshee's 1952 book, As You Pass By.) ' Although
the onty original ornaments left are the upper-story quoins and @ plaque reading,
"Firemen's Hali," a feelung of classic dignity stit! remains, :

Vo

West 'Side: Block 513, Nos. 14i-173

No. 153 is'a five- sTory masonry and cast-iron building that was designed by
Henry Congdon and built in 1879. The facade incorporates a cast~iron storefront,
three bays wide, that is suppor*ed by two central columns and flanking corner
pilasters. Both the colimns and pllas+ers are divided in half vertically by
ornamental banding, below Wthh is projecting fluting. Each of the four support-
ing members are topped by ssmple caplfals that are decorated by geome?ric forms,

The remarning tour brick’ sTorres are handled in a direct ye? drsllncfnve
manner, Each level is separated by a stone band course which is raised above
the central window on all but the top floor., Within these raised sections are
found incised volutes and rosettes that are handled in a modified neo~Grec manner,
These roseftes are also repeated above the four brick piers on the second floor
tevel, The oniy remaining decorations on the facade are achieved through an
unusual brick treatment, -

-i29~



. Architect: G, Van Nosfrand %
: Origunal Owner: Wheller & W.iison
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/ : , : ) '
This is a horizontal saw-tooth banding running afong the second and third stery .
piers and recessed panels below the windows on the third and fourth stories.
Above this- facade an. iron cornice rests on simple brackets,- :

513=35:"

#4147 -

(#9399 Prince, nor?hwesf corner)
Listed on Prince, e

=10 bays on Mercer. -

5133
#1151
GARAGE

513-28 -
#155-157 , -
Completed: 1854
Architect: Field & Correja
Carpenter:s James L, Milter & Co
. Mason: Platt & Fisher -
Original lron: Cornell
Painting: James Gilmore .
Carved Works: Dewitt Mott . ~
Original Owner: City of-New York .\ -
Original Function: Fireman's Hall
Facade: Stone, brick, iron ground floor'
© 3 stories; 3 bays - : -
Comments: .Facade complefe!y shaved
quoins remain.
-.Presenf Iron- George H Toop lron works

lron works

5[3-25-.
£163 .

Commenced; 1867 f B

Original -Function: Sfable, wagon house.~
and.storage . .
Facade' Brick, .iron AR
2 stories; 25 feet
Comments: An 1948, 2nd ‘story removed -
- and ‘new facade added, ground floor
piers are orlg:nal .

_Builder:

513-26
#159-161

513-33.

#149 .
Compieted: 1826
Architect: Unknown .

~OFiginal Owner: Robert Schuyler
“Original Function: Dwelling

Facade:- Br:ck

'3 stories: 3 windows

Conments: Ground fioor completely
altered, some Ilnfels covered and
replaced

513=30
#153 ' ‘ -
- Commenced: 6/3/1879 ’_ i

Comp Peted: 10/8/1879

Architéct: Henry Congdon

Van Doisen & Armoth
Original Owner:; H, & E, Strange

~ Original Function: Store
.-+« Facade: -

Brick and-iran
5 stories; 3 bays
Commegnts:. Some iron ornamenT missing,
ground=floor: door and windows re-
placed,

Compieted; 1854 .
Architéct: Unknown.. : :
Original Qwner: James Swan -
Original Function: Store and loft
Facade: Brick, stone, lron ornament

.- 4 stories; 7-bays

Commients: MaJor -alteration affer fira
-in 1874,  Gatvanized iron cornice
- and -lintels added, iron columns
v ‘added to ground-floor, lintels
mcss;ng, new doors, areas brucked
in,
fron from ‘Ayers & McCandless lron Worl.s,

Y. 51323,

| #165-167
< Commenced:
.-Compieted:
“Architect:
" Buildersy

8/28/1870. -
5/24/1871 -
Henry Fernbach
John Conover:
Original Owner: James Kent

- Qriginal Functicn: Store

Facade; lron -
5 stories; 6 bays »

T SB0-T
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513«22 513=21
#169 . - #IT
Commenced: 8/26/1895 GARAGE
Completeds 6/1/1896

Architect: John Prague
Original Owner: Adam Tucker
Original Function: Warehouse
Facade: lron, brick, limestone
7 stories; 2 bays:
Comments: New ground-floor doors

513-12

#1173 ,

(southwest corner West Houston)
VACANT LOT .

East Side: BIock 512, Nos. 142-172

Nos. 148, 150 and 152, erected around. 860, are actually three individual
buildings, though they share a common facade. The architectural treatment is
very simple and direct, due to the fact that the three Mercer facades are merely
rear entrances to Nos, 577, 579 and 58! Broadway. The utilitarian handling is
very successful, however, due largely to the one-and-a~half stories of iron
shutters, cast by the Jackson Foundry, that cover nearly all of the lower portion
of the facade. The shutters extend across the full facade of the three building

unit, interrupted only bj,an opening in the fifth bay from the north corner.
The primary vertical divisions are created by very slender pilasters topped 